
1 171. Mt, Wynn called on Mr. Moelis' loyalty in this case. Desp1te the tact that at least 

2 som.e of the stock was exempted frmn the Stockholders Agreement, Modis discounted Amze 

3 USA's rrmre than $2.7 biUkmshares of\Vynn Resorts~ stock by around 300...)}, 

4 172. The terms of the note are unreasonable and one-sided in the extreme, completely 

5 lacking reasonable and customary tenus used to protect and preserve the interests of the note 

6 holder. Among other things, the amount ofC"nmpensation paid for Aruze USA's shares do not 

7 reflect the "fair value'~ of the shares under the Articles ofincorporation and/or undt.)r governing 

8 law. Additionally, the hastily issued, ten--year $1 ,936 billion promissory nott.~ is unsecureo and 

9 fuHy subordinated, not merely to current outstanding Wynn Resorts debt, hut pottmtially to aU 

10 future debt Wynn Resorts may incur, and pays a mere 2%, interest per annum. In contrast, fin· 

11 example, less than a month after the purported redemption, Wynn Resorts issued $900 miHion 

12 aggregate principal amount in collateralized notes paying 5.375% interest. Moreover, though 

13 Nevada gaming regulations do not permit an "unsuitable" peJ:son fh.lm holding debt of a publicly-

14 traded licensee, by its tem1s the note sent to Aruze USA. is fl()t even transferable. Wynn Resorts 

15 prepared the prontissory note without any input fhnn Mr. Okadu, or any representative at Aruze 

16 USA, forcibly in~.posing an unsecured> 11on-transfi~1Table, non-voting, 1-m-marketuble, severely 

17 discounted and oppressive debt instrument 011 its largest shareholder. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 
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173. 

1"4 1 I . 

The Timing of th~· Redemption J)emonstrat:es that "\\-Tynn Resorts Redt~emed 

On March 2, 2012, Wynn Resorts released a Form 8--K., 

The Fonn 8-K purported to dis<..Jose positive news regarding ·wynn Resorts' 

(~fiints in .Macau to receive certain land concessions related to Cotai: 

As previously disclosed . , , Wynn Macau, Lhnited ("W1v1L"), an 
indirect subsidiary oft he Registrant w.ith ordinary shares of its 
common stock listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited, announced that Palo Real Estate Company Limited 
("Palo;') and Wynn Resmts (Macau) S,A, (''Wynn Macau'~)~ each 
an indirect subsidiary ofthe Registrant, fbnnally accepted the terms 
and conditions of a land concession contract (the ''Land Concession 
Contract") fiTHJl the government (the "Macau Government") oft he 
Macau Special Administrative Region ofthe Peoplt~'s Republic of 
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Ch1na (''Macau'') in respect ofapproximately 51 acres ofland in the 
Cotai area ofMac.au (the "Cotai Land"). The Land Concession 
Contract permits Palo and Wynn Macau to develop a resort 
containing a five-star hotel, gaming areas, retail, entertainment. 
Jbod <md beverage~ spa and convention offerings on the Cotai Land. 

The Land Concession Contract 1.vas published in the oflicial gazette 
of Macau (the ''Gazette'') on January["] 2012. Effective fi·om such 
publication date, Palo will lease the Cotai Land from the Macau 
Governrnent fi:Jr a.n initial term of25 years with the right to n:~new 
the Land Concession Contract for additional successive periods, 
subject to applicable legislation, The Land Concession Contract 
also requires that Wynn Macau, as a gaming C(H1i.~ess1onaire, 
operate, and manage garning operations on the Cotai Land. In 
addition, as previously disclosed in the Registrant's tHings with the 
Commission, on August 1, 2008, Palo and certain affiliates oftht.~ 
Registrant entered into an agreement (the "Agreement") with an 
unl'eiated third party to make a one-time payment in the amount of 
US $50 million in consideration ofthe latter's telinquishment of 
certain rights in and to any fbture development on the Cotai Land, 
The Agreement provides that such pa.yment he made within 15 days 
atler the publication ofthe Land Concession Contract in the 
Gazette. 

The t1)regoing description of the Land Concession Contract is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the thll English translation of' 
the Land Cotwession Contract (originally published in the Gazette 
in traditional Chinese and Portuguese), which is filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 hereto ;,md incorporated herein by reference. Dollar 
arnounts in the Land Concession Contract refer to Macau PaUwas. 

175. Such a hmd concession is signiflcant positive development tor Wynn Reso1ts, ln 

fact, Wynn Resorts• stock !mrnediately spiked 6{!/o on this nevvs. 

176. After initially attempting to backtrack thnn the filing as a "rnistake,'; Wynn 

Resorts filed another Form 8-K on i\day 2, 2012. The Form 8-K reconfirmed the material 

infbrmabon Wynn R<-.!sorts disclosed on Mareh 2, 2012. 

·1 P<7 I .. On information and beliet: these positive developments in Macau (or elsewhere in 

Wynn Resorts operational sphere) Wl'~te in:tminent and known by Wynn Resorts. 'To the extent 

that the rt~lemption ofAruze USA's stock actually occurn .. >cl, Wynn Resorts redeemed Aruze 

USA's stock based on this rnaterial, non-public intbrmation. Although Wynn Resorts claims to 

have purchased Aruze USA's stock us1ng the current stock market value, Wynn Reso1ts knew, 

but failed to disclose, that the stock rnarket value did not reflect the land concession contract that 

it had obtained in 1\.·iacau. Theref()fe, Wynn Resorts continued its fraudulent and misleading 
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1 omission of this infunnation in calculating the redemption price knowingly based on rna.terially 

2 misleading infonnation. 

3 CLAlMS FOR RI~LU-:f 

4 COUNT [ 

5 Declaratory Relief 

6 (By .Aruze USA and Universal Against 'VV'yun Resorts and the \Vynn Dirm.~tors) 

7 178. Alllze USA and Universalteassert and reallege Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as 

8 if set iorth in full.below. 

9 179. Aruze USA and Universal sed~ a jndicial declaration that the purported 

10 redetnption ofAruze USA's shan.:;s is void ab initio, and that Aruze USA is the owner of 

11 24,549,222 shares or 19.66% ofthe total. outstanding eon:unon stock of\Vynn Resorts, withal1 

I 2 rights and privileges appurtenant then:.lto (including, but 11ot limited to, payment ofdividends and 

13 voting rights). This declaration is apptopriat.e because, as alleged above: OJ the redemption 

14 provision in the Articles of Incnq1oration is inapplicable to the Wynn Resmi.s' stock owned by 

15 Aruze USA because Aruze USA entered into the Stockholders Agreement~ which prevented any 

16 further restrictions without agreem.ent of the parties and vested in Aruze USA the "sole power of 

17 disposition" ofits shares, be:fi;re the enactment ofthe redemption provision; (2) the redemption 

18 provision in the Articles of Incorporation i:s inconsistent \.Vith Nevada law and public policy, and 

19 thus void; (3) the Board Jacked a suff-icient basis tbr a t1nding of "unsuitability" or f(H 

20 redemption; and/or, (4) the redemption provision as wdtte.n and as applied is unconscionable. 

22 

23 

24 

'1.5· 
~ 

26 

28 
1\·101\C(\N .. L8WI" & 

BOCK IUS t.LP 

180. In addition or alternatively, Atuze USA and Univetsal seek a judicial declaration 

that the redemption provision in Wynn Resorts' Articles ofincorporation is invalid as a matter of 

law because it is impermissibly vague, contrary to law and public policy, and/or unconscionable. 

This declaration is appropriate because, among other things, Nevada gaming regulators are given 

the authority under the laws ofNevada to make determinations regarding ''suitability.'' The 

redemption provision in Wynn Resorts' i\rticles of Incorporation purpmtedly relied on here by 

the vVynn Directors improperly and illegally usurps that authority. Furthermore, if and when 

Nevada gaming regulators were to make such a determination, redemption that simply replaces 
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1 equity with debt is ineffective to effect a disassodation; the redemption provision, therefore, 

2 would not comply \Vith Nevada law. 

3 181 . In addition or alternatively~ Aruze USA and Universal seek a judicial declaration 

4 that the Board resolution finding Aruze USA, Universal, and Mr. Okada Hunsuitable'' was 

5 procedurally and/or substantively defective and contnn-y to the Articles ofincorporation and/or 

6 Nevada la\V. As alleged in detail above, this declanJtion is appropdate because the V/ynn 

7 Directors~ ilnding that there was a likely jeopardy to Wynn Resorts' gaming licenses lacked a 

8 sound foundation and •vas made without a thomugh and complete reviev,; of relevant lm.v, facts, 

9 and evidence. 

10 182. In addition or alternatively, Aruze USA and Universal seek a judicial declaration 

11 that the Board resolution to redeem Aruze USA's shares was procedurally and/or substantively 

12 defective, and contrary to law and public. policy. As alleged in detail above, this declaration is 

l3 appropriate because (1) the Stockholders Agreerr1ent, executed before the redemption provision 

14 was added to the Articles o.fincmporation, prevented any further restrictions on 1:\ruze USA's 

15 shares without agreement of the patties and vested in Aruze USA the "sole power o.fdhposition" 

16 of its shares; (2) the Board lacked a sufficient basis for a finding of"unsuitability" or redemption 

17 and rnade its tlndings without athnrough and complt~te review of relevant Iav>', facts, and 

18 evidence; (3) the n~demption provision in the Articles ofincorporation is inconsistent with 

19 Nevada law and public policy, and thus void; and, ( 4) the redemption provision~ as vvritten and as 

20 applied, is unconscionable. 

21 

22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

183. Alternatively, to the extent thatredemption is not othenvise harn.~d, Aruze USA 

;:-.md Universal seek a jud-icial declaration that the form and amount of compensation paid for 

Amze USA's shares was improper and/or inadequate and that Aruze USA is entitled to cash i11 an 

amount equivalent to at least the closing price ofthc stock on February 17, 2012. Indeed, ¥lynn 

Resmis asserted in a court filing dated January 27, 2012, that "'[wJith holdings valued at 

approximately $2.9 billion, Aruze is one ofWynn's largest shareholdt~rs.'' As alleged in detail 

above, this dedatation is appropriate because simply converting Wynn Rt~sorts' largest 

!\:JORG.A.f·J .. LEWfS & 
U:c:x:.Kt~$ LLP 

shareholder to Wynn ·Resorts' largest creditor serves no validlega1 purpose. Furthermore, the 
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1 d1scount applied to Amze lJS/\'s sh~wes bused on tht.~ transfer restrictions of the Stockholder 

2 Agreement is 1nvaJid because of Steve Wynn's and Elaine Wynn's prior breach ofthe 

3 Stockholders AgreernenL Moreover, the amount and thnn ofcompensation paid for Aruze 

4 USA's shares does not represent the "fair value" ofthe shares 1.mder the Articles of Incorporation 

5 and governing law, The "fair value" ofthe Aruze USA's stock at the time of the redemption 

6 should not have included any discount fi'lr the transfer restrictions or lack of marketability of 

7 AnlZe USA's stock. In addition, the vahmtion by Moelis was not objective, indt~pendent, or the 

8 product ofsound fmancial analysis, and, among other things, did not consider material nun-public 

9 information available to Wy1m Resorts that would militate in favor ofa higher valuation, did not 

10 account for the premium that would be applied to such a large block of shares, and did not 

11 consider the extent to which transter restrictions were not valid as to Aruze USA. 

12 184, Aruze USA and Universal bring this daim within the relevant statllte of limitations 

under Nevada law, having discovered flicts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising fi·om 

14 the purported redemption of Aruze USA's shares of Wynn Resorts' stock, on or about 

15 February 18~ 2012, Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA and Universal did 

16 not and could not reasonably have discovered earlier the tacts giving rise to this claim. 

17 185. An actual justifiable contnJv~~rsy has arisen betwf.~en partks whose 1nterests are 

18 adverse, and tht.~ disput'~ is ripe for adjudication. Wyru1 Rt~sorts acted unlawfully wht.m it 

19 purpcntt~d to "redt~ern" Aruze USA's equity interest in Wynn Resorts. 

20 186. It has been necessary ibr Arnze USA ;,.md Universal to retain the services of 

21 attorneys to prQsecutethis action, and Aruze USA and Universal are entitle(! to an uward ofthe 

22 reasonable value of said services pertbrtned and to he perfi)tnlCd in a sum to be determined. 

COUNT II 

24 Pernuutcnt Pn.lhibitm-y Injunction 

25 (By Anue IJSA Aga.inst \Vynn Uesorts and the Wynn nirectors) 

26 187. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 ahnve as ifst~t thrth 

27 in JhH below. 

"/8 ~. 
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1 188. Aruze USA seeks a permanent injunction enjoining and restraining Wynn Resorts 

2 and the 'vVynn Ditec.tors, their agents, servants, employees, attorneys, and all those acting in 

3 concert or in active participation with Wynn Resorts, from enforcing a redemption notice upon 

4 Aruze USA, and fi·om engaging in any efforts to redeem Aruze USA's e{ru.ity holdings in Wynn 

5 Resorts, including but not limited to making any demands that Aruze USA su1Tender its Wynn 

6 Resorts stock, instru~;.:ting any transfer agent fbr Wynn Resorts' st~;)ck to effect any transfer or 

7 cancellation of Aruze USA's Wynn Resorts stock, and/or making any other changes to Wynn 

8 Res01is' stock ledger regarding Aruze USA's stock. 

9 189. For the reasons aUegzxt above, the plll})orted tedernption is invalid as a matter of 

10 law and violated applicable contracts, and/or depends on provisions of contracts that are 

11 unenfbrceable as a lYH:ltter of h.r'<v. Even if there were a potentially valid legal mechanism to 

12 redtxnn An.tze USA's stock, which there is not, redempt.lon would be inappropriate in this case 

13 because the Board lacked suf1icient basis to find Aruze USA or any of its affiliates or employees 

14 ! ''unsuitable," 
I n 
I 

15 ! 190. Hann will result ifrelief is not granted because Aruze USA's interest in Wynn 
I 
I 

16 Resorts is not thngihle and Aruze USA's status as the largest shareholder in \Vynn Resorts cannot 

17 be tblly remedied through damages.. 

18 191. Injunctive reliefposes no appreciable risk ofundu.e prejudice to Wynn Resorts and 

19 the Wynn Directors. 

20 192. Aruze USA brings this dairn within the relevant statute ofHmitat.ions under 

21 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this clairn, including injury arising tl-om the 

22 purported redernption ofAruze USA's shares of'vVynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

23 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

24 reasonably have discovered earlier the ±acts giving rise to this claim. 

25 193. rt has beennecessarv for Aruze USA to retain the services of attumevs to - . - - - - ~ 

26 prosecute this action, and Aruze l.lSA is entitled to an award ofthe reasonable value ofsaid 

27 services perf()rmed and to be performed in a sum to be determined, 

MORGAN, LllW iS & 
B<X:t;!U5 LLP 
.·\'H~-~~u-,r:rss .>i;T L~.w 
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1 

2 I"ermane:nt Mandatory ·InJunction 

1 -· (By A.ru.ze USA Against,Vymt Resorts and the Wyun Directot·s) 

4 194. Aruze USA teassetts and tealleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as if set fmih 

5 I 
I 
I 
I 

6 ! I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

7 
I 

in full below. 

195. To the extent it might be detem1ined that \Vynn Resorts' purported red<.~mptlon has 

already occurred, Aruze lJSA seeks a permanent mandatory injunction dire\.:ting Wynn Resmi.s 

and the \~lynn Directors, their agents, servants~ employees, attorneys, and all t.hose acting in 

9 concert or in active participation with Wynn Resolis~ to restore Aruzc USA's ownership interest 

10 in Wynn Resorts. The injunction sought should restore both Aruze USA's ownership interest, as 

11 well as the value of Aruze USA's stock, and a11 dividends and other rights and privileges accruing 

12 to the shares. 

l 'l .. ) 196, Forthe masons alJeged above, the purported redemption was contrary to lm.v and 

14 violated applicabk contracts, and/or depends on provisions ofcont:racts that are unenibrceabie as 

15 a matter oflaw. Even ift.here were a potentia!ly valid legal mechanis.m to redeem Aruze USA's 

16 stock, redemption would be inappropriate in this case because the Board lacketi sufficient basis to 

17 find Aruze USA or any of its affiliates or employees unsuitable, 

18 I 97. Flann will result if relief is not granted because Aruze LISA's interest in -wynn 

19 Resorts is not fitngible aJl.d Amze lJSA 's status as the largest shareholder in Wynn Resorts cannot 

20 be thUyremedied through darnages. 

21 198. Injunctive reliefposes no appreciable r1sk of undue prejudke to Wynn Resorts a.nd 

22 the \Vvnn Directors . . . . 
199. To the extent that Aruze USA cannot be restoted to its status and/or its fhll rights 

24 as a Wynn Resorts shareholder, and to the extent further co1npensation is warranted or punitive or 

25 exemplary damages are warranted, Aruze USA seeks damages from Wynn Res01ts in an amount 

26 I to make Aruze USA whole, as alleged in multiple damages counts below. 
I • I 
I 

27 ~ 
I 
I 
I 

200. Aruze USA brings this claim withi11 the relevant statute oflimitations under 
I 

28 ! Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this dalm, including injury arising from the 
.!v~ORGAf'.J,. LI!\ViS & i 
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1 purported redemption ofAruze USA's shares of Wynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

2 2012. Despite having cxercistxi reasonable dilig{mce, Aruze USA did nt)t and c,ould not 

3 reasonably haw.\ '.list~-overcd earlier the facts giving rise tQ this daim. 

4 201. It has been necessary for Aruzt~ lJSA to retain the services of attorneys to 

5 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is tmtitled to an awutd ofthe reasonable value of said 

6 services pertzmtted and to be performed in a sum to be determined. 

7 COUNTIV 

8 Jkcach of Contr~d in Connection with Wynu Resorts, Involuntary Redmnption 

9 (By A11.tz.;\~ lJSA Against Stf.!Ve Wynn and Elaine \-Vynn) 

10 1 202. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as ifset forth 
!I 
'I 
I 

11 ! in full belovv. 

12 203. The Stockholders Agreement. withl\11'. Wynn in2002, and as arnended in 2010 to 

13 include Ms. \Vynn as a party, ttwms a contractlw] relationship and understanding bet\\'een, inter 

14 alia, Amze USA, Mr. Wynn, and Elaine Wynn. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 
I 
I 
I 
I 

') _.,. I 
j I .. ~ ~ 

! 

24 11 

2s I 
26 

27 

204. The Stockholders Agreement between Aruze USA, Mr. Wynn, and Elaine Wynn 

prohibits the involuntary disposition of any shares of Wynn Resorts held hy Arnze OS A. 

Specifically, the Stockholders Agreement provides that Aruze USA ''shall be the record and 

BentJicia1 owner of all ofthe [Wynn Resorts' common] Shares .. , [and] shall hav'~ the !'/ole 

powerofdisposition [and] sole pmverofconversion ... " over its shares in \:Vynn Resorts and 

there are '~no material limitations, qualification or restrictions on such rights., .. ~' (Emphasis 

added.) 

205. Any redemption ofAruze USA~s shares of Wynn Resorts is an involuntary 

disposition of Aruze USA's shares in violation of the Stockholders Agreement. By voting in 

favor offhe redemption, Stt~ve \Vynn and E1aine Wynn did knowingly, willfully, and 

intentimmlly breach the Stockholders Agreement. 

206. Aruze USA has been damagt~d in excess of$1 0,000. 

"1·.0'7 .-:. . . Aruze USA brings this claim within th'~ relevant statute of limitations under 

28 Nevada law, having discovered fitcts giving dse to this claim, including injury arising from the 
t\·1CW.CAN,. LEWtS & 

/.,n{::~.Nn~ .... ~ Lw.· 
SAN ~J:,\tH:;~nl 

53 

DEFEl'.rDANTS' TH1RD Nv1ENDED COUNTERCLAIM 

SA1259



1 purported redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofWynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

2 2012. DesjJite having exercised reasonahlt'~ diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

3 reasonably have discovered earlier the ti.wts giving rise to this claim. 

4 208. H has been necessary thr Aruze USA to retain the services ofatt.omeys to 

5 prosecutethis action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award oftht.l reasonable value of said 

6 services pedcmued and to he pert!.mr1ed in a sum to he determined. 

7 COUNTV 

9 Discounting M_etbod of Involuntary Redemption 

10 {By Aruze USA Against \Vynn Resorts) 

11 209. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 172 above as if set forth 

l2 in lull below. 

21 0. ln the alternative, to the extent the Court finds that the redemption provision in the 

14 Ali.ides of Incorporation applies to Aruze USA's shares, \Vynn Resods' invQluntary redemption 

15 breaches the tenns ofthe AgreemenL 

16 211. Wynn Resorts' Articles ofincorporationprovides that fair value will be provided 

17 fur shares redeemed under its provisions. 

18 212. On or about February 18, 2012, Wynn Resorts purportedly redeemed Aruz\~ USA's 

19 shares :fi::rr t""lu less than the value ofthe shares, e.g., as ret1ected by the closing market price of 

20 Wynn Res01ts' stock on NASDAQ. 

21 213. Wynn Resorts improperly discounted the fair value ofthe Aruze USA stock to the 

22 extent the Stockholders Agreement is not entl.:m;eable as a result ofMr. Wynn's and Elaine 

23 vVynn's breach ofthe Stockholders Agreement. In additkm, the pnrpmted stock re..<:trictions 

24 impose an unreasonable restraint on alienation and are theret!.H'e unenibrceabk 

25 214. In the alternative, iftht:~ Stockholders Agreement is enforceable, Wym1 _Resorts 

26 used an excessive discount amount and -fililed to provide fair value for Aruze USA's stock. 

97 
A-1 '. 215, Amo11g t)ther things~ although known to Wynn Resmts, Vvynn Resods did not take 

28 
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into account material non~puhlic infbrmation conceming positive developments for Wynn Resorts 
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1 regarding the Cotai land concession in Macau, as well as other positive non-public infbnnation, 

2 when ·redeeming Aruze USA's shar~1s t.br f1lr less than the value of the shares. Furthermore, 

3 Wynn Resorts' unilateral vah.1atkm did not <WC(lunt tbr the premium that would be applied to such 

4 a large block ofshares. 

5 216. Aruze USA has been damaged in excess of $1 0,000. 

6 217. Aru:t.e USA brings this claim \-Vithin the relevant statute of limitations. under 

7 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving r.ise to this claim, incll..iding injury arising from the 

8 purported redemption of Aruze USA's shares of 'Wynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

9 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

10 reasonably have discovered earlier the facts giving rise to this claim. 

11 1t has been necessary for Aruze USA to retain the services of attomeys to 

prosecute this action, .and Aruze USA is entitled to an award ofthe reasonable nllue ofs~dd 

13 services perfbrmed and to be pertlmmxi in a sum to he determined. 

14 COUNT VI 

15 .Breach of !fiduciary Duty 

16 (By Aruze USA Against: the \Vynn Oirec:to.rs) 

17 219. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 throllgh 178 above as ifset t(nth 

l 8 in full below. 

19 220, Directors of a corporation owe a fidudary duty to the '~m-poration and to its 

20 shardloldtlrs, including a duty ofcare and a duty of loyalty to>vvard the corporation and each 

2.1 shareho ldcr. 

22 221. Undt~r Nnada law~ directors of a corporation are individually liabk to a 

sto,~kholder for any act or failure to act that C(lflstitutf.~S a breach of tlduciary duty. 

24 222. Tht~ terms of the Wynn Rt~sorts' Articles ofincorporation pnrpOJi,ed to <k~line an 

25 ''Unsuitable Pt~rson" as a pt1rson who "in the sole discretion oftht~ bQard of directors of the 

26 [Wynn R!.'~sorts], is dee1ned likely to jt~opardize [¥lynn R.esorts'] 01' any Affiliated Company's ... 

27 right to the ust; of: or entHlement to,. any Garning Licenses.'' 

·')8' "-' . 
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1 223. The Wyn11 Directors abused th<.~ir discretion in Hnding Aruze USA, Universal, and 

2 Mr. Okada «unsuitable" and resolving to have the Company t~ause the purpmted redemption of 

3 Aruze USA's shares ofWynn Resorts' stock. The outcome ofthe Compliance Cor.nmittee's 

4 "investig<lt:ion" was aiready determined prior to engaging (1 supposedly "independent'' 

5 investigator, which then openly ac.ted as an advocate against Aruze USA, Universal, and 

6 Mr. Okada rather than providing an objective, balanced, and fully informed review of the facts 

and law. Despite the Ihct that Freeh Sporkin infotmed the Board that fbrthef investigation would ~, 

} 

8 he required with respect to matters encompassed by its report, and despite assurances that Aruze 

9 USA, Mr. Okada~ and Universal would he permitted to respond substantively to the repmt~ the 

ro Wynn Directors deprived thern of an opportunity to understand and to present any information to 

11 address the allegations against them prior to the vote on redemption. 

12 
I 
I 

13 ~~ I 
I 
I 
' 

224. On information and belief, the Wynn Directors acted at the direction of Mr. Wynn 

and abandoned their own independence and objectivity in evaluating the allegations. The \Vynn 

14 Directors failed to conduct a fair, comprehensive, and thonghtflll investigation, and failed to 

15 ensure that they \Vere properly and adequately informed befote acting. 

16 225. Wynn Resorts, at the direction of:Nlr. Wynn; conducted an ••investigation" that 

17 was hurried, incomplete, one-sided, and unfair to i\ruze USA, with a result that was preordained 

18 by Mr. Wynn and his cohmts bt~tore the ''investigator" was even hired. Aruzc USA was not 

19 given an opportunity to review the aUcgations against it or n~but or address arry findings of 

20 improper conduct or any other supposed basis for redemption. The cntin.: pwccss was ta.inted by 

21 the desire to serve Iv1r. \Vynn's pretextual goals ofrernoving Aruze USA as the largest single 

22 shareholder ofthc Company, silencing Mr. Okada, and consolidating tmd rnaintahJing 

23 Mr. Wynn's control over Wynn Resorts. Such fK~tiot)S do not withstand any standard of 

24 fundamental fairness or due process. 

25 226. Further) the purported redemption was voted on by persons with irreconcilable 

26 conf1icts of interest, including bteaches ofth<.: duty of loyalty, the duty of care, and the duty of 

27 good H1ith, 

28 
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1 227. Tln·ough their acts~ the Wynn Directors have acted in a manner that seeks to 

2 deprive Amze USA (:tlone limn its right to vote its share,<>) receive dividends; elect directors, and 

:1 to utilize other privileges incident to controlLing the largest single block of shares in a publicly 

4 traded company. 

5 

6 

11 

228. Harm will result ifreliefis not granted because Aruze USA's more than $2.7 

billion equity stake in Wynn H.esorts will be instantaneously .and irreversibly damaged by the 

Cornpa.n.y's purported action to convert Aruze USA\s substantial ownership intt1rest into a wholly 

subordinated ten-year promissory note in a ptincipal amount 30% less than the fair matket value 

ofthe stock, and paying a rnere 2r!.{1 percent interest, without providing Aruze USA any voting 

rights, rights to dividends, or the right to transfer the note. 

229. As a further direct and proximate result ofthe wrongful conduct by the Wynn 

12 Directors, as alleged herein, .t\ruze USA was and continues to he damaged in an arnount in excess 

13 of$10,000. 

14 230. Aruze USA brings this claim 1Vithin the relevant statute oflimitadons under 

15 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising th)ln the 

16 purpmted redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofvVynn R~~sorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

17 2012, Despite having ext~rcised reasorw.ble diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

18 reasonably have discoven."X.l earlier the Dwts giving rise to this claim .. 

19 

"'"l L. 

23 

24 

25 

'J""'l ~.) . It has been necessary hx Aruze USA to retain the setvices of attorneys to 

prosecute this action~ and A.ruze USA is entitled to an award of the reasonable value ofsaid 

services pert<)rmed and to be pt~rkmned in a surn to be determined, 

Imposition of a Consh•ncdvc Tntst and Unjust Eu.rktunent 

Aruze USA n.lasserts and rea1leges Par<1gra.phs 4 through 178 above as ifset thrth 

26 in full below. 

27 , .... '" ""'·' .) . By engaging the in the ·wrongthl conduct alleged herein, Wynn Resorts 

purportedly redeemed AruzeUSA's stock in exchange t(H· a wholly subordinated, unsecured ten-
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1 year promissoty note in a principal amount at least 30%} less than the tau· value of Aruze USA's 

2 stock, and paying a mere 2%! interest, withcmt providing Aruze USA any voting rights, rights to 

3 dividends, or the right to transfer the note. 

4 234. As a result of the relationship between the parties and the facts stated above, Wynn 

5 Resorts will be UI\iustly enriched if .it .is permitted to retain Amze USA's stock and dividends and, 

6 therefore, a constructive trust should b~! establishl'xl owr Anlze USA's stock, and all dividends 

7 that 'Nould be paid on such shares if held by Aruze USA. These shares and dividends are 

8 traceable to Wym1 Resmts. 

235. Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant st<1tute oflimitations under 

10 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this clail11; including injury arising 1iom the 

11 purported redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofWynn Resorts' stQCk, Qh or abtmt February 18, 

12 2012. Despite having ex:erdsed reasonable diligenC(:\ Aruze USA did not and could not 

13 reasonably have dis,;overed earlit~r the facts giving rise to this claim. 

14 236, It has bt!en m.~I.:essary for Aruze USA to retf±in the services of attomeys to 

15 prost~cnte this action, and .Aruze USA is entitled to an award of the reasonable value of said 

16 services perfom1ed and to he perform~cxt in a sum to be determined. 

17 COlJNT VIU 

18 Conversion 

19 (By Aruze USA Against \Vynn Resorts) 

20 237. Aruze l.TSA reasf:;erts and realleges Pan~graphs 4 through 178 above as ifsettl)rth 

21 in full below. 

22 238. Wynn Resorts did not have a legal right to redeem and in addition lacked a proper 

and suffkient basis to find that the allegations in the Freeh Sporkin report against Aruze USA, 

24 .Mr. Okada, and Universal were activities that '\vere likely to jeopardize [the Companis] or any 

25 Aft1liated Company's ... right to the use o( or entitlement to any Gaming License." 

26 239. As a result, Wynn Resorts' Board lacked a tair, propel\ and sufl1cient basis tb-r 

27 seizing Aruze USA's stock. 

28 240. Wynn Resorts wrongfully exercised dominion over Aruze USNs stock 
?-..·~OJ.:C.-\N.- LtW~~i ·& 
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1 241. Wynn Resorts' do111inion over Aruze USA's stock without a valid basis for 

2 redemption is inconsistent \Vith the Articles ofincorporation and Aruze USA's rights in th\~ stock 

3 under the Contribution Agreement and the Stockholders Agreement 

4 242, Wynn Resmts converted Aruze USA stock, damaging Plaintiff in an amount in 

5 excess of$10,000. 

243, Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statute oflimitations under 

7 Nevada taw, having discovered tacts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising from the 

8 pU!1Jorted redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofWym1 Re...;;:orts' stock, on or about February 18, 

9 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

lO reasonably have discovered earlier the facts giving rise to tlus daim. 

11 244. It has been necessary for Aruzc USA to retai11 the servk:e:s of attorrtt)ys to 

12 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an a\vard of the reasonable value of said 

13 services pertbrmed and to be performed in a sum to be detcrmit1ed. 

14 CO~T~ 

15 Fmud/F'nmdulent Misrepresentation in Connection with Fimmdng for Aruze USA 

16 (By Amze USA Against 'Vyun Resorts9 Steve Wyuu, and Kimmarie Sinatra) 

17 245. Aruze USA reasserts and reaUeges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as ifset forth 

18 in fbll below. 

19 246. Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra made false and misleading statements 

20 and omissions of material fitcts to Aruz~.,~ USA. Spt\cifically, on or about May 16, 2011, and tbr 

21 months thereafter, Mr. \Vynn and IV1s. Sinatra made false and misleading staternents and 

22 omissions concerning the ability of Wynn Resorts to loan mtmey to Aruze USA, which Wynn 

23 Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra agreed would be backed by shares of Wynn ResOfts' stock 

24 held hv Aruze USA 
" 

25 247, Mr. Wynn and Ms, Sinatra, acting in their individual capacity and as agents of 

26 \Vynn Resorts, made th~!sc talse and rnisleading statements and omissions knowingly or without 

27 sufficient basis ofinf(wmation because they belimHxl W,'y'!m Resorts was not permitted to enter 

28 into such a lending transaction pursuant to the restrictions in Section 402 of SOX. As alleged 
MOHGAN, U':\\ilS& 

~:~cic:Knj~~ tJ_.P 
ATil:)~~:..lt.-ys A~ L Al\' 
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1 above, Mr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra engaged in this wrongful conduct t(;r the purpose of 

2 maintaining Mr. \\lynn's control over vVynn Resorts after Mr. Wynn;s shares in the Company 

3 \Vt.'re split with Elaine \Vynn foHowing their divorce, and keeping alive the opportunity to later 

4 have Wynn Resorts seek to redeem Aruze USA;s shares at a discount 

5 248. Furthermore~ Mr. Wym1 and Ms. Sinatra, acting in their individual capacity and as 

6 agents ofWynn Resorts, made thest.~ fillse and misleading statements and omissions knowingly or 

7 \Vithout sufTicient basis of information regarding the immediate need for Elaine Wynn to transfhr 

8 her shares under the Stockholders Agreement. On information and belief, ML \Vynn and 

9 Ms. S1h~ttra knew or were without a sufficient basis to make those material statements. 

249. Aruze tJSA relied on th<:~ false and misleading statements and omissions made by 

11 Wynn Resents, Mr. Wylm, and Ms. Sinatra. An:tz;e USA's reliance on the taJse and misleading 

12 state.ments and ornissions \Vas reasonable ~md justifiab1e, e,·'~fH::dally in light ofMt. Okada's 

13 trusting relationship with Mr. Wynn. 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

21 

23 

250. On inforrnation and belief, Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra knew that 

Aruze lJSA intended to rely on this 1ntl.wmation as a reason for Aruze USA to consent to Elaine . . 

\Vy1m 's t1'anster of shares under the Stockholders /\greement, and N:.1r AruzeUSA to refi·ain fi·om 

taking steps to invalidate the purported restrictions on alienability contained in the Stockholders 

Agreernent. On inf()rmatkm and belie( Wynn Resorts, Mr, Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra ihrth~~l' knew 

and intended that, in reliance on these misrepresentations, Aruze USA would relinquish its own 

opportunity to liquidate its. own shates of Wynn Resorts' stock to fund Universal's ptojcct in the 

Philippines or seek other tlnancing. Therefbre, Aruze USA relied on the fact that \Vynn Resorts 

was a committed lender to the project at the expense of pursuing other tlnandng options., 

25 L As a fhrther direct and proximate tesult nflhe wrongful conduct by Wynn Resorts, 

24 Mr. W'ynn, and Ms. Sinatra, as alleged herein, Aruze USA was and continues to be damaged in an 

25 amount in excess of$10,000 to be pmven at triaL 

26 252. Pursuant to N.RS. § 42.005, hy reas(m ofthe ftaudulent, reckless, rnisleading~ 

27 malicious, vv·iUthi, and wanton misconduct of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra~ Amze 

28 
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1 USA is entitled to punitive damages not to exceed three times the cunount of cornpensatory 

2 damages awarded. 

253, Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statuteoflimitations under 

4 Nevada law~ having discovered fi:tcts giving r1se to this claim,. including injury arising fi:om thf.l 

5 purpmted redemption of Aruze USA's shares of Wynn .Resorts' stock, on or about September 30, 

6 2011. 

7 254. Aruzc USA brings this clairn 'vvithin the relevant statute of limitations under 

8 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim on or about September 30~ 2011. 

9 Despite having exercised reasonable diligence~ Aruze USA did not and could not reasonably have 

l 0 discovered earlier the facts giving rise to this clailn. 

11 255. It has been necessary for Aruze USA to retain the services of attol'neys to 

12 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award ofthe reasonable value ofsa1d 

13 services pertbnned and to be performed in a sum to be detem1ined. 

15 NegligeutMisJ·epresentation in Comtedion with li'humdngfor Aruzc USA 

16 (By Aruze USA Against 'Vynn Resorts, Steve '-'Vynn~ and Kinu:naric Sinatm) 

17 256. Aruze USA reasserts and real1eges Paragtaphs 4 through 178 above as if set fbrth 

18 in fi.lll beloVo/. 

19 257. Wynn Re..s;;orts~ !Vlr, Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra made false and misleading statements 

20 and omissions of material fhets to Anne USA. Spe(~ifieally, on or about May 16, 2011 ~ and fbr 

21 months thereafter, Mr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra made false and mislead1ng statements and 

omissions concerning th{.~ ability ofAruze USA to obtain a loan f}-otn Wynn Resorts, which Wynn 

Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra agreed would be ha.cked by shares of Wynn Resorts' stoek 

held by Aruze USA. 

25 258. The false statemf.!nts of facts aHeged herein Wlm.~ materi::1l bf.~.cause Jmd \¥ynn 

26 Resorts, Mr. vVynn, and Ms. Sinatra provided Aruze USA v.rith truthtul and correct information, 

27 Aruze USA would not have consented to Elaine \Vynn's transfer of shares under the Stockholders 

28 
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1 Agreement, and would have taken steps to invalidate the purported restrictions in the Shareholder 

2 Agreement 

3 259. Wynn Resolts; Mr. ·wynn, and Ms. Sinatra fail.t~d to ext~rcise reasonable care or 

4 competence in obtaining or communicating tht~ talse statements of fact alleged herein. 

5 260, Wynn Resmts, Mr. Wynn, and .Ms. Sinatra made the false statements or omissions 

6 of fuct alleged herein w1th the intent to induce Aruze USA to consent to Elaine Wynn's transfer 

7 of shares under the Stockholders Agreetnent \vithout pledging its own shares in a manner that 

8 would reduce Mr. \Vynn's control Qver those shares. Furthermore, \Vynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, 

9 and Ms. Sinatra niade the talse statements of fact alleged herein with the intent of gaining their 

10 own financial advantage to the d1sadvantage of Aruze USA, including, but not limited to, the 

11 opportunity to seek to have Wy.n.n Resorts redeem Aruze USA's shares at a discount. 

12 261, Furth":trnore, Mr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra, acting in their individual capacity and as 

13 agents of Wynn Resorts, made these materially ti:l:lse and m.isleading statements and omissions 

14 knowingly or without suf11.dent basis of int()tmation regarding the inunediatc need l!:n· Elaine 

15 Wynn to transfer her shares under the Stockholders Agreement 

16 262, Aruze USA relied upon the tals.e statements of fact alleged herein by providing 

17 consent for Elaine Wynn to transfer her shares under the Stockholders Agreement. Anne USA's 

18 reliance on these representations and concealment offi.wts \-vas reasonable and Justifiable, 

19 especial1y in light of Mr. Okada's trusting relationship with Mt, Wynn, 

20 

.'\ l . .L: 

23 

263. Wynn Resorts, Mr. \Vynn~ and Ms. Sinatra aided artd abetted each oft.ht! others 1n 

making the tldse stawments of fact set herein by each failing to exercise reasQnabk~ care or 

competence in obtaining or communicating those statements. 

·) '4 ~-6 . Aruze USA has suffered. and continues to suffer econornic and non-economic 

24 losses because of Wynn Resorts', Mr. Wynn's, a11d Ms. Sinatra's fills(~ statements of Htct. The 

25 mnount of losses will be determined accordit1g to proof at trial, but damages arc in an amount in 

26 excess of$1 0,000. 

27 ?(:'5 ~) . Pursuant to N.R.S. § 42.005, by n.~son ofthe tb:wdulent, reckless, misleading, 

28 maHc.ious, willfbl, m1d war:iton misconduct of Wynn Resorts~ Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra~ Aruze 
1\·!0RGAN, LEWI~ & 
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1 USA is entitled to punitive damages not to exceed three times the amount of compensatory 

2 damages awarded. 

3 266. Aruze USA brings this dahn within the relevant statute of lir11itations under 

4 Nevada lav'l, having discovered fads giving rise to this claim on or about September 30, 2011. 

5 Despite having exercised reasonable diligence} Aruze USA did not and could not rcasonab1ylwve 

6 discovered earlier the £1cts giving rise to this claim. 

7 2.(:.·""'.' C) I • It has been necessary for Aruze USA to retain the services ofattorneys to 

8 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award ofthereasonahle value of said 

9 services performed and to be performed in a sum to be detennined. 

11 Civil Conspinwy in Connection with Fimmdng for .Aruze USA 

12 (By Amz:e USA A.gainst Steve "-'ymt and Kbnrrmr.ie Sinntra) 

l3 268. Aruze USA reasselis and reaUeges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as if set f()rth 

14 in fhll below·, 

15 269. 1\ruze USA, Jvk \Vynn and Elaine \Vynn eHtered into an agreenient regarding the 

16 disposition of shares pursuant to the January 69 2010 Amended and Restated Stockholders 

17 Agreement. 

18 270. Ms. Sinatra, as General CoumH.ll tor Wynn Resorts, had knowledge ofthe 

19 Stockholders l\greement and its restriction on transfer of shares. 

20 271. On infonnation and beliet: Ms. Sinatra had knowledge that Mr. Wynn needed 

21 Aruze USA to waiV\~ the restriction in order to pennit Elaine Wyrm 1{) transfer her shares. 

22 272, On inf(wmation and bdiet: Ms. Sinatra and fVfr. Wynn agTeed to persuade Aruze 

23 USA to permit Blain(~ Wynn to transfer her shares withoutpennitting Arnze USA to tnmsfer or 

24 pledge any shares to anyone outside the control of .Mr. \\lynn. ln fact, upon receiving an email 

25 iiom Aruze USA's representative on July 13, 2011 pennittingthe immediate transfer of Elaine 

26 Wynn's shares, Ms, Sinatra expressed happiness fht Mr. Wynn, stating, "Thank you very much 

27 tor this. I'm sure M.r. Wynn v.lill be happy about the ciarificat.1on." 

28 
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1 Wynn Resotts~ Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra made h1lse .and misleading statements 

2 and omissions of material facts to Aruze USA. Specifically, on or about JV:fay 16, 2011, and t<.H· 

3 months thereafter, Mr. ·wynn and Ms. Sinatra made false and misleading statements and 

4 omissions concerning Wynn Resorts' ability and/o:r willingness to loan tnoney to Aruze USA, 

5 which Wym1 Resorts, Mr. Wynn, ~md Ms. Sinatra agreed would be backed by shares of Wynn 

6 Resorts' stock held by Aruze USA. 

7 274. 1vfr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra, acting in concert with Wynn Resorts, made these false 

8 and misleading statements and omissions knowingly or without sufficient basis of information 

9 because they believed Wynn Resorts was not legally permitted to enter into such a lending 

10 transaction pursual:lt to the restrktions in Section 402 of SOX. As alleged above, fv:Ir. Wynn and 

11 Ms. Sinatra ~:mgaged in this wrongful conduct for the purpose of maintaining Mr. Wym1 's \.~ontrol 

12 over Wynn Resorts after Mr. Wynnls shares in the Company were split with Elaine Wynn 

13 tbllowing their divorce, and keeping alive the opportunity to later have \Vynn Resorts seek to 

'14 redeem .Aruze USA's shares at a discount 

15 2
,.,~ 

. I.), Fl1rthennore, ML Wynn and Ms. Sinatra, acting in their individual capacity and as 

16 agents of Wynn R.esorts, rnade these false and misleading stat(_~ments and omissions knowingly or 

17 without sufficient basis ofinformation regarding the immediate need fbr Elaine Wynn to trar1ster 

18 her share~ under the Stockholders Agreement On infbnnation and belief; Mr. Wynn l:md 

19 Ms. Sinatra knew or vvere without a sufflcient basis to make those material stat(.~ments. 

20 

?1 --
22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
MORG.•.N, LEWIS ;'0; 

BO(J<~US LLP 

276. A:ruze lJSA relied on the false and mislt~ading statements and omissions made by 

Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and rvls. Sinatra. Aruze USA's reliance on the false and misleading 

staternents and omissions was reasonable and justifiable, especially in light of !vir. Okada's 

trusting relationship with Mr. Wynn. 

277. On information and belief, Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, ~md Ms. Sinatra knew that 

Anrz.e USA intended to rely on this information as a r(~ason turAruze USA to c.onsenl to Elaine 

\Vynn's tmnsfer of shares under the Sto<.~kholders Agreement. On intbnnation a.nd belief~ Wynn 

Reso1is, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra i'lniht~r knew and intended that, in reHance on these 

misrepresentations, Aruze USA wotdd relinquish its own opportunity to liquidate its own shares 

64 
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1 ofWynn Resorts' stock to fund Universal's project in the Philippines or seek other financing. 

2 Therefore, Aruze USA relied on the fact that V/ynn Resorts was a committed lender to the project 

3 at the expense of pursuing other financing options. 

4 278. As a further direct and proximate result of the wrongful conduct ·by Wynn Reso1ts, 

5 Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra, as alleged herein~ Aruze USA vvas and continues to be damaged m an 

6 amount in t.~xcess of$10,000 to be prove11 at triaL 

7 2.79. An:1.ze USA brings this claim within the relevant statutt,~ of limitations under 

8 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim 011 or about Se.ptcmber 30, 2011, 

9 Despite having exercised n.~asonablc diJigerK~c, Aruze USA did not and could not reasonably have 

1 0 discovered earlier the f-acts giving rise to this claim, 

11 280. Pursu~mt to N.R.S. § 42.005, by reason of the fi.·audulent, reckless, misleading~ 

12 malicious~ wi11.fu1~ and wanton miseondud of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wytu1l und Ms. Sinattal Aruze 

13 USA is entitled to punitive damages not to exceed threetirnes the amount of compensatory 

14 darnages awarded. 

15 281. It has been necessary for Aruze USA to retain thG services of attorneys to 

16 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award ofthe reasonable value ofsaid 

17 services perf(H·med and to he perfbrmed in a sum tQ be determined. 

19 .Promissory Estoppel in Connection with F.inanci.ng for Antze USA 

20 (By Aruzc USA Against \Vynn Resott:s~ Steve Wyuu, ami Khnrn~tri~ Sinatra) 

21 '"'~82 h . Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as 1f set fbtth 

22 in fu 11 below. 

23 

25 

27 

28 

283, On or about May 16, 2011, Mr. Wynnj in the presence of Ms. Sinatra, gave 

Mr. Okada an explicit personal assurance that Wynn Resotis would provide a loan or H.tcilitate the 

lending of money to Aruze USA, which v,rou!d be hacked by shares ofWyn.n Resorts' stock held 

by Aruze USA. As alleged above, Mt. Okada agreed to the. financing f!•cnn Wynn Res<)rts-

rather than causing Aruze USA to attempt to liquidate or pledge its shares ofWyn11 Resotts or 

st~ek alternative financing- based on assurances made by Mr. Wynn. Ms. Sinatra agreed to 
~10RG~'\N~ LE:WJS '& 

H<.:X:::;:rus LLP 
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I provide draft loan agreements to Aruze USA within 10 days to sup_portthe agremnent re<Khed 

between Mr. Wynn and Mr, Okada. 

3 284. Based on the t(wegoing agreernent, on July 13, 2011} Ms. Sinatra stated in an ett1ai1 

4 to Aruze USA's counsel that Wynn Resorts was negotiating with Deutsche Bank on a rnargin 

5 loan transaction on Aruze USA's behalf: with Wynn Resorts a(.:ting as a "backstop.'' 

6 285. IV1r. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra, acting in thdr individual capacities <md as agents of 

7 \Vy1m Resorts, made these statements knowingly or without sufficient basis ofin'fbrmation 

8 becaus~~ th~~y believed Wynn Resorts was not legally permitted to enter into such a lending 

9 tra.nsaction pursuant to the restrictions in Section 402 of SOX. As alleged above, Mr .. Wynn and 

l 0 Ms. Sinatra engaged i!1 this wrongful ccn1duct with the intent to induce Aruze USA to consent to 

11 Elaine \Vynn's transfer of shares un<-k~r the Stockholders Agreement. Mr, Wynn and Ms. Sinatra 

12 acted \vith the pu1vose of maintaining Mr. Wynn's control over Wynn Resorts atler Mr. Wynn's 

13 shares in the Company vvere split with Elaine Wynn t()llowing their divorce, and keeping alive 

14 the opportunity to later have Wynn Resorts seek to redeem Aruze USA's shares at a discount 

15 286. At the time, An,1ze USA was not aware that Wynn Resotts would take the position 

16 that it was not legally pennitted to enter into such a lending transaction pursuant to the 

17 restrictions in Section 402 of SOX. Aruze USA relied on the false and misleading statements and 

18 ornissions rnade by Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn, and Ms. Sinatra, Aruze USA's reliance on the 

19 false and misleading statements and omissions was reasonable and justit1able, especially in light 

20 ofMx, Okada's trusting relationship with Mr. Wynn. 

.,1 

..!.. 

22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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287. On infin·mationand helict: Wynn Resorts, Mr, \Vynn, and Ms. Sinatra knew that 

Aruze USA intended to rely on this information as a reason for Aruze lJSA to tiJrego seeking to 

liquidate its shares or seeking another source offmancing backed by its \Vynn Resorts shares. On 

information and he1iet: Wynn H.esorts, IVt:r. Wynn, and Ivls, Sinatra further knew and intended that 

in reliance on these misrepresentations, Aruze USA would relinquish its opportunity to liquidate 

its own shares of Wynn Resorts' stock to ftmd Universal's project in the Philippines or seek other 

financing. Therefore, An.1ze USA relied on the fact that Wynn Resorts was a committed lender to 

the project atthe expense ofpursuing other financing options, 
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1 288. On September 30~ 2011, Wynn Resmts' Compliance Conunittee refused to permit 

2 the loan to A.ruze USA or to otherwise serve as a ''backstop'' for a margin loan transaction on 

3 Aruze USA's hehai[ 

4 289. As a :further dire·ct and proximate re.:;nlt oftht~ wrongful conduct by Wynn Resorts, 

5 Mr. 'Wynn, and Ms, Sinatra, as alleged herein, An1ze USA was and continues to bt!' dan1aged in an 

6 anxnmt in excess of$10,000 to be proven attrial. 

7 290. An!Ze USA brings this claim \Vithin the relevant statute ·(Jf limitations under 

8 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim on or about September 30, 2011. 

9 Desp1te ha\ling exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not reasonably have 

10 discovered earlierthe tac:ts giving rise to this claim. 

1 1 291, It has been necessary Jbr Aruzc US.A to n~tait1 the services ofattorneys to 

12 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an m.vard of the reasonable value ofsaid 

13 services pertonned and to be performed in a sum to be detenn1ned. 

14 hOUlf[XHl 

15 Fraud/Fmud in the Inducement of tbe StockboJders Agreement 

16 (By Aruze USA Against Steve Wynn) 

17 292. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs4 through 178 above as ifs(~t fort.h 

1 8 1n .. fuH below. 

19 293. In the altemative, to the extent the Court fmds that the redemption pnwision in the 

20 Articles ofincorporation applies to Aruze USA's shares,. Aruze USA asserts the claim of 

21 fhtudulent inducement against Steve Wynl1. Aruze USA thus brings this claim in the alternative 

22 to Aruze USA's claims that assert the purpmied redemption by Wynn Resorts is void ab initio. 

23 294. On ot about April 11, 2002, Aruze USA, Baron Asset Fund, and Mr. Wynn 

24 entered into tht~ Stockholders Agreement it1 recogn1tion of their desire to fom1 Wynn Resorts. On 

25 June 3, 2002, Mr. V/ynn caused Wynn Resorts to file its Articles ofincorporationwith Nevada's 

26 Secretary ofStah.~ without induding a redemption provision. 

28 
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295. On behalf of Atuze USA, on or about June 10, 2002, Mr. Wynn eaused Aruze 

USA to enter into a Contribution Agreement between AnJZc USA, Baron Asset Fund, Kenneth R 
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I \"lynn Family Trust, \"lynn Resorts, and Mr. Wynn. The Contribution Agreement committed 

2 Atuze USA's LLC interests in Valvino in exchange tl.w Wynn Resorts common sto{.:k 

3 296. Prior to causing the exchange to occur, on or about Septembet 10, 2002~ 

4 Mr. Wynn unilaterally tiled amended Articles of Incorporation that, for the frrst time, included a 

5 redemption prov1siort On intlmnation and beliet: Mr. ·wynn deliberately delayed in causing the 

6 exchange in order to allow Mr. Wynn to uni1atc!raHy amend the .A1iicles ofincorporation without 

7 affording Aruze USA a shareholder vote as would have been required pursuant to N.R.S. 

8 § 78.390. At the time ofthe amendment, Mr. Wynn •.vas. tht.~ sok stockholder of Wynn Resorts. 

9 On or about September 28, 2002, about eighteen days after Mr. \Vynn unilaterally a1nended the 

10 Articks oflncorporation, Mr. Wylm caused the exchange ofAruze USA's LLC 1nterests 1n 

11 Valvino to Wynn Res01ts for Wynn Resorts common stock. 

12 297. Iv1r. Wy11n intentionally made materially false and/or misleading representations to 

13 Aruze USA regarding Wynn Resmts' stockholder obligations under the Articles oflncorporation 

14 to induce Aruze USA to enter into the Stockholders Agreement. The Stockholders Agreem.ent 

15 '~xpressly provided fhat 1-\ruze USA would have the sole power of disposition ofjts stock in 

16 \Vyrm Resotts and there were to be no other provisions regarding the d1sposition of Aruze USA's 

17 ! stock, \'Oluntm·ily or involuntary. Mr. Wynn misrepresented and/or fililed to disdose that Wynn 

18 Resorts' amended Articles of Ineurp()ration would seek to impose substantial financial risk on 

19 Aruze USA's shares of Wynn Resorts stock by providing Wynn Resorts' Board~ whieh was 

20 controlled by Mr. W:ynn ~purported disz~retion to nxkern Arnze USA's stock on potentially 

onerous terms. 

298. The rn.isrepn:sentatio:nH and concealment of filets alleged herein were rnatel'ial. 

?3 299. Mr. Wynn knew the n1ismpresentations and concealment of facts alleged herein 

24 were false, or alternatively, made misrepresentations offilGts with reckless disn.~gard t<.w whether 

25 those representations were true, 

26 300. Wynn Resorts and Mr. Wynn made the misrepresentations and concealed facts as 

27 set forth herein with the intent to induce Atuze USA to enter into the Stockholder Agreement 

·')() 
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1 Furthermore, Mr. \Vynn made the m1srepresentations and concealment of filets alleged herein 

! ·-
3 

4 

5 

6 

7 • 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 
! 
I 

13 I 
I 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

with the inter1t of gaining his O\Vll financial advantage to the disadvantage of Aruze USA 

301. Aruze USA relied upon the misrepresentations and concealnwJit offqcts mqde by 

Mr. Wynn regarding Wynn Resorts' connnon stock at the time Aruze l.JSA entered. intQ the 

Sto<.~kholders Agreement. Aruze USA's reliance on these representations and concealment of 

facts was reasonable and justifiable, especially in light of Mr. Okada's trusting relationship with 

Mr. Wyru1 . 

302.. Aruze USA was not aware of and could not have known about the 

misrepresentations until September 30, 2011, when Wynn Resorts, tor the first time, indicated 

that it rnight attempt to apply the redemption restriction to Axuze USA's shares. 

303. Aruze USA has suJ:tered and continues to suffer injury bec.ause of Mr. Wynn's 

misreprestmtations and com~ealment oftacts set forth herein. As a direct and proximate result of 

Mr. Wynn's wrongHll cQndud, Aruze USA suflered injury wben the redemption provision was 

purportedly invoked by Wynn Resorts' Board oh or about Ft~bruary 18,2012. 

304. As a remedy fclr Mr. Vlynn's J.hmdulent inducement, .Aruze USA seeks imposition 

ofa constructive trust over Aruze tJSA~s Wy.rm Resorts shares pmpo1tcdly redeemed by the 

Board, or, in the alternative, recovery ofunjust enrichment/restitution. 

305. Pursuant to N.R.S. § 42.005, by reason ofthe fraudulent, recldes.s, misleading, 

malicious, willful, and wanton misconduct of Wynn Resorts, Mr. Wynn} and Ms. Si·natra, Aruze 

tJSA is entitled to punitive darnages not to exceed thmc times the amount of compensatory 

damages awarded. 

306, Aruze USA brings this daitn within the relevant statute of limitations under 

Nevada law·, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim~, including inj1lry arising from the 

24 purported redemption of Aruze USA's shares of Wynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

25 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did. not and could not 

26 reasonably have discovered earlier the facts giving rise to this dahn. 

27 

28 
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1 307, It has b~x~n n{.~C<-}ssary for Amze USA to retain the services of attorneys to 

2 prosecute this action, and Anw.dJSil. is entitled to an award ofthereasonable value ofsaid 

3 services perfcmned and to be pm·thrrrwd in a sum to he deterrnined. 

4 COUNTXIV 

5 Negligent Misrepresentation in Connection with tlu~ Stockholders Agreement 

6 (By Aruze tJSA Against Steve vVyuu) 

7 308. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 throllgh 178 above as if set forth 

8 in full below. 

9 309.. ln the alternative, to the extent thatthe redemption provision in the later amended 

10 Articles ofTncnrporation is fbund to apply to Aruze USA's shares, Aruze USA asserts the claim 

11 of negligent rnisrepresentation in connection with the Stockholders Agreement against Steve 

12 1 Wynn. Aruze USA thus bdngs this claim in the alternative to Amze USA's claims that asstlrt tht; 
! 

13 ! purported redemption by Wyn11 Resorts is void ab initio. 

14 

15 

16 

1 -.t I 

18 

19 

21 

22 

310. On or about April 11, 2002, Aruze USA, Baron Asset Flmd~ and Mr. Wynn 

entered into the Stockholders Agreement in rt~cognition of their desire to fonn \Vytul Resorts. On 

June 3, 2002, Mr. Wynn caused Wynn !lesorts to file its Articles oflncoq:Joration with Neva.da's 

Secretary of State without including a redemption provision. 

311, On behalf of Aruze USA, on or about June 10, 2002~ Mr. Wynn caust:~d Aruze 

USA to enter into a C6ntribution Agreement between Aruze USA} Baron Asset Fund, Kenneth R. 

Wym1 Family Trust, Wynn Resorts, and Mr. \Vynn. The Contribution Agret~ment committed 

Anw.:: USA's LLC interests in Valvino in exchange for Wynn Resorts con.1mon stock 

312. Prior to c(msing the exchange to occur~ on or about Scph.m'lbcr 1 Oj 2002, 

23 Mr. Wynn unilaterally filed amended Artkks ofincorporation that, .tbr the first lime, included a 

24 redemption provision, On information and belief: Mr. Wyrmdeliberately delayed in causing the 

25 exchange in order to allow Ml'. Wynn to unilatt:wally anumd the Artides ofJncorporatkm without 

26 affording Aruze lJSA a shareholder vote as would have been n ... ·quired pursuant to N.R.S. 

27 § 78.390. At the time of the amendment, Mr. Wynn vvas th(~ sole stockholder of Wynn Resorts. 

28 
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1 313. On or about September 28, 2002, aboutthree months after Aruze USA entered into 

2 the Contribution Agreement, and eighteen days after Mr. Wynn amended the Articles of 

3 lncoqJoration, Mr. Wynn c~aused the contribution of Aruze USA's LLC intere-.:;ts in Valvino to 

4 Wynn Resorts in exchange for Wynn Resorts common stock. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

12 

1 
,, 
. 1 

14 

! • 

314, !Vfr. \Vynn made materially false representations and/or omissions to Aruze USA 

regarding \Vynn Resorts' stt)ckholder obligations under at the time Aruze USA enh.~red into the 

Stockholders Agreement. The Stockholders Agreement expressly provided that Aruze USA 

would have the sole power of disposition of its stock in Wynn Resorts and there were to be no 

other provisions regarding the d1sposit1on. of Amze USA's sto1.~k, voluntarily or involuntary. 

Mr- vVynn misrepresented and/or failed to disclost} that \Vy11n Resorts' atntmded A1tick~s of 

Incorporation wou1d seek to in:1pose substantial financial risk to Aruze USA by providing Wynn 

Resorts' Board (which was controlled by Mr. Wynn) pnrpmted e..Hscn.ltion to redeem Aruze 

lJSA's stock on potent1aHyonerous terms . 

315. Aruze USA was not aw·are ofand could not hav<,~ known aboutthc 

15 misrepresentations until September 30, 2011, when Wynn Resorts, tbrt.he first time, indicated 

16 that it might attempt to apply the redemption restriction to ;\ruze USA's shares. 

17 "·1 '­.) o. The talse statements and/or omissions offads alleged herein wen.-;mah~rial 

18 because, had Mr. Wynn prmlided Aruze lJSA with truthful and cqtorect infhrmation, Aruze USA 

19 would not have entered into the Stockholders Agnx~mcnt. 

20 317. Mr. Wynn thi!ed to exercise reasonable care or cornpetence in obtaining or 

21 communicating the false statements of tact alleged herein, 

22 

24 

25 

26 I • H 
H 

2i u 
"' I ~ 

I 

28 

318. Aruze lJSA relied on the false and misleading statements and omissions made by 

Mr. Wynn regarding Wynn Resorts' common stock at the time Aruze USA entered into the 

Stockholders Agreement. Aruze USA's reliance on the false and misleading statements and 

omissions was reasonable and justifiable, especially in light .of Mr. Okada's trusting relationship 

with Mr. Wynn, 

319. On information and belief, iv1r. Wy1m knew that Aruz.e USA intended to rely on 
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this information as a reason for Aruzc USA to enter into the Stockholders Agreement. 
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l 320. Amze USA has suflered and continues to suffer injury because of Mr. w·.ytm's 

2 false and misleading statements and omissions alleged herein. As a din:xt and proximate result of 

3 Mr. Wynn's wrongful conduct, Aruze USA suffered injury w·hen the redemption provision was 

4 puq:lortt~dly invoked by Wynn Resorts' Board on ol' about Ft~bruary 18, 2012.. 

5 As a remedy fur Mr. Wynn's negligent m1srepres~mtations, Aruze USA seeks 

6 imposition of a con':ltn.lcthu .. ~ trust over Aruze USA's Wynn Resorts shares purportedly redeemed 

7 by the Board, or, in the aHemative, unjust enrichment/restitutimt 

8 322. Aruze USA brings this clain1 within t.he relevant statute of limitations under 

9 Nevada lm.v, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising tl·om the 

10 purported redem.ptkm of Aruze USA's shares ofWyml Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

11 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

12 reasonably have discovered earlier the fads giving rise to this daim. 

323. It has been necessary ibr Aruze USA to retain the services of attorneys to 

14 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an a\vard oft he reasonable value of said 

15 services performed and to be pedbrmed in a smn to he deterrnined. 

16 COONTXV 

17 Breach of Contract in Connection with tbe Stocklwld.ers Agreetuent 

I 8 (By Amze USA Against Steve Wynn) 

19 324. Aruze USA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 1'78 above as if set f()rth 

20 in full below. 

21 325. Mr. \Vynn, Elaine Wynn, and Aruze USA are parties to the Stockholders 

21 \ t .c.. 1- grcemen . 

23 326. Section 2(a) of the Stockholders Agreement provides that Mr. Wynn must endorse 

24 und vote for Aruze USA~s proposed slate of directors so long as the resulting Board is composed 

25 of a simple majority of directors selected by Mr. Wynn. 

26 i\.11'. Wynn has failed and refused to endorse Aruze USA's slate of directors in 

27 violation of his obligations t.~:nder the Stockholders Agreement and tailed and refused to provide 

28 assurances of his intent to vote his and Elaine Wynn's stock in bvor ofthose nominees. 
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l 328. Mr. Wytm's actions constitute a material breach of the Stockholders Agreement 

2 without justification and has fi·ustrated the essential purpose ofthe Stockholders Agreement. 

3 329. The StQck.holders Agreement provides that each ofthe parties to it recognizes and 

4 acknowledges that a breach byany party of any covenants or agreements contained in the 

5 Agreement \Viii cause the other pilrties to sustain damages for which they would not have an 

6 adequate remedy at law for money damages, and therefore each of the parties agrees that in the 

7 event of any such breach the parties shaH he entitled to appropriate equitable relief 

8 330. On account of Mr. Wynn's rnaterial breach ofthe Stockholders Agreement, Aruze 

9 USA was excused and completely discharged from mv further performance of its obligations 

t 0 contained therein, 

l 1 331. Further~ the breaches by Mr. Wynn have fl-ustrated the entire purpose ofthe 

12 ShJckhoklers Agreement and have instead served tQ further enttench Mr. \Vynn's control over 

13 the Company to the detriment of the other parties to the Agreement 

14 332. Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statutt.~ of limitations under 

15 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this daim, including injury arising fi·om the 

16 purported redemption of Aruze USA's shares of Wynn Resorts' stock, on or about Ft.~bruary 18, 

17 · 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

18 reasonably have discovered earlier the bets giving rise to this claim. 

19 333. It h~ts been net~essaty for Antze USA to retain the services ofattonwys to 

20 prosecute this adit">fl, and Aruze USA is entitled to a.ru.rv,rard ofthe reasonable value of said 

21 services perfbrrned ~md to be performed in a sum to be detennined, 

22 COUNT X'\~! 

23 Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing in Stodd1olders Agreement 

24 (By Arnze USA Against Steve ·wynn) 

25 Aruze USA reasserts and reaUeges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as if set forth 

26 in full below. 

27 335. In every contract, there exists an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

28 
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336. Aruze lJ SA and Mr. Wynn axe parties to the Stockho 1ders Agreernent, between 

2 Mr. Wyn11, Elaine Wynn, and Aruze USA. 

3 Aruze USA has properly sought to t~xercise .its rights under the Stockholders 

4 Agreement in seeking to designate directors fur endorsementby Mr. Wynn while complying 'vith 

5 the contractual condition that the Board will consist ~)fa rnajtwity of directors nominated by 

6 !Vlr. Wvnn . • 

7 l\tlr. Wynn has rnatedally breached the Stockholders Agreement by tailing to 

8 endorse Aruze USA's slate ofnorninees flw directors to the Wynn Resorts Board and by t1li1ing to 

9 confirm his intent to vote his and Elaine Wynn's stock in favor of those nominees, thereby 

I 0 ih .. wtrtlting the essential purpose ofthe Stockholders Agreexnent. 

11 · 339. :tvir. Wy1m has breached the reasonable and justifiable expectations of Aruze USA 

with respect to AnlZe USA's abilityto successfully designate director candidates, an essential 

13 purpose ofthe Stockholders Agreement. 

14 340. ivir. Wynn also has breached the reasonable and justifiable expectations of Aruze 

15 USA by unreasonably withholding his consent for Aruze USA to liquidate stock, and by falsely 

16 promising financing in ordetto persuade .Aruze USA to delay its demands for liquidity, 

17 341. Accordingly, Mr. Wynn's (xmduct has breached the covenant ofgood faith and 

l8 tb.ir dealing, On account of Mr. Wym1's matt1rial breach, Amze USA is entitled to contract 

19 damages, or in the alternative~ AnlZe USA is entitled to be excused and discharged from its 

20 obligations under the StockholdtlfS Agreement. 

21 342, By virtue of his purported position as power of attorney under the Stockholders 

22 Agreen1ent, Mt, \Vynn owed fiduciary duties to Aruze USA. Given the existence of this "'special 

23 relationship" between Mr. \Vynn and Aruze USA, Mr. Wynn is also liable tbr a tortious breach of 

24 the implied duty of good faith and lair dealing and the at~companying tmt damages. 

25 

.') ~o· . .... ~) 

27 

28 

343. Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statute of limitations under 

Nevada law, having d1scnvered H..~o(cts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising fhnn the 

purported redemption of Aruze USA's shares of\Vynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

74 
~-····-------. ----- -------------------------------------------------------------- - -----------------~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-------------------

DEFl'NDAN'TS '·.THIRD AMENDED COUNTERCLAIM 

SA1280



1 2012. Despite having exercis{..'tl reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and could not 

2 reasonably have discovered earlier the facts giving rise to this claim. 

3 344. It hasbeen ne{.X~ssary fbr Aruze USA to retain tht) services of attorneys to 

4 prosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award of the reasonable value of said 

5 services performed and to be perforrned in a sum to be determined. 

6 COl.JNT XVII 

7 Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

8 (By An1zt~ USA Against Steve Wynn) 

9 345. Arnze ~USA reasserts and reaHeges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as if set forth 

10 in fuUbelow, 

11 346, In the alternative, to the extent the Court .finds that the redernption provision in the 

12 Articles of Incorporation applies to Aruze USA's shates, Aruze USA asserts the claim ofbreach 

13 of tldudary duty against Steve Vi/ynn, Aruze USA thus brings this claim in the alternative to 

14 Aruze USA's claims that assert the purported redemption by Wynn Resorts is void ab initio. 

15 347. Section 2(c) ofthe Stockholder Agreement provided that ''Aruze [USA] hereby 

16 constitutes and appoints [Mr.] Wynn as itstrue and lawful attorney-in- tact and agent, with fhll 

17 power ofsubstitution and reconstitution fur it and in its name, place and stead, in any and all 

18 c(1pacities, to execute and deliver any and aU documents in connection with or related to the 

19 tbrmation of [Wynn Resorts].'' As Amze USA's attomey--in-·fact and agent, Mr. Wynn had a 

20 flduc1ary duty to Aruze USA to act in good faith and in Aruze USA's best interest. 

21 348. By virtue ofhis purported position as power of attorney under the Stockholders 

22 Agreement, Mr. Wynn owed fiduciary duties to Aruze USA. In breach of these duties, on or 

23 about September 10, 2002, Mr, Wynn caused to he filed amended Articles of Incorporation that 

24 included, thr the tlrst time, a redemption provision, 

25 349. Mr. Wynn's act of unilaterally amending the .Articles oflncorporation 

26 demonstrated that Mr, Wynn possessed a conflict of interest it1 his dual roles of sole shareholder 

27 in Wynn Resorts and attorney-in-tact and agent ofAruze USA, rfapplied to Aruze USA, the 

28 redemption provision would violate the Sto~ddm1ders Agrt~ement and impose substantial :financial 
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1 risk onAruze USA's shares ofvVynn Rt~sorts stock by providing \Vynn Resotts' Board- which 

2 was conttoHed by Mr. Wynn-· purported discretion to redeem Aruze USA's stock on potentially 

3 onerous terms. Despite the cont1ict of interest, Ivfr. \Vynn included the redemption provision in 

4 the Art ides of Incorporation to the dt.~triment of AnlZe USA in breach of his Hduciary dl.lties as 

5 attorney~in-fact to Aruze USA. Further, as Arnze US.A.'s attorney-in-fact, Mr. Wynn had a duty 

6 to inform Aruze USA that the redemption provision could be used against Aruze USA ln 

7 violation ofthis duty, Mr. Wynn not only failed to intbrtn Aruze USA ofthis risk, but, on 

8 in:fi)nnation and beliet: his attomeys represented to Aruze USA's attorneys that such a 

9 redemption provision 'would not apply to Aruze USA's shares. 

10 350. Mr. Wynn's fiduciary obligations to An.lZe USA as attomey-in-tax:.t are not su~ject 

11 to the business judgment rule. 

12 351, Aruze USA was not aware of and could not have known about the breach of 

13 fiduciary duties until September 30, 2011, when Wynn Rewrts, f()rthe Hrst time~ indicated that it 

14 might attempt to apply tht:~ redemption restriction to Aruze USA's shares. 

15 352. As a further direct and pmximate result of the wrongful conduct by the Mr. Wynn, 

16 as alleged herein, Aruze USA was and continues to he damaged in an amount in excess of 

17 $10,000, 

18 353. Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statute oflimitations under 

19 Nevada law, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising from the 

20 purported redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofWynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

21 2012. Despit(~ having exercised reasonable diligence, Aruze USA did not and c.ould not 

22 reasonably have discovered earlier the fucts giving rise to this claim. 

354, It has been necessary for Aruze USA to retain the services of attorneys to 

24 flrosecute this action, and Aruze USA is entitled to an award of the reasonable value of said 

25 l services perfbrmed and to lx~ pedimned in a sum to be determined. 
! 
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1 COU~J' XVIII 

2 Tortious Inte.rfc.rcnce ofCoutrac.t 

3 (By Aruze USA Against \Vynn Rt~sorts~ Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Ray R.lrani, 

4 Robet·t J. Miller, ~John A. Moran, Man.~ D. Schon-, Alvin V. Shoemaker~, Boone \Vayson, 

5 and A.Uan Zeman) 

6 355, Aruze USA l'easserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as if set tbrth 

7 in full below. 

356, 1n the alternative, to the extent the Court finds the redemption of Aruze USA's 

shares enforceable, Aruze USA asserts the claim oftmtious interf{m.mce of contract against \Vynn 

Resorts, Linda Chen. Russell Gnldsmith, Ray R. Irani, Robett J. Miller, John A. Moran~ Marc D. 

Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, Boone Wayson, and Allan Zeman. 

On or about February 18,2012, Wynn Resorts purportedly redeen.1ed r\ruze USA ~s 

Wynn Resort shares fbr 30% less than the market value ofthe shares as rneasured by the closing 

price of Wynn R~~sort's stock on the Friday prior to the Satun.hty Board rneeting. Wynn Resorts 

announced that it anived at the 30(lto discounted valut~ he.:.~ause ofthe existence of the 

Stockholders Agreement, 

358. \Vynn Resotts, Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Ray R. Irani, Robert J. Miller, 

John A Moran, Mme D. Schorr, Alvin V, Shoemaker, Boone \Vaysotl1 and Allan Zeman knew of 

the existence of the Stockholders Agreement betwet~ Aruze USA, Mr. W_ynn, and Ms. \Vynn, 

and believed the Stockholders Agreement to be valid and enf(Jrceahle prior to voting to redeem 

Axuze lJSA's stock in Wynn_ Resorts. 

359. By voting in favor of the redemption of Aruze USA's shares, Wynn Resorts, Linda 

Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Ray R, Irani, Robert J. Miller, John A .. Moran, Marc D, Schorr, Alvin 

V. Shoemaker, Boone Wayson, and Allan Zeman YJlCW or should have known that the 

redernpt.ion wo1.1ld violate the Stockho 1ders Ag1·eement by denying Aruze USA the right to have 

the "sole power of disposition'' ofits shares in Wynn Resorts. 

360 .. To the extent the Court finds that the redemption of _Aruze USA's stock actually 

occurred, Wynn Resorts, Linda Chen, Russdi Goldstnitll~ Ray R. Irani, Robert J. Miller, John A. 
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1 Moran, :rv1arc D. Schorrj Alvin V. Shoemaker~ Boone Wayson, and A11an Zeman intentionally and 

2 tortiously interfered with crmtractual relations~ which resulted in injury to Aruze USA. 

3 361. As a fbrther direct and proximah.l resn1t of the wrongful condu,~t by Wynn Resmts, 

4 Linda Chen, Russell Goldsmith, Ray R, Irani, Robert J. Miller, John A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, 

5 Alvin V. Shne.maker, Boone \Vayson, and Allan Zeman as alleged herein, Aruze USA wus and 

6 contirn..1es. to be damaged in an amount in excess ()f$1 0,000 to be proven at tri~ll. 

7 362. Aruze USA brings this Claim within the relevant statute oflimitations under 

8 Nevada law, having discovered f11cts giving dse to this claim, including injury arising li:om the 

9 purported redemption of Aruze US.A's shares ofWynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18, 

10 2012. Despite having exercised n~asonable diligence, Aruze USA did not .f.ll1d ccould not 

11 reasonably have discovered ear!.ier the fads giving rise to this claim. 

12 363. It has be,f.m n<:X~essary ihr Aruze USA to retain the servkes of attorneys to 

13 prosecute this action, and Anrz:e USA .is entitled to an award ofthe reasonable v<t1ue of said 

14 services performed and to be perfonned in a sum to be determined. 

15 COUNTXIX 

16 Unconsdormhility/Refo.nnation of l)romissory Note 

17 (Uy Anne liSA Against Wynn Resorts) 

18 364. Aruze USA reasserts and rea!leges ·Paragraphs 4 tbxough 178 above as if set fotth 

19 in full below. 

20 

22 

24 

25 

"!f." 
Ll) 

27 

28 

In the alten1ative, to the extent that the redemption provision in the Articles of 

Inco:rporation is ti.Hmd to flpply to Aruze USA's shares and the redemption is f(.rund to be lawtl.Jl, 

Arnze lJSA assc:rts that the prornissory note is unconscionable and ther<.:)tbre subjec~t to 

reti-J rmation. 

366. On January 27, 2012, Wynn Resorts declared in a publicly filed Opposition to 

Mr. Okada's Petition for Writ ofMandamus that Aruze USA's nearly 20%~ stake in \Vynn Resorts 

was "valued at: approximately $2.9 billion." 

t\··lo~GAN.; LHVIS& 
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1 367. Just 22 days later, on February 18, 2012, Wynn Resorts acted to fon..~ibly acquire 

2 Anrze USA's stake in Wynn Resorts in exchange for a $1.936 billion promissorynott-\ paying a 

3 mere 2~,.-;) interest per annum over atcn--ycar term. 

4 368. The promissory note is unconscionably vague, ambiguous~ and oppressive. 

5 369. Aruze USA was never permitted the oppottunity to negotiate the arnount oft he 

6 promissory note given the m(l;rket va1ue of its shares, nor was Amzc USA 1x~rmitted the 

7 opportunity to negotiate the terms of the promissory note, including, hut not limited to, the 

8 interest rate, the restrictions on transfer, and the subordination provisions. 

9 '"} ,-,u~ 
_l I. , Vv'ynn Res01ts rt~ceivcd a grossly one--sided windfall by tbrdbly redeernlng $2.9 

10 billion of securities at a deep discount, transfom1ing equity into a 2 percet1t ptx annum. debt 

11 instrument that Aruze USA rnay not transfer~ retuining the ubility to issue additional debt at any 

12 tinle and provide any new lender priority rights above Aruze USA's note, and tenmving vot:ing 

13 and other rights from Aruze USA. 

14 r1 .. I . i\ruze USA, therefore, seeks refimnation ofthe promissory note, includ1ng but not 

15 limited to its principal, duration, interest rate, re-s;trictions on transfer, restrictions on 

16 subordination, and inclusion of other customary and reasonable tenns, conditions, and covenants. 

17 COUNT XX 

I 8 E<:xtortlon 

19 (By Aruze USA Ag~linst Wynn Resorts, Steve \Vynn, and 1\:htuuarie Sinatra) 

20 372. Aruze l.JSA reasserts and realleges Paragraphs 4 through 178 above as ifset thrth 

21 in full below. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

28 
R·l\JI~J;AN} l.~:WJS.& 

!lOCK!!.::> LLP 

373. On Septmnher 30, 2011., counsel for Aruze USA met with Ms. Sinatra and Mr. 

Tom·ek nfWynn Resorts. During this meeting, Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Tourekthreatened to 

(a) infrmtl the Bnatd of alleged concerns regarding the Universal's and Mr. Okada's project in the 

Philippines and (b) request that the Board redf.."Cfn Aruze USA's shares 1n Wynn Resorts if Atuze 

USA did not agree to sell its sharesin vVynn Resorts to Mr. \Vynn or pledge 1ts shares., subJeet to 

both a voting trust that would allow Mr. Wynn to vote the shares and to a right of first. refusal for 

Mr. Wynn to purchase the shares, and to have Mr. Okada resign tl·om the Board. To add 

·'19 I . 
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1 additional pressure on Amzt;.~ USA1 Ms. Sinatra stated shf.~ hoped fl "resolution1
' could be reached 

2 regarding Aruze USA's shares and Mr. Okada's directorship prior to the Compliance Committee 

3 meeting on October 21, 2011, in advance ofthe November 1 Board meeting. 

4 374. Additicn1al1y, shortly after Mr. Okada's Februaty 15, 2012 intenriew with Frech 

5 Sporkin, Mr. Wynn, through intermediaries, contacted Aruze USA and proposed to purchase 

6 Aruze USA's stock at a significant discount off ofthe tak value of the shares. Mr. Wynn, 

7 through his intermed1aries stated that in exchange fi:n· Aruze USA se1Iing its stock to Mr. Wynn, 

8 Mr. Wynn would ensure thatthe Freeh Sporkin report \Vould notbe disclosed. Mr. Wynn's 

9 intermediaries threatened that should the Freeh Sporkinreport be disclosed, Aruze USA may he 

1 0 subject to nmch public embarrassment and attendant regulatory issues. 

11 3 75. As a result of Aruze USA's reillsal to accede to the demands ofWynn Resorts, Mr. 

12 \Vynn, and Ms. Sinatra that It sell its shares to !vl.r. Wynn at a discount, Wynn Resorts; Mr. \Vynn~ 

13 and Ms. Sinatra made good on their threats and comrnenced a systematic process of defaming Mr. 

14 Okada, Aruze USA, and Universal and redeeming Aruze USA's shares at a $1 billion discount off 

15 the fuir value of the shares. 

16 -~7(" - . }. Aruze USA brings this claim within the relevant statute of limitations under 

17 Nevada Jaw, having discovered facts giving rise to this claim, including injury arising fi·om the 

18 purported redemption ofAruze USA's shares ofWynn Resorts' stock, on or about February 18; 

19 2012. Despite having exercised reasonable diligence, Arnze USA d.id not and could not 

20 rt;.~asonably have discovered earlier the ill.cts giving ris'~ to tllis claim. 

21 377. It has been 1wcessarv tor Aruze USA to retain the servkes ofattornevs to 
-~ ' ' . . ' ~ 

prosecute this action, and Anne USA is entitled to an a\vard ofthc reasonable value of said 

23 servicf..:s perfbrmcd and to he perfbrmed in a sum to be determined. 

74 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

25 WHEREFORE, AruzcUSA and Universal each expressly reserves its and their right to 

26 amend these Counterclaims before or at the time ofthe trial of this action to include all items of 

27 injury and darn ages not yet ascertained. Aruze USA and Universal pray that the Honorable Court 

')8 .l ... 

i\10RGi•,NI LE~N~S&: 
BOCKiUS LLP 

t~.·rt\-,R~-':'1~~ ,...,:, L~.\~;' 

S.~J; f.R,~,N0~":\.1 
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1 enter judgment in favor oft~ach ofthcm, and against Wynn Resorts, l'vk Wynn, Ms. Sinatra, and 

2 the other \\lynn Directors, as fbllows: 

a. For general damages 1n an arnount in excess of $1 0.000; ...... ...... ·' . 

! 
4 1 

! b. For consequential damages; 

5 c. For treble and statutory damages; 

6 d. For punitive damages three times the arnount of compensatory damages awarded; 

7 e. For disgorgement ofprof1ts; 

8 f. For constructive trust and m~ust enrichment; 

9 g. For preliminary and/or permanent injunctive relief; 

10 h. For declaratory relief; 

11 For retonnation of the promissory note; 

12 
. 
J. F<Jl' costs and expenses ofthis action, prejudgment and post-judgment interest, and 

reasonable attorneys' fees incurred herein; and 

14 k. Any and all such other and filrther equitable and legal relief as this Cm.ut deems 

15 just and proper. 

16 

17 ~· , . 

18 

19 . ' . 
')0 
,;:,._. ·- ' lj 

21 

23 ' . . 
24 

. . . 

26 

28 
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BOCKJUSl.LY 

1 JURY I>EMANH 

2 Defendants and Counterdaimants hereby demand a trial by jury on all claims and issues 

3 so triable, 

4 Dated: August 29, 2013 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 I 

20 

') 1 
"·' 

24 

25 

2() ~ 
I u 
'I 
I 27 . 

28 

By A/ Charles H McCrea, Jr. _____ _ 
SamuelS, Lionel (SBN 1766) 
Charles fl. McCrea, JL (SBN I 04) 
Steven C. Anderson (SBN 11901) 
LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS 

Marc J. Sonnenfeld* 
Ro Uin B. Chippey, II* 
Joseph E. Floren* 
Benjamin P. Smith* 
Christopher J. Banks* 
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS, LLP 

Attorneys fhr Defendants and Counterclain1ants 
ARUZE USA, INC. and UNIVERSAL 
ENTERTAINMENT CORPORATION 
* admittt~d pro hac vice 

8., 
-~ 
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1 I 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 5(h ), I hereby certifY that I am an employee 

of LIONEL Si-\ W''{ER & COLLINS and that on this 30th day ofAugust 2013, I caused the 

document Third Arnended{\mnterclaim ofARUZE USA, INC. and UNIVERSAL 

ENTERTAINMENT CORP,, to be served as follows: 

[ J by depositing same for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed envelope 
addressed to: 

[ ] pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) to he sent via facsirnile as indicated: 

[X J to be hand delivered to: 

11 and/or 

.1') 
- ~ 

13 

14 

15 

16 

i7 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

25 

•'"'(' ..:..,) 

[ X] by the Comt's ECF System tlmmgh \Viznet 

An Emp-loyee of-J~IONEL SAWYER &. COLLINS 
( __ ",--···""··· 

27. 

28 
MORGAN, Li!W!S & 
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REGISTER OF ACTIONS 
CASE NO. A-12-654522-B 

Kazuo Okada, Plaintiff(s) vs. Wynn Resorts Limited, 
Defendant(s) 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

Case Type: Business Court 
Subtype: NRS Chapters 78-89 

Date Filed: 01/11/2012 
Location: Department 11 

Cross-Reference Case Number: A654522 
  

PARTY INFORMATION 
 Lead Attorneys 
Defendant Wynn Resorts Limited 

 
 Kirk Banks Lenhard 
Â Â Retained 
702-382-2101(W) 

 

  

Plaintiff Okada, Kazuo 
 
 Bryce K. Kunimoto 
Â Â Retained 
7022222500(W) 

 

EVENTS & ORDERS OF THE COURT 
      OTHER EVENTS AND HEARINGS 
01/11/2012     Case Opened 
01/11/2012     Discovery Heard by Department/Deemed Complex 
01/11/2012 

    
Complaint (Business Court) 
Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

01/11/2012 

    

Affidavit in Support 
Affidavit of Charles H. McCrea, Jr. in Support of Petition for a Writ of Mandamus and Motion for Expedited 
Consideration 
 
 

01/11/2012 
    

Memorandum 
Memorandum of Law in Support of Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

01/11/2012 
    

Ex Parte Motion 
Exparte Motion for Expedited Consideration of Issuance of Alternative Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

01/12/2012 

    

Motion  (1:00 PM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

01/12/2012 
    

Notice of Appearance 
Notice of Appearance 
 
 

01/12/2012 
    

Initial Appearance Fee Disclosure 
Initial Appearance Fee Disclosure 
 
 

01/12/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel - Gidon Menahem Caine 
 
 

01/13/2012 
    

Writ of Mandamus 
Alternative Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

01/13/2012 
    

Affidavit of Service 
Affidavit of Service 
 
 

01/20/2012 
    

Consent to Service By Electronic Means 
Consent to Service by Electronic Means 
 
 

01/25/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel - Steven Morse Collins 
 
 

01/26/2012 
    

Certificate of Service 
Certificate of Service 
 
 

SA1403



01/27/2012 
    

Opposition 
Respondent's Opposition To Petition For A Writ Of Mandamus 
 
 

01/30/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Robert L. Shapiro as Counsel on Order Shortening Time 
 
 

01/30/2012 
    

Receipt of Copy 
Receipt of Copy 
 
 

01/31/2012 
    

Motion for Protective Order 
Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion for Protective Order on Order Shortening Time 
 
 

01/31/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Application for Order Shortening Time for Hearing on Petitioner's Motions to Associate Counsel 
 
 

01/31/2012 
    

Receipt of Copy 
Receipt of Copy of Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion for Protective Order on Order Shortening Time 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Deftâ€™s motion to Associate Robert L. Shapiro as Counsel on Order Shortening Time 
 

 

02/02/2012 
    

Motion for Protective Order  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion for Protective Order on Order Shortening Time 
 

 

02/02/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Application for Order Shortening Time for Hearing on Petitioner's Motions to Associate Counsel 
 

 

02/02/2012 

    

All Pending Motions  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Granted 

02/02/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting To Practice - Robert L Shapiro Esq 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice - Gidon M Caine Esq 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice - Steven Morse Collins Esq 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting To Practice Gidon M. Caine 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Steven Morse Collins 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Answer 
Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's Verified Answer To Petition For Writ Of Mandamus 
 
 

02/02/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order 
 
 

02/03/2012 
    

Reply in Support 
Petitioner's Reply Memorandum of Law in Support of Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

02/06/2012 
    

Proof of Compliance 
Proof of Compliance (Gidon M. Caine) 
 
 

02/06/2012 
    

Proof of Compliance 
Proof of Compliance (Steven M. Collins) 
 
 

02/07/2012 

    

Telephonic Conference  (1:00 PM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Status Check Re: Media Request 
Minutes 
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Result: Matter Heard 
02/07/2012 

    
Response 
Response to Notification of Media Request 
 
 

02/08/2012 

    

Telephonic Conference  (1:45 PM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

02/08/2012     Order 
Protective Order 

02/08/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Protective Order 
 
 

02/09/2012 

    

At Request of Court  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
02/09/2012, 03/08/2012 
At the Request of the Court: Argument on Writ of Mandamus 
Parties Present 

Minutes 

02/23/2012 Reset by Court to 03/08/2012 
Result: Matter Continued 

02/09/2012 
    

Receipt of Copy 
Receipt of Copy of Supplement to Respondent's Opposition to Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

02/09/2012 
    

Filed Under Seal 
Supplement to Respondent's Opposition to Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

02/13/2012     Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript of Proceedings Hearing on Petition For Writ of Mandamus February 9, 2012 

02/16/2012 
    

Media Request and Order 
Media Request And Order For Camera Access To Court Proceedings 
 
 

02/17/2012 

    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

02/28/2012 

    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Pltf's Motion to Associate Counsel 
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

02/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice - Steven Morse Collins Esq 
 
 

03/07/2012 
    

Supplement to Opposition 
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Second Supplement To Respondent's Opposition To Petition For A Writ Of Mandamus 
 
 

03/07/2012 
    

Certificate of Service 
Certificate of Service 
 
 

03/07/2012 
    

Supplement 
Supplemental Submission in Support of Petition for a Writ of Mandamus and Opposition to Motion for a Stay 
 
 

03/09/2012 
    

Notice of Compliance 
Notice Of Compliance With March 8, 2012 Court Direction 
 
 

03/13/2012 
    

Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript Of Proceedings Hearing At Request Of The Court: Argument On Writ Of Mandamus March 8, 2012 
 
 

04/03/2012     Order to Statistically Close Case 
Civil Order To Statistically Close Case 

04/10/2012     Media Request and Order 
Media Request and Order For Camera Access to Court Proceedings 

05/03/2012     Motion to Amend 

SA1405



Motion on Order Shortening Time to Amend Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

05/04/2012 
    

Errata 
Errata to Motion on Order Shortening Time to Amend Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

05/16/2012 

    

Opposition to Motion 
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Kazuo Okada's Motion on Order Shortening Time to Amend Petition for Writ of 
Mandamus 
 
 

05/16/2012 
    

Notice of Appearance 
Notice of Appearance 
 
 

05/17/2012 

    

Motion to Amend  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Pltf's Motion on Order Shortening Time to Amend Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Granted 

05/23/2012     Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript of Proceedings Hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Petition for Writ of Mandamus May 17, 2012 

05/25/2012 
    

Amended Petition 
First Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

05/30/2012 
    

Answer 
Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's Verified Answer to First Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

06/08/2012 
    

Supplement 
Supplemental Submission in Support of First Amended Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

06/18/2012 
    

Motion 
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Expedited Motion for Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada; Order Shortening Time 
 
 

06/19/2012 
    

Notice of Hearing 
Notice of Hearing 
 
 

06/26/2012 
    

Memorandum 
Status Memorandum 
 
 

06/27/2012 

    

Opposition 
Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Wynn Resorts, Limited's Expedited Motio for Leave to Depose 
Kazuo Okada and Alternative Counter-Motion for Leave to Depose the Wynn Resorts Directors 
 
 

06/27/2012 

    

Appendix 
Appendix to Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Wynn Resorts, Limited's Expedited Motion for 
Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada and Alternative Counter-Motion for Leave to Depose the Wynn Resorts Directors 
 
 

06/27/2012 
    

Memorandum 
Response to Wynn Resort's Status Report 
 
 

06/28/2012 
    

Decision  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
/ARGUMENT: REASONABLENESS OF REQUEST AND RELATIONSHIP TO THE DUTIES AS A DIRECTOR 
 

 

06/28/2012 
    

Motion for Leave  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Expedited Motion for Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada; Order Shortening Time 
 

 

06/28/2012 

    

All Pending Motions  (9:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Granted 

07/05/2012     Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript of Proceedings Hearing on Motions June 28, 2012 

07/17/2012 
    

Notice of Appearance 
Notice of Appearance of Counsel 
 
 

07/17/2012     Notice of Appearance 
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Notice of Appearance of Counsel 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Howard M. Privette, II) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (William F. Sullivan) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (John S. Durrant) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Paul M. Spagnoletti) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Linda Chatman Thomsen) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Greg D. Andres) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Gina M. Cora) 
 
 

07/20/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Jami S. Johnson) 
 
 

07/27/2012 
    

Certificate of Service 
Certificate of Service 
 
 

07/27/2012 
    

Substitution of Attorney 
Substitution of Attorneys 
 
 

08/22/2012 
    

Stipulation and Order 
Stipulation and Order Regarding Supplemental Briefing and Hearing 
 
 

08/22/2012 
    

Order 
Order Regarding Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion for Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada 
 
 

08/23/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Stipulation and Order Regarding Supplemental Briefing and Hearing 
 
 

08/23/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Regarding Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion for Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada 
 
 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Howard M. Privette, II) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (William F. Sullivan) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (John S. Durrant) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Paul M. Spagnoletti) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Linda Chatman Thomsen) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Greg D. Andres) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Gina M. Cora) 
 

 

08/24/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Motion to Associate Counsel (Jami S. Johnson) 
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08/24/2012 

    

All Pending Motions  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Minutes 

 
Result: Granted 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Paul M. Spagnoletti 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Jami S. Johnson 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Gina M. Cora 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Greg D. Andres 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Linda Chatman Thomsen 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice John S. Durrant 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice Howard M. Privette, II 
 
 

08/28/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice William F. Sullivan 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Daniel Scott Carlton) 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice William F. Sullivan 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice John S. Durrant 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Greg D. Andres 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Howard M. Privette, II 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Paul M. Spagnoletti 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Linda Chatman Thomsen 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Gina M. Cora 
 
 

08/29/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Jami S. Johnson 
 
 

09/21/2012 
    

Motion to Associate Counsel 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Gina Caruso) 
 
 

09/28/2012 
    

Supplement to Opposition 
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Supplemental Brief in Opposition to First Amended Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

10/01/2012 
    

Reply 
Reply to Wynn Resorts, Limited's Supplemental Brief in Opposition to First Amended Petition for a Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

10/01/2012 
    

Receipt of Copy 
Receipt of Copy 
 
 

10/02/2012 
    

Hearing  (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Hearing, Re: Reasonableness 
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10/02/2012 
    

Petition for Writ of Mandamus  (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
 

 

10/02/2012 

    

All Pending Motions  (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

10/03/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice (Daniel Scott Carlton) 
 
 

10/03/2012 
    

Order Admitting to Practice 
Order Admitting to Practice (Gina Caruso) 
 
 

10/05/2012 

    

CANCELED   Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Vacated - per Judge 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Daniel Scott Carlton) 
 

 

10/11/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Gina Caruso 
 
 

10/15/2012     Order 
Order On First Amended Petition For Writ Of Mandamus 

10/15/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order on First Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus 
 
 

10/16/2012 
    

Notice of Entry of Order 
Notice of Entry of Order Admitting to Practice Daniel Scott Carlton 
 
 

10/16/2012 
    

Notice of Compliance 
Notice of Compliance 
 
 

10/17/2012 
    

Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript Of Proceedings Petition For Writ Of Mandamus October 2, 2012 
 
 

11/02/2012 

    

CANCELED   Motion to Associate Counsel  (3:00 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Vacated - per Judge 
Motion to Associate Counsel (Gina Caruso) 
 

 

11/02/2012 

    

Motion to Compel 
Petitioner's Motion To Compel And Request To Depose Wynn Resorts' Nrcp 30(B)(6) Representative On An Order 
Shortening Time 
 
 

11/05/2012 
    

Certificate of Service 
Certificate of Electronic Service 
 
 

11/07/2012 

    

Opposition to Motion to Compel 
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Kazuo Okada's Motion to Compel and Request to Depose Wynn Resorts' NRCP 
30(b)(6) Representative on an Order Shortening Time 
 
 

11/08/2012 

    

Motion to Compel  (8:30 AM) (Judicial Officer Gonzalez, Elizabeth)  
Petitioner's Motion To Compel And Request To Depose Wynn Resorts' Nrcp 30(B)(6) Representative On An Order 
Shortening Time 
Parties Present 

Minutes 

 
Result: Matter Heard 

11/13/2012     Transcript of Proceedings 
Transcript Of Proceedings Hearing On Motion To Compel 30(b)(6) Deposition November 8, 2012 

11/15/2012 
    

Notice of Withdrawal 
Notice of Withdrawal of Attorneys 
 
 

11/26/2012 

    

Order Denying Motion 
Order Denying Petitioner Kazuo Okada's Motion to Compel and Request to Depose Wynn Resorts' NRCP 30(b)(6) 
Representative 
 
 

11/26/2012     Notice of Entry of Order 
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Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motion to Compel and Request to Depose 
 
 

01/21/2013 
    

Notice of Withdrawal of Attorney 
Notice of Withdrawal of Attorneys 
 
 

04/28/2014 
    

Substitution of Attorney 
Substitution of Counsel 
 
 

01/12/2015 
    

Notice of Change of Firm Name 
Notice of Change of Firm Name 
 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
             
             
      Defendant Wynn Resorts Limited 
      Total Financial Assessment  1,724.50 
      Total Payments and Credits  1,724.50 
      Balance Due as of 07/21/2015  0.00 
              
01/12/2012     Transaction Assessment      1,483.00 
01/12/2012     Wiznet  Receipt # 2012-04799-CCCLK  Wynn Resorts Limited  (1,483.00) 
01/30/2012     Transaction Assessment      3.50 
01/30/2012     Wiznet  Receipt # 2012-13425-CCCLK  Wynn Resorts Limited  (3.50) 
02/02/2012     Transaction Assessment      3.50 
02/02/2012     Wiznet  Receipt # 2012-15368-CCCLK  Wynn Resorts Limited  (3.50) 
02/02/2012     Transaction Assessment      231.00 
02/02/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-15390-CCCLK  WYNN RESORTS  (231.00) 
02/02/2012     Transaction Assessment      3.50 
02/02/2012     Wiznet  Receipt # 2012-15629-CCCLK  Wynn Resorts Limited  (3.50) 

              
             
             
      Plaintiff Okada, Kazuo 
      Total Financial Assessment  2,540.50 
      Total Payments and Credits  2,540.50 
      Balance Due as of 07/21/2015  0.00 
              
01/11/2012     Transaction Assessment      1,530.00 
01/11/2012     Wiznet  Receipt # 2012-04341-CCCLK  Okada, Kazuo  (1,530.00) 
02/07/2012     Transaction Assessment      117.00 
02/07/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-17757-CCCLK  MOON CAPITAL  (117.00) 
02/27/2012     Transaction Assessment      21.00 
02/27/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-25557-CCCLK  MOON CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LP  (21.00) 
03/08/2012     Transaction Assessment      216.00 
03/08/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-30982-CCCLK  MICHELE KANE  (216.00) 
03/08/2012     Transaction Assessment      12.00 
03/08/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-31033-CCCLK  Review Journal  (12.00) 
04/03/2012     Transaction Assessment      8.00 
04/03/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-43240-CCCLK  MICHELE KANE  (8.00) 
04/17/2012     Transaction Assessment      15.00 
04/17/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-49252-CCCLK  MOON CAPITAL MANAGMENT, LP  (15.00) 
04/28/2014     Transaction Assessment      3.50 
04/28/2014     Wiznet  Receipt # 2014-49181-CCCLK  Okada, Kazuo  (3.50) 
05/09/2012     Transaction Assessment      163.00 
05/09/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-60083-CCCLK  Valerie C. Miller  (163.00) 
05/09/2012     Transaction Assessment      19.00 
05/09/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-60164-CCCLK  BLOOMBERG NEWS  (19.00) 
08/01/2012     Transaction Assessment      136.00 
08/01/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-96251-CCCLK  JONATHAN D. ESTREICH  (136.00) 
08/01/2012     Transaction Assessment      300.00 
08/01/2012     Payment (Window)  Receipt # 2012-96255-CCCLK  JONATHAN D. ESTREICH  (300.00) 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

KAZUO OKADA, 
 
   Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF 
NEVADA, IN AND FOR CLARK 
COUNTY; THE HONORABLE 
ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, 
DISTRICT JUDGE, DEPT. 11, 
 
   Respondent, 
 
and 
 
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED, 
 
  Real Party in Interest. 

Case No. 68310 
 
 
 
 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX  
IN SUPPORT OF REAL  
PARTY IN INTEREST  
WYNN RESORTS, LIMITED'S 
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR 
WRIT OF PROHIBITION OR 
MANDAMUS 
 
 
 
VOLUME V of VI 
 
 

 
 
DATED this 21st day of July 2015. 

 
     PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
     By:   /s/ James J. Pisanelli    
      James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 

 Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 
 Debra L. Spinelli, Esq., Bar No. 9695 
 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300  
 Las Vegas, Nevada   89101 
 
Attorneys for Real Party in Interest  
Wynn Resorts, Limited 

Electronically Filed
Jul 22 2015 08:40 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 68310   Document 2015-22133
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Kazuo Okada's Petition for a Writ of 
Mandamus 

01/11/12 I SA0001-0021

Respondent Wynn Resorts, Limited's 
Opposition to Petition for a Writ of Mandamus

01/27/12 I SA0022-0138

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Complaint 02/19/12 I SA0139-0207
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Second Supplement 
to Respondent's Opposition to Petition for a 
Writ of Mandamus 

03/07/12 I, II SA0208-0367

Counterclaim and Answer of Aruze USA, Inc. 
and Universal Entertainment Corporation

03/12/12 II SA0368-0482

Aruze USA, Inc. and Universal Entertainment 
Corporation's Notice of Removal

03/12/12 III SA0483-0489

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Motion to Remand 03/29/12 III SA0490-0540
Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Kazuo 
Okada's Motion on Order Shortening Time to 
Amend Petition for Writ of Mandamus

05/16/12 III SA0541-0628

Kazuo Okada's First Amended Petition for 
Writ of Mandamus 

05/25/12 III SA0629-0655

First Amended Counterclaim of Aruze 
USA, Inc. and Universal Entertainment Corp.

06/14/12 III, IV SA0656-0761

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Expedited Motion for 
Leave to Depose Kazuo Okada; Order 
Shortening Time 

06/18/12 IV SA0762-0804

Minute Order of Proceedings Granting Wynn 
Resorts, Limited's Motion to Remand

06/21/12 IV SA0805-0806

Memorandum of Points and Authorities in 
Opposition to Wynn Resorts, Limited's 
Expedited Motion for Leave to Depose Kazuo 
Okada and Alternative Counter-Motion for 
Leave to Depose the Wynn Resorts Directors

06/27/12 IV SA0807-0823

Hearing Transcript re:  WRL's Motion for 
Leave to Depose Okada 

06/28/12 IV SA0824-0855

Order (granting Wynn Resorts' Limited 
attorneys' fees) 

08/21/12 IV SA0856-0859

Notice of Entry of Order Regarding Wynn 
Resorts, Limited's Motion for Leave to Depose 
Kazuo Okada 

08/23/12 IV SA0860-0865
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CHRONOLOGICAL INDEX 

  

DOCUMENT DATE VOL. PAGE 

Second Amended Counterclaim of Aruze 
USA, Inc. and Universal Entertainment Corp.

09/12/12 IV SA0866-0951

Deposition (transcript) of Kazuo Okada 
(FILED UNDER SEAL)

09/18/12 VI SA0952-1129

Video of Deposition of Kazuo Okada (FILED 
UNDER SEAL) 

09/18/12 VI SA1130

Order Denying Defendants' Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction 

10/12/12 IV SA1131-1133

Notice of Entry of Order on First Amended 
Petition for Writ of Mandamus

10/15/12 IV SA1134-1140

Wynn Resorts, Limited's Opposition to Kazuo 
Okada's Motion to Compel and Request to 
Depose Wynn Resorts' NRCP 30(b)(6) 
Representative on an Order Shortening Time

11/07/12 V SA1141-1186

Hearing Transcript on Motion to Compel 
30(b)(6) Deposition  

11/08/12 V SA1187-1206

Third Amended Counterclaim of Aruze 
USA, Inc. and Universal Entertainment Corp.

08/30/13 V SA1207-1289

Status Conference hearing transcript 12/15/14 V SA1290-1312
Status Conference hearing transcript 03/05/15 V SA1313-1340
Status Conference hearing transcript 04/16/15 V SA1341-1350
The Okada Parties' Motion to Compel 
Supplemental Responses to Their Second and 
Third Set of Request for Production of 
Documents to Wynn Resorts, Limited (FILED 
UNDER SEAL) 

04/28/15 VI SA1351-1377

Status Conference hearing transcript 06/18/15 V SA1378-1389
Hearing Transcript on Wynn Resorts, Limited's 
Motion to Stay 

07/08/15 V SA1390-1401

Odyssey Docket Report – Books and Records 
Proceeding, No. A-12-654522-B 

07/21/15 V SA1402-1410
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC, and 

that on this 21st day of July, 2015, I electronically filed and served a true and 

correct copy of the above and foregoing SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX IN 

SUPPORT OF REAL PARTY IN INTEREST WYNN RESORTS, 

LIMITED'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF PROHIBITION OR 

MANDAMUS to the following: 
J. Stephen Peek, Esq. 
Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq. 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
Brian G. Anderson, Esq. 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89134 
Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest 
Kazuo Okada, Universal Entertainment 
Corp. and Aruze USA, Inc. 
 

David S. Krakoff, Esq. 
Benjamin B. Klubes, Esq. 
Joseph J. Reilly, Esq. 
BUCKLEY SANDLER LLP 
1250 – 24th Street NW, Suite 700 
Washington, DC  20037 
Attorneys for Real Parties in Interest 
Kazuo Okada, Universal Entertainment 
Corp. and Aruze USA, Inc 

Donald J. Campbell, Esq.
J. Colby Williams, Esq. 
CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
700 South 7th Street 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
Attorneys for Stephen A. Wynn 

William R. Urga, Esq. 
Martin A. Little, Esq. 
JOLLEY URGA WOODBURY & 
LITTLE 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway 
16th Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
Attorneys for Elaine P. Wynn 

Ronald L. Olson, Esq. 
Mark B. Helm, Esq. 
Jeffrey Y. Wu, Esq. 
MUNGER TOLLES & OLSON LLP 
355 South Grand Avenue, 35th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA  90071-1560 
Attorneys for Elaine P. Wynn 

 

 
VIA HAND-DELIVERY 
The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez 
Eighth Judicial District court, Dept. XI 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 
 
 
       /s/  Kimberly Peets    
      An employee of PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

ACTCM 
SAMUEL S. LIONEL (SBN 1766) 
CHARLES H. McCREA, JR. (SBN 104) 
STEVEN C. ANDERSON (SBN 11901) 
LIONEL SAWYER & COLLINS 
1700 Bank of America Plaza 
300 South Fourth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 891 0 I 
Telephone: (702) 383.8888 
Facsimile: (702) 383.8845 

'"~ ! MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP 
1 • MARC J. SONNENFELD (oro hac vice) 

9 

10 

1 1 

] 2 . 

1701 Ivfarket Street 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 191 03 
Telephone: (215) 9635000 
Facsimile: (215) 963.5001 

ROLLIN B. CHIPPEY, II (pro hac vice) 
JOSEPH E. FLOREN (pro hac vic~) 
BENJAMIN P. SMITH (pro hac vice) 
CHRISTOPHER J. BANKS (pro haL· vice) 
One Market, Spear Street Tower 
San Francis. co, CA 941 05-1 1 26 

13 . Telephone: ( 415) 44 2.1 000 
· Facsimile; (415) 44 2.1 001 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Attorntlys for Def1mdant, Counterclaimant and 
Counterdefendant 
i\RUZE USA. INC. and UNIVERSAL 

' 
ENTERTAfNMENT CORPORATION 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Electronically Filed 
08/30/2013 11:18:19 AM 

' 

~j.~AtF 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

19 

20 
\VYNN RESORTS, L.JIVHTED; a Nevada Case No. A-12-656710-B 
corporation. 

Dept. No: XI 
21 Plaintiff 

22 VS. 

23 KAZUO OKADA, an individqal, et al.,. 

24 Defendants. 

25 
AND ALL. RELATED CLAiMS. I 

------------------------- --------------~.1 
27 

28 

THUU> AIVIKNOEO COUNTERC:LAJM OF ARlJZE liSA, li'\JC. AND UNIVERSAL 
ENTERTAINMENT CORP. 

l'vtOi~CAN,. LEW!><.& 
BeCKIUS LU' 
t\TTGft\";f.(b~'\:i i....-\·!·'1' 

s:.,~.: ~~,A~'\.·~~.:r > 

-------- -------------------------------------------------
DEFENDANTS' TH1RD AMENDED COUNTERCLAfM 

-- -------------------------------------
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1 

.HHUSDICTlON AND VENUE 
~~ . 

3 1. Counterdefendants Wynn Resotts, Lirnited ("Wynn Resorts'~ or the ''Cornpany''), 

4 Stephen A Wynn ("Mr. \Vynn" or"Steve Wynn"), KimmarieSinatra, Linda Chen, Ray R Irani, 

5 Russell Goldsmith~ Robert l Miller, Jolm A. Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemuker, D. 

6 . Boone Wayson, Elaine P. Wynn, and Allan Zernan (collectively, ''Wy1m Partief/') have each 

7 individually and in concert \Vith one another, caused the acts and events alleged herein within the 

State ofNevada and aH are subject to the jurisdiction of this Court. Venue is also proper in this 

9 CourL 

10 2. This matter is properly designated as a business court matter and assigned to the 

11 Business Docket under EDCR 1 ,6l(a) as the claims alleged herein arise fiom business torts. 

13 3. Plaintiff and Counterdcfendant \Vynn Resorts initiated this litigation on the same 

14 night it claims to have fim:ihly purchased {L e., ''redeemed'') nearly 20% of its own common stock 

15 hvid hy its largest sha.reholder, Counterclaimant Aruze USA, Inc. ("Aruze USN'), Wynn Resorts 

16 understood that, as soon as it became known that it was doing this, Aruze USA \Yv'ould sue Wynn 

17 Resorts and the \Vynn Din~etors. 1 Wynn Resorts had undertaken the redemption in the dead of 

I 8 night through a rushed and seeretive process. 

19 4. Arnong other things~ \Vynn Resorts purpOtted to redeem the shares at a flat 30% 

20 discount to the most recent rmtrket price. Aruze USA's interests, valued by the matket at more 

21 than $2.7 billion and by vVynn Rf..lsorts at $2.9 billion tlu·ee \Veeks prior to the redemption, would 

22 be Kwc1bly purehased ir1 (')Xehanw.~ for a non .. tnmsferahle promissory note to pay approximately 

23 $1.9 billion in a single "balloon payment" 10 years from now. So Wynn Re~orts raced to couii, 

24 electronically tHing a complaint at 2:14a.m. on a Sunday morning--- even betbre giving notice to 

25 

'">6-
~· 

t The \Vynn Resorts' Board of Directors (the "Board"), other than Kazuo Okada ("Kazuo Okada" 
! and ''Mr. Okada"),. were Steve \~lynn, Unda Chen, Russell Goldsmith,. Ray R lnmi, Robe1t l 

')7 '~ · Miller, John A Moran, Marc D. Schorr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, Boone Wayson, Elaine P. Wynn, 

28 
Nl,.)Rf'.:;A N~ L!::WiS.~,Y.._ 

Hoc:K~US T ~LP 

and Allan Zeman (collectively, the "Wynn Directors") during the events underlying the claims 
raised in th1s Counterclaim. 
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1 Aruzc USA ofthe purported redemption. Wy.1.m Re,<;orts apparently thought. that its position as 

2 the named ''plaintiff' would help obfuscate the issues and distract the court fr·om the claims of 

3 wrongdoing sure to bt~ tHed against it by Aruze USA and Counterclaimant Universal 

4 Entertainment Corporation (''Universar~ and collectively with Aruze USA, "Counterclaimants"). 

5 Wynn Resorts' cynical tactics are unava.iling. Based on the facts and the law, it is clear that it is 

6 Counterdaimants who Imve been grievously damaged in this case, and any suggestion to the 

7 contrary is entirely without credibility. 

8 

9 

10 

1 1 

·,t ') 
~ _;::.,_. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

23 

24 

25 

26 

'}'7 . .,.. 

28 

5, This Counterclaim arises because this purpo1ted redemption would: (a) violate the 

express terms of agreements between Mr. \Vynn, Elaine Wynn and Aruze USA; (b) allow 

Jvlr, \~Tynn and others to profit unJustly "fi·om their illegal acts and a pmcess that was corrupt and 

unff.lir; and (c) subjed Aruze USi\ to an unconscionably punitive remedy based on an unproven 

pretext 

6, To be clear at the outset, Atuze USA disputes that any redemption has occurred. 

Among other things~ even ifthe- redemption provision in the Company's Second Amended 

Atiicles of Incorporation ("Articles of Incoq:.loration") was legally enforceable (which it is not), 

Aruze IJSA's stock has never been subjeet to the redemption provision in the Cornpany's Articles 

ofincorpotation, because Aruze US.A entered into a Stockholders Agreement hetbre the Artides 

oflncorporation -..vere amended and t1led, which predude any redemption of Aruze USA's stoek. 

Specifically, Mr. Wynn covenanted that Aruze USA shall he the "record and Beneficial owner'' 

ofits com1110n shares i.n Wynn Resorts and "shall have the ,.,olepowe1·' ofdisposition [and] sole 

power ofcom•ersion ... ;, of the shares ~\vHh no tnatGr1al limitations, qualification or restrictions 

on such rights, .. ," (Emphasis added.) Aruze USA and l\tlr, Wynn entered into the Stockholders 

.Agteetnent before Mr. Wynn unilaterally amended the Articles of incorporation of Wynn Resorts 

to provide a discretionary tight to redeem shareholders' stock. Elaine Wynn later became a party 

to theStockllolders Agreement and likewise eovenanted that Arnze USA shall have the "sole 

power of disposition [and] sole power of conversion" of its shares in Wynn Resorts. Aruze US.A 

never agreed in writing to the redernption dghts in the A1ticles ofTncorporation, as would be 

MC!KCt'.N, LEWi~',\1: 
fJC<:!(!US LU' 3 
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l required to amend the "sole po\JV'ers of disposition" set Knth in the Stockholders Agreernent. The 

2 right of redemption thus does not apply to An1Ze USA's shates. 

3 

4 

5 

~~ ,._) 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

7. Moreover~ even if the Articles oflncorporation allo\.ved the redemption of A.ruze 

USA's interests in Wynn Resorts (which they do not), Steve Wynn and Blaine Wynn are U(}t 

excused H·om breaching the express terms of the Stockholders Agreernent by voting tiw the 

redernption in violation of Aruze USA's "sole right of disposition and sole right of conversion'' 

and are liable n.H' all damages caused by their l:meach. Likewise, by voting in favor ofand giving 

etTect to the redemption of Aruze USA;s shares, Wynn Resorts and the other individual directors 

of Wynn Resorts tortiously interfered with the Stockholders Agreement and are thereby liable for 

all damages proximately caused by their interference, including f()r any losses inc:urred by Aruze 

USA as a restdt ofthe unprect~dented $1 billion discount Wynn Resorts purported to apply to 

Aruze USA's shares. 

8. Tht~ r<.:-'f1cmption ofAruze USA's shares is also invalid and unlawfhl because there 

14 was no kgitimate fadual ot legal basis to invoke the redemption provision in this case. Wynn 

15 Resorts. unde1iook a secret investigation, hiding the subjects of the investigation from Aruze USA 

16 by erroneously invoking attorney-client privilege and confidentiality, even ailer Wynn Resorts 

17 had leaked a "repoli" of the investigation to the Wall Street JournaL Wynn Resorts refused 

18 Aruze USA any reasonahk5 opportunity to respond prior to redeeming A.ruze USA's interests, 

19 despite prior written promises to do so. If Wynn Resorts had provided the opportunity, it would 

20 he c.lear why redemption is unwarranted. 

21 () 
.> • The Wvnn Diredors hreac.hcd their flduciarv duties to Wvnn Resorts and to Aruze J ' - ' - - ,.. - ' .... 

22 USA in not undertaking a thorough, independent, and objective examination of the law, fi.lcts, and 

23 evidence befbre purporting to ustlrp the role ofthe gaming authorities in flnding Aruze USA 

24 "unsuitable." Similarly, they hreadwd their duties by then voting for a \Vholly unnecessary and 

25 improper "redernption" on unconscionable k~nns, As a result, the \Vynn Directors cannot rely ()U 

26 the ''business judg1nt:mt rule,'' as they did not act in a fuUy infbrmed, good faith, and independent 

27 manner, and their actions are both contrary to tht~ taw and hot objectively reasonable. 

28 
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1 10. Mr. Wynn, Kh1m1arie Sinatra and Wynn Resol'ts later used the secret and one .. 

'J sided investigative report to try a11d extmt Anne USA into selling its approximately $3 billion 

3 stake in Wynn Resents to Mr. Wym1 at a significant discount 

4 11. In addition to the lack of any legal basis for Wy1m Resolis' actions, Aruze USA 

5 sues because Wynn Resorts, fbr all its accomplishments, is not a corporation in any ordinary 

6 sense. Rather, W.ynn Resorts' flarnboyant Chainnan, Mr. Wynn, has run Wym1 Resorts as a 

7 personal busine..ss, packing the Board \Nit:h friends who do his personal bidding, and paying key 

8 (IXecutives exorbitant ammmts for their loyalty. 

9 12. The \vrongful acts complained ofhere cannot he (Xmnten<mced, and the purported 

10 taking of Aruze USA's property cannot stand. 

11 EARTIES 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

18 

19 

20 

21 

')2 4 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

13. Counterclaimant Aruze USA is a company organized and existing under the Jaws 

ofthe State of Nevada and is a wholly-owned subsidiary ofU11iversal Aruze USA has its 

principal place ofbusiness in Las Vegas~ Nevada. Aruze USA has been found suitable by the 

Nevada Gaming Commission ~ls a stockholder of Wynn Ih~sorts. Aruze USA o\vns 24,549,222 

shares or 19.66% of the total outstanding stock of vVynn Resorts, making it the largest single 

owner ofvVynn Resorts' stock. 

14. Counterclaimant Universal (f/"kla A1·uz(.:~ Corp,) is a corporation organized and 

existing under the lavvs of Japan. Universal m.anufactures and sells pachislot and pachinko 

machines. Universal is registered \V.ith the Nevada Gaming Commission, and has been deerned 

suitable by the Nevada Garning Cormnission as a 1 00%) shareholder of Aruze USA. Mr. Okada is 

the Chairman ofthe Board of UniversaL 

15. Counterdefemlant Wynn Resmts is a corporation organized and existing under the 

laws ofthe State ofNevada with its principal place ofbusiness in Las Vegas, Nevada. Wynn 

Resorts' stock is publicly traded on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol ''WYNN." 

~'·'lOW::;.i\:N, :LtWIS. & 
llC>C!;lliS LLP 5 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

16, Counterdefendant Steve Wynn is the Chairman ofthe Board and ChiefExecutive 

Otlicer of Wynn Rt~sorts and is a resident ofNevada. Mr. 'VVyl1n owns 10,026,708 shares of the 

-~ 

common sH1ck ofWym1 Resolts.-

17, Counterdefendant Ki1mnarie Sinatra is the General Counsel, Secretary, and a 

5 Senior Vice President of Wynn Resorts and, on information and belief, is a resident ofNevada. 

6 Ms. Sinatra owns 40,887 shares of tht.~ common stock of\Vvnn Resorts. 
·'. ' .. 

7 18. Counterdefendant Elaine P. Wynn is a director ofWynn Resoti.s and, on 

8 information and belief) is a resident ofNevada, Elaine Wynn is Mr. Wynn's cx-"spouse. Elaine 

9 \Vynn owns 9,742,150 shares ofthe common stt>C!kof\'Vynn Resorts. 

10 19. O:runterdetlmdant Linda Chen was a dire~;.:tor ofWynn Resorts and, on infOrmation 

11 and belief; is a resident of Macau. Ms. Chen owns 265,000 shares ofthe common stock of Wynn 

12 Resorts. Ms. Ch1311 stepped down as a director of Wynn Resorts on December 13, 2012. 

13 ')0 
~ ' Counterdefendant Ray R. Irani 1s a d1redor of Wynn Resorts and, on h&wrnation 

14 and heliei~ is a resident ofCalifrmria. Mr. Irani 0\'V'Us 18,000 shares ofthe common stockof 

15 Wynn Resorts. 

16 21. Counterdefendant Russell Goldsmith was a director of Wynn Resorts !md~ on 

I 7 information and beliet: is a resident ofCalif(n'l1ia. Mr. Goldsmith owns 40,000 shares ofthc 

18 common stock of\Vynn Resorts. Mr. Goldsmith stepped down as a director of\Vynn Resorts on 

19 December 13, 2012. 

20 ''YJ "'-"'-.:::.._.·. Counterdefendant Robert J. Miller is a director and Chair of the Gaming 

21 Compliance Committee of\Vynn Resorts and, on infbnnat.ion and beliet: is a resident ofNevada. 

22 
1 

Mr. MHler owns 20,500 shares ofthe cmmnon stock of¥/ynn Resolis. 

23. Counterdefendant John A, Moran is a dire<,-:tot ofW:ynn Resorts and, on 

24 information and belief, is a resident ofFlorida. Mr. Moran ow:ns 190,500 shares ofthe common 

25 stock ofWytm Resorts. 

')t; 
..:...-V 

28 

2 AU references to the number of shares owned hv Counterdefendants m\.~ as ofivlarc.h 1, 2012, as 
~ - . . - . ~ 

tvlOHCAN, iJ-:~V.t~)· & 
HlJCKHJS IJJ~ 

disclosed in \Vynn Resorts' Schedule 14A Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on Match 7, 
2012. 
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1 24. Countenietendant Marc D. S<.1horrvvas a director and Chief Operating Officer of 

2 Wyn11 Resorts and, on information Jifld helid:: is a resident <.)fNevada. Mr. Schorr owns 250,000 

3 shart~s offhc common stock of\Vynn Resorts. Mr. Schorr stepped down as a director of Wynn 

4 Resorts on Decemhet 13, 2012. 

5 2:::,. Counterdefimdant AJvin V. Shoemaker is a director ofWynn Resmts and, on 

6 information and belie~ is a resident ofNew Jersey. !Vir. Shoemaker mvns 40,500 shares of the 

7 common stock of Wynn Resorts. 

8 26, Counterdefendant D. Boone \'Vayson is a directol' ofWyr111 Resorts and, on 

9 information and beliet~ is a resident ofMaryland. Mr. Wayson owns 90,500 shares ofthe 

10 eomrnon stock ofWynn Resorts. 

11 Counterdefendant Allan Zeman was a director of\Vynn Resorts and, on 

12 infor.mation and belief: is a resident of Macau. Mr. Zeman ovvns 30,500 shares of the common 

stock of Wynn Resolis. ML Zeman stepped down as a director of Wynn Resorts on Dt~cember 

14 13,2012. 

15 

16 II. KAZUO OKAOA AND STEVE \\''YNN LAUNCH WYNN RESORTS 

17 

18 

19 

22 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

A. Turned Out By Mirage Resorts, Steve Wynn Turns to Kazuo OI\.ad~l to 

Mr. Wynn has a long history of involvement in Las Vegas as a casino operator. 

As Las Vegas chang~~d, Mr. Wynn sought to present himself as a representative of the new 

''corporate'' Las Vegas. Mr. Wynn developed Mirage Resorts, Inc., a casino conglornerate that 

owned and operated the Miragt\ Treasun:: Island, and Bellagio. On May 31, 2000~ lVIGM Grand 

Inc. completed a merger with Mirage Resorts, Inc. ln June 2000, atler H bruising boardroom 

battle, which centered on allegations that l'vk Wynntnisappropriated company fi.mds, MGM 

Grand, Inc, ousted Mr. Wynn as Chief Executive Officer of Mirage Resorts, Inc. 

29. I-h.lmiliated by his public ouster, l'vlr. Wynn w•as anxious to re--mter the casino 

business and rebuild his teputation and standing in Las Vegas. He purchased the old Desert Inn 

-~·10HGAN~ Lm·V ':S & 
liGCKiliS LLP 

casino and had plans to build a new casino on the site --· it was tq be u monument to himself, 
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1 called ~'Wynn." But Mr. V>/ynn la(~k,~d the capital to fimd the development ofthe casino, so be 

2 undertook an extensive search thr investors, Having recently been forced out of:Mirage Resorts, 

3 Inc., however, he was shunned by other soun .. :es of c,.:apital; Ivlr. Wynn eventually called on 

4 Ur1iversai, Aruze USA, and Mr. Okada to become the means for Mr. Wynn to get hack on h1s 

5 feeL 

6 . 30. Mr. Okada \vas and is a highly succt~ss1hl Japanese entrepreneur and himselfa 

7 pioneer in the gaming industry. Atler leaving high school, Mr. Okada attended an electronics 

8 trade sc.hool. ln 1969, Mr.. Okada f(mnded Universal Lease Co. Ltd., which is now Universal. 

9 Mr. Okada became a leader in the businesses ofpaehinko. In addition, Mr, Okada founded a 

10 compm1y that created one of the t1rst video poker nwchines. In fact, Kk Wynn originally met 

11 Mr. Okada when one of Mr. Okada's affiliated cornpanit~s, Aruze Gmning America, was selling 

12 electronic gaming machines in Nevada. 

13 31. Beginning in October 2000, Mr. Wynn used a Nevada limited liability company 

14 called Valvino Lamore, LLC (''Va1vitw'') as the holding entity for his new Desert Inn casino 

15 pro jed. AJh~r in--person discussions between Mr. Wynn and Mr. Okada, Aruze USA made a 

16 contribution of $260 million in cash to Valvino in exchange flw 50% of the menibership interests 

17 in Valvino efTective October 3, 2000. This t:ontribution was the seed capital that allowed for the 

18 development of'Yvhat is now Wynn Resorts. Valvino is referred to by Wynn Resorts as Wynn 

19 Resorts' "predecessor," 

20 32. In April2002, AruzeUSA made two additional contributions totaling $120 million 

21 1 to Valvino. l\.1r. Wvnn told Mr. Okada that $30 rninion was relate{l to Maeau .. but Mr. Wvnn did •. ' ·' -·· 

22 not explain t(J Mr. Okada how Mr, Wynn actually spent the money. Serious questions now exist 

23 about how Mr. Wynn used the money and \Vhether Mr. Wynn used the fimds for his personal 

24 benefit and/ot tbr other inappropriate purposes, There are also serious questions about the use of 

25 the other $90 tnillion Aruze USA contributed. 

2.6 
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1 B. The Stockholders Agreement 

2 33. In 2002, all three owners ofLLC intt1rcsts in Valvino ~·Mr. Wynn, Aruze IJSA, 

3 and Baron Asset Fund3 
" understood tl:w.t the Wynn organizlltion was planning to go public as 

4 Wy1m Resorts. This reqttit~;,'tl a series of legal steps by which th{,~ ovmers' interests in Valvino 

5 were converted into shares of a newly fbrmed corporation, "Wynn Resotts, Limited," that could 

6 then sen additional shares to the public. 

7 34. On April11, 2002, prior to the Hling of the Articles of Incorporation tbr Wynn 

8 Resorts, Mr. Wynn, Aruze USA, and Baron Asset Fund entered into the Stockholders Agreermmt, 

9 which ih1posed ~:~ertain restrictions on the sale ofthe stock they were to receive in "New Co,'' the 

10 t;ntity that would become Wynn Resorts. As described in Wynn Resorts' prospectus, dated 

11 October 29) 2002, ''the stockholders agreement establishes various rights among Mr. Wynn~ 

12 Aruze USA and Baron Asset Fund with respect to the ownership and management ofWynn 

13 Resorts .. " 

14 

15 

16 

.l '7 
I 

18 

19 

20 

22 

·')3. 
L.-

24 

26 

27 

28 

'"5 ) . Notably, the parties to the Stockholders Agreen:1ent stated that the terms of that 

agreem.ent were a condition of transferring their LLC interests in Va1vino to Wynn Reso1i.s, The 

Stockholders Agreement stated "as a condition to their willingneR"! to fbrm [\Vyrm Resorts]. either 

through the contribution oftheir interests in the LLCor through a different technique, the 

Stockholders are 'vYilling to agree to the matters set forth" in the Stockholders Agn~ement. 

Underthe Stockholders Agreement, Steve Wym1l Bamn Asset Fund, and A.ruze 

USA each warranted and (ovenanted that "[t]he Stockholder shall be the rec:.md and Hene.fici~d 

Owner of all of the Shares" of Wynn Resorts' common stock, and "shall have the .~·ole pmver of 

disposltiou [and] :•mle power (.!f couvershm ... '' of the shares '\v ith no material limitations, 

qualificatkm or restrictions on such rights., .. " except as provided fbr under applicable securities 

laws and tlw agreement. (Ernphasis added.) The Stockholders Agreement ''may not be amended, 

changed, supplemented, waivt~d or otherwise modified or tenninated~ ex~~ept upon. the ext~cution 

~\·loRC,\~:, uw~,=~s· &; 
ficX::KiUS l . .l.P 

l Baron Asset Fund is a Massachusetts business trust cornprised of a series offi.mds. It became a 
member ofValvino pursuant to the First Amendment to Amended and Restated Operatlng 
Agreement ofValvino Lamon.\ LLC, dated April 16, 2001. 
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1 and delivery of a written agreement executed by the parties .... " As described in further detail 

2 below, Blaim~ Wynn made this same covenant to Aruze USA when she became a party to the 

3 Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement in 201 0. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 
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! 

23 

24 

25 

26 

37. \Vynn Resorts publicly acknowledged the impact ofthe Stockholders Agteernent 

o.n the Company and the shareholders. The Wynn Resorts share certificates -issued to A.ruze USA 

on September 24, 2002, bear tht~ following express, written lege.nd, in bold and an caps: "'I'HE 

SHARES REPRESENTRO HY l'HIS C~~RTHHCATE ARE SUBJECT TO THE TEUMS 

AND CONDrnONS OF A STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT DATEn AS OF AJ>JUL 11, 

2002 .... '' Additionally, in a Form S-1/A fHed \Vith the SEC 011 October 7, 2002, Wynn Resorts 

disclosed that the Stockholders Agreeme:mt established '"restrictions on the transfer of the shares 

ofWynn Resorts' con1rm,m stQck owned by the p<uties to tht~ stockholders agreement.'' In this 

way, \Vynn Resorts --- and all other stodchokkrs - were aware that there were lhuitations written 

in the Stockholders Agreement on the transferability ofthe Wynn Reso1ts' stock held by Aruze 

USA. 

38. The Stockholders Agreement n;~moved Aruze USA from the purview of later~ 

adopted redemption provisions in Wynn Resorts' /\Tticles oflncorporation, as confm11ed by, on 

information and he1iet: Wynn Resmts' Qwn attorneys bl~f'ore the redemption provisions were 

added to the Artkles oflncorporation. 

39. In addition to restricting the power of disposition and conversion ofall stock 

distributed pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, the Stockholders Agreement also contained a 

voting agreement, granting Mr. Wynn th~~ right to wnnirtate a bare majority of directors~ and 

ArLJze USA the right to nominate all rernaining directors. Each Stockhokkr covenanted to vote 

all of their shares in favor of the directors nou1inated by Mr. Wynn and Aruze USA Pursuant to 

this voting .agreement, Aruze USA repeatedly tried over the years to nominate directors to the 

Board of Directors of\Vynn Resorts. Each time, Mr. Wynn refused to endorse and vote his 

shares in ·favor ofAruze USA's proposed ditectors, instead nQminating all of the directors himself 

27 to ensure and perpetuate h1s complete control of the Board. 

28 
lvtOJ.It"::AN~ Lt:.WiS & 

ll(JCI(H.:s LLl' 10 
A-n:.:J'RNf:'t~-:-V' t .. \W 

5c\~1 F:-:.'!t.:u~:x.o 
~~~-----------------------------·----········------------------------------------------------------------------------------···---~---

DEFENDANTS' THJRD AMENDED COUNTERCLAiM 

SA1216



1 c. FhtaHy, tbe Stockholden; Agreement gave Mr. \Vyrm the power of attorney to 

2 sign all documentation necessary to tnmsfcr An1ze USA's LLC inten~sts in 

Valviuo to 'Vynn Resods in exchange for Wynn Resorts' stock, and tbe~·eby 

4 created a fiduciary duty as between Mr. \-Vynn and Aruzt~ USA.\Vyrm 

5 Resorts' Original A.rtides of Incorporation 

6 39. 011 June 3~ 2002, I:vlr. Wynn, on behalf of Wynn Resorts, cat1sed the filing of the 

7 Company's initial Articles ofil1C\'1rpomtion. Those Articles ofincorporat.ion did not include any 

8 prov!skm t~stahlishing Wynn Resorts' purported right to redeern shares held by "Unsuitable 

9 Person[s].'' 

10 40. Echoing a false statement tnade in a February 19, 2012 Wynn Resorts press 

1 I release, Matt Maddox, Wynn Resorts' Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, erroneously stated 

12 in a corrferem.x~ call with investors on February 21, 2012, that the tedelnpt.ion provision in the 

13 1 Articles oflneotporatkm had '"been there since the Cornpany's inception." 

14 D. The Contribution Agrcemetlt 

15 4L Betote Wynn Resorts could go public, the LLC interests in Valvino held by 

16 Mr. Wynn, Aruze USA and Baron Asset Fund had to he transferred to the new \.Vynn Resorts 

l7 entity. This was no small matter. By this point, Aruze USA had contributed some $380 million 

18 in exchange fiJr its LLC intetests in Valvino. 

19 On June 10, 2002, Mr. Wynn, Aruze USA, Baron Asset Fund, Wynn Resorts and 

20 the Kenneth R. Wynn Family Trust entered into the Contribution Agreement (the "Contribution 

21 Agreement''), by \:vhich they agreed to contribute all ofthe Valvino rnembership intere..'its to 

22 Wynn Resorts in exchange ihrthe capital stock of Wynn Resorts. The \Vynn Resorts' stock 

23 acquired by Aruze USA vvas subject to the provisions of the Stockholders Agreement. 

24 43. Wynn Resorts further agreed that the existing restrictions could he aitered only 

25 with Aruze USA's express written consent. The Contribution Agreement stated: ''This 

26 Agreement may not be lnodi/ledor amended except by an instnunent in lVriting signed by the 

27 cofporationand allofthe Holders." (Emphasis added). 

28 
tJOHCAI·~, LEW\;; & 

BrX¥1U5 LLJ' 11 
1\rtl:)l'NI::Y' A.l -t;Al\' 

$,·\:-.: :h~.\N.>"l·i~b DEFENDANTS' THIRD AMENDED COUNTERCLAIM. 

SA1217



1 

2 

3 

If~ 
~. 

44. 

After Securing A.ruze USA's Contribution, Steve "\Vynn. Unilaterally Amends 

the Articles of hacorpor~tion 

After entering into the Contribution Agref.mlent, buthethre trans felTing the LLC 

4 interests in Valvino, Mr. Wynn unilaterally changed Wynn Resorts' Articles of Incorporation to 

5 include a re.o;;triction that purportedly allm.vs Wynn Resorts to "redeem'' stock held by Wynn 

6 Resorts' stockholders. At this time} Mr. \Vynnwas the sole stockholder and director of Wynn 

7 Resorts. H was not until2012, however, that Mr. \.Vynn and Wynn Resorts attempted to apply 

8 this redemption restriction to Aruze USA;s shares, even though the Stockholders Agreement 

9 precluded Wym1 Resorts from unilaterally adding restrictions to the shares. 

10 45. Under the Stockholders Agreernent, Mr. \1!/ynn had power of attorney to transfer 

11 the LLC inten:~sts in Valvino to Wynn Resorts. Although the Contribution Agteement obligated 

12 Mr. Wynn to "as soon as practicable ... deliver or cause to be delivered to Holders certitlcates 

13 representing the Commm1 Stoc~k[,J" Mr. Wynn delayed the contribution of the LLC interests in 

14 Valvino to Wynn Resorts, On information and belief, the final closing condition under the 

15 · Contribution Agreement was met by July 9, 2002 .. Nevertheless, Mr. \Vynn's delay meant that, 

16 although he had already receivfx1 Anne USA's commitm~.mt via the Contribution Agreement and 

17 the Stockholders Agreement, Mr. Wynn w'ould continue to maintain unilateral control over Wynn 

18 Resorts for the peri()d ofthe dt~l.uy. This enabled Mr. Wynn to improperly change the Company's 

19 A:tticles oflncorporation in an apparent attempt to achieve Mr. Wynn's own long·lerm interests at 

20 Aruze USA's expense. Through this deliberate delay, and the intervening acts taken by 

2.1 l'vlr. Wynn beKwe he fulfilled the tenns ofthe Contribution Agreement~ Mr. \~lynn breached his 

22 fiduciary duties to Aruze USA as the attc>m~w,in~fad ofAruze USA under the Stockholders 

23 Agreement and Contribution Agreement, as Vv'dl as a director and officer of Wynn Resorts. 

24 46. On September I 0, 2002~ Mr. Wynn amended Wynn Resorts' Articles .of 

25 Incorporation. A.!though this change would purport to alter the securities received by Aruze 

26 USA, Mr. Wynn rnade the change unilaJt:)rally, without affording Aruze USA the opportunity to 

27 1 vote on the changes, let alone expressly (~onsent in \Vriting to the added restrictions as reqvired in 

•")8 ,L.( the Stockholders Agreement and Contribution Agreement; in order to make the provision 
t\.10r.S::.:.AN .. L~.l\!l~ & 
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enforceable. The language Mr. Wynn unilaterally added to the Articles oflncorporation provided 

a tliscretiomu:v right ofredemptionj which the Board ofDirectors had the right to waive 

whenever a waiver "v;ould be in the best interests ofthe Corporation." That provision _provided, 

in pertimmt part: 

The Securities Owned or Controlled by an Unsuitable Petson or an 
Affiliate of an Unsuitable Person sh<lli be subject to redemption by 
the Corporation, out of funds legally available therefor, by action of 
the board of directors, to the extent requinx1 by the Gaming 
Authority making the determiriatlon of unsuitability or to the extent 
deemed necessary or advisable by the hoard of directors .... 

47. f:fi'vk \Vynn had done what he was bound to do pursuant t\) the trust and dttties 

placed in him under the Stockholders Agreetn.ent and Contribution Agreement, and transferred 

the LLC interests in Valvino to Wynn Resorts before adding the redemption restriction, Aruze 

lJSA would have had the tight under Nevada law to vote on the changes to Wynn Resorts' 

Articles of Incorporation. 

48. Years later, in February 2012, Mr. Wynn, Elaine Wynn, the individual directors, 

and Wynn Resorts improperly applied the nxknnptic.m provision to Aruze USA's stock and acted 

to redewn Aruze USA's shares, thereby breaching and tortiously interfering with the Stockholders 

Agreen1ent. Prior to Wynn Resorts' improper attempt to apply the redemption restdction to 

Aruze USA's stock, Aruze USA \'-'as not and could not have been aware that Wy1n1 Resorts 

would ever attempt to apply the discretionary redemption provision against Aruze USA because 

the Stockholders Agreement, which predated the amended ,Artick~s ofincorporation, gave the sole 

pmver of disposition and conversion<}fi\ruze lJSA's skKk to ArnzeUSA, prec1uding any right 

of redernption by the Wynn Resorts. Indeed, on inthrmation and belief, >.~ouns.ei for rvrr. Wynn 

informed Anlze USA's counsel in or around June 2002,. that any redemption restriction, iflater 

added to the ,Articles oflncorporation through an amendment, would not to apply to Aruze 

USA's shares. 

49. Thus, although the t1rst acts perpetrated 1n furtherance ofthis fhmd occmTed in 

2002, the misconduct did not cause harm until recently, when Wynn Resorts purported tn use the 

redemption provision to redeem Aruze USA's shares in 2012 for a fi·action oftheir true value. 

I''> 
J 
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1 F. \Vynn Resods Goes l)nblic 

2 50. On St~ptember 28, 2002, Mr. Wyun eventually contributed the LLC interests in 

3 Valvino to Wynn Resmts. Thereafter, on October 21, 2002, ML Okada became a member of 

4 Wynn Resorts' Board. 

5 51. On Octohm- 25, 2002, Wynn Reso1ts conducted an initial public oftering (''IPO") 

6 on NASDAQ at $13 per share. At this time, Mr. Okada and Mr. ·wynn each owned about 30% of 

7 the outstanding stock. Aruze USA contributed an additional $72.5 m111ion to Wynn Resorts by 

8 purchasing stock through the IPO, and also invested $2.5 million in bonds issned by t\vo 

9 Company subsidiaries, .raising 1ts total investment to $455 million. Shortly thereafter; rvir. Okada 

10 became Vice Chairrnan of Wynn Resorts' Board. 

11 52. On April 28, 2005, Wynn Las Vegas opened. H was a.n instant success. On 

12 September l 0, 2006, Wynn Resorts opened in Macau. "Enc(we" hotels followed in both 

13 locations. Again, each property has been very suceessful. None oft.his success would have been 

14 possible \Vithout the capital i't.1nding, support, and expm-tise of Amze USA and Ivlr. Okada. 

15 53, As one f(31Tn of recognition fr}r Aruze lJSA's contributions, Vv'ynn Resorts 

16 included a high-end Japanese restaurant at both the Las Vegas and Macau resorts. These 

17 restaurants were narned "Okada, n 

18 

19 

G. 

54. 

The Close and Tfusting Relationship of Steve "\:Vymt ~md Kazuo Oh:;ld~t 

Although they have very dintwenthackgrormds and educational experiences, both 

2:0 J\1r. Wynn and Mr. Okada are of sinrilar ages, interests, and ambitions. Beyond their business 

21 dealings~ I'vk Wynn gave every indication that he con<>idered Mr. Okada to be fl close personal 

22 friend, and repeatedly called hirn his "partner." 

23 For example, at hearings before the Nevada State Gaming ControlBoard and 

24 Nevada Gaming Commission, on June 4 and 17, 2004, respectively~ Mr. Wynn affirmed that 

25 "Mr. Okada "vas not only suitable" to receive a gaming license "but he w;1s desixab1e." 

26 Repeatedly referring to Mr. Okada as his ''partt1eto," Mr. Wynn said :tv1r. Okada \Vas ••ctedicated to 

the pursuit ofexcellence.~' 

28 
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1 56, In this sworn testhnony, l\{r. vVynn also affirmed Mr. Okada's generosity and 

2 UI1Wavering trust in Mr. Wynn, Mr. Wynn said "1 have never dreamed that there "vould he a man 

3 as supportive, as long-term thinking, as seltless in his investment as Mr. Okada.'' Jvk Wynn 

4 recalled a conversation with Mr. Okada on a plane from rvtacau to Tokyo: Mr. Okada •~told me 

5 the most important thing, Steve .. , is the right thing. Take the high road, Do the right thing. 

6 Don't wony about me. I'll support any decision you may make." 

7 57. In recognition of this tmst and in "the spirit offl'iendship and cooperation that 

exists between [Steve] Wynn and :rvlr. Kazuo Okada .. ,''on Noven'lber 8, 2006, Mr. Wynn 

9 caused Aruze USA to enter into an Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, 'lvhich purpo1ts 

10 to contain a mutual restriction on the sale of stock without the other party's written consent, with 

11 aH other relevant tenus of the Stockholders Agreement remaining unchanged. 

12 I 58. And, indeed, Mr. Okada trusted Mr. Wynn. 1\k Wynn kn<.~\·V this, and callously 

13 and il1egaUy set out to exploit this trw~t for his advantage, 

14 Ul. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

UNIVERSAL DISCLOSES AND lJLTIM A TELY PURSUES FOREIGN 

n.EVEI,OPMENT PRO.H~CTS 

A. 

Casino Project in the Philippines 

l:Jniversal and Mr. Okada first began exploring the possibilityofacquiring and 

I 9 developing land in the PhiHppines in 2007, 'Vvith one possible optiol1 ior deyelopment being a 

20 casino and hotel resort. Although the initial discussions were preliminary~ Mt, Okada brought the 

21 opportunity immediately to JVk Wynn, hoping that \Vynn Resents mightb~~ interested in 

22 undertaking the project Mr. Wynn told 1v1r. Okad~~ that Wynn Resorts vvas not interested at that 

23 time in pursuing a project in the Philippines. Howevt.w, Mr. Wynn voiced no concerns at all with 

24 Universal's pursuit of the project.. Mr. Okad11 therea.tler kept J:Vk \\Tynn fully inJbnned ofthe 

25: project's progmss. 

26 60. On December 20, 2007, Universal pqblidy announced a planned casino project in 

27 the Asian markd. 

28 
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1 6L On April 25, 2008, Universal announced its planned casino proj<xlt. in the, 

2 Philippines. vVhile the plans were preliminary, they took shape in the months to come. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

'7 
' 

8 

9 

12 

13 

14 

15 

62. From that point on, Wynn Resorts and Universal had an agreement Universal 

could pursue a project in the Philippines, but at least for the time being, it would not fbrn1ally be a 

Wynn Resorts project. On a May 1, 2008 conference caU ;,.vith sto<.~k analysts, Mr. Wynn affirmed 

that \Vynn Resorts' Board a11d management team had longstanding kno~.tvledge (ff and tiJl.ly 

supported Universal's project in the Philippines: 

\VeU, first of all, I love Kazuo Okada w:; nmch as any tnan that I've 
ever met in my lite. He's mypartlwr and my friend. And there is 
hardly anything that 1 won't do tbr him. Now, we are not at the 
present time an investor, nor do wt~ contemplate, an investment in 
the Philippines, This is something that Kazuo Okada and his 
company, [Universal]. has done on its own initiative. He consults 
1ne and hfts discussed it }i'1:th me eJ;tensive.{y and1'vegiven him ;ny 
o ~vn personal thoughts on the subject and advice. And, io the extent 
thai he cornes to me for any nwre mivice or input, all q[ us here at 
the Compan)} >Fill be glad .to give him our opinions . . But that's shot't 
of saying this is a Wynn Resorts project. rt is a [Universal] project. 

(Emphasis added). 

61 L, Importantly~ Mr. Wynn voiced no concerns about the potential ofthe Philippine 

16 project competing with Wynn Macau, Ltd. ("Wynn Macau"). As ret1ected in his public statement 

17 to Wynn Resmts' shareholders and analysts, JVlr. Wynu's attitude reflected Wynn Resnrts' 

18 official position on the Philippine project until at least late 2011 or early 2012 \'li·hen M.r. \Vynn 

19 dedded to use it as a pretext to deprive Aruze USi\ of its stock in Wynn Resorts. 

20 64. As a fltrther example ofWynn Resorts' knowledge and approval ofLJnivers;1l and 

21 Aruze USA's activities in thf~ Philippines, on April 4, 2008, Kevin Tourek, a rnernber ofWynn 

22 Resorts' Compliance Committee, emailed Frank Schreck, the then-head ofUniversal's 

Compliance Committee. The email was regarding Universal's investment in the Philippines. 

24 Mr. Tcmrek confirmed that--- so long as Ut1iversal. was in compliance with the laws of the 

25 Philippines -~ the investrnent would not be something that would concern Nevada regulators or 

26 Wynn Resoli.s. 

27 

'> s· ~. 
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65. Once again, on September 24, 2009~ vVynn Resorts acknowledged Universal's 

project in fhe Philippines. \\lynn Macau's IPO prospectus (~xphcitly ackno'\.vledged Universal's 

plans to develop a casino in the Philippines: 

66. 

In addition to its investment in Wynn Resorts, Limited, [Universal] 
has invested in the construction of a hotel casino resort in the 
Philippines, which is anticipated to open to the public in 2010. 
Mr. Okada confirrns that, as at the Latest Practkable Date, except 
fnr his indirect shareholding interests in Wym1 Resorts, Liinitecf 
throughAmze USA~ Inc., neith(,'lr he nor his associates holds, owns 
or controls more than 5~·(, voting interests in an entity which, 
directly or indirectly, canit"Ao;; on, engages, invests, participates or 
otherwise is interested in any company, brtsiness or operation that 
competes, or is reasonably expected to cornpete, with the business 
carried on by us in Macau. 

In this way, Wynn Macau's pro.spectus acknowledged and ratified Universal's 

11 plans to open a casino in the Philippines and--- hy adopting UniversaFs statement- affirmed that 

12 a ~..~asi.no in the Philippines will not materially cornpete v•lith Wynn Iv1acau. 

13 VVlth the Blessing of \Vyn.u Resorts, Vnive.nml Commits Significant Funds 

14 

15 67. As was disclQsed fully to Wynn Resorts and the Nevada Gaming Commission, 

16 Universal went about the ditncult process of acquiring land and approvals to build a casino in the 

17 Phllippines. 

18 

19 

20 

·'lt .,(.. 

22 

23 

68. In 2008, aft:er negotiations with private landowners that spanned several months, 

Universal purchase~d contiguous land in and about a special economic zone in Manila Bay that 

was specifically zoned t()r casinos. It made this purchase with a Philippine--based partner, and at 

all tirnes (contrary to statements in the Complaint and by Mr, Frech) has complied with the laws 

of the Philippines requiring the citizenship thr landholding. 

69. The Philippine government approached Universal as early as 2006 and coutted 

24 Universal ten yeats. The Philippine government ultimately secured an agreen1ent that Universal 

25 would employ signincant numbers of locaLpeople to work in the casinos, Press reports estimah.!d 

26 that UniversaFs project and surrounding development could create as many as 250~000 jobs ft3r 

27 Filipinos, and generate billions of dollars in tax revenues fbr the Philippine govemment. When 

28 Universal delayed the project in the wake ofthe 2008 financial crisis, the Philippine government 
.h'loRGJ~N~ Lr.w~_~; &: 
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1 again stepped up its eff(nts to encourage Universal to advance the development of its project. 

2 While Universal certajnly expects the Manila Bay Project to be a "win-win'' tlw the Philippines 

3 and Universal, the idea that Universal needed to cuny spedal favor with Philippine government 

4 officials is profoundly ItlistaJren. 

5 c. Steve \Vynn and lnainc 'Wynn Divorce 

6 70. ln .rvrarch 2009~ Mr. Wynn divorced Elaine W'ynn. The divorce _provt..>:d to be 

7 damaging to Mr. \Vynn's financial position and standing within Wynn Resorts. By early 2010, 

8 Mr. Wynn had reached an agreement to split his ownership of vVynn Resorts' stock with Elaine 

9 vVynn. As a result ofthc divorce settlement, Aruze USA was now by far Wyrm Resorts' largest 

10 shH.:khokler, owning some 24.,549.,222 shares of Wynn Resorts, or 19.66% of the outstanding 

11 stock. Mr. \Vynn \Vould now own less than half what Aruze USA owned ofWynn Resorts' sto'-~k. 

12 Vv'hik~ neither Aruze USA nor Ivlr. Okada ever made any threats agHinst I\k Wynn, the possibihty 

13 loomed that Mr. Wynn z:ould be losing control of Wynn Resmts, as had happened ten years 

14 earlier, when Mr. \Vynn lost ccmtrol of Mirage Resotts, Inc. 

15 71. On January 6, 2010, Mr. Wynn obtained an Arnended and Restated Stockholders 

16 Agreement (''Amended Stockholders Agreement,') which made Elaine Wynn a party to the 

l7 Stockholders Agreement The Amendctl Sto'-~kholders Agreement carrit~d forward the covenant 

18 of aU the Stockholdt1rs that the ~'Stockholder shall be the record and Be.nefid.al Ch.vner" of an . - - ' ' - - - - -- - - -- . 

19 Vifynn Resmts common shares and ••shaH have the sole pm!Y~r o[dispot!.dtiou [and] sole power of 

20 conversion" ofthe shares "vvith no nmtcriallimitations, qualifications, or restrictions on such 

•") l 
.<. ... rights'' except under applicabk s'~CIJrities laws ~md the tem1s ofthe Stockholders Agreement 

22 (Emphasis added.) 

23 The amend~~d agreemtmt also altered the Stockholders Agree1m.mt language 

24 regarding Aruze USA.~s right to nominate dit·~.:;ctors. Atuze USA could endorse nom1ne\:)S so long 

25 as the rmuority of nominees were endorsed by Mr. \Vynn. Although the agreement n:xruinxl 

26 Mr. Wynn to support a minority slate of directors propQSed by Aruze USA, he never did so. On 

27 inthrtnation. and belief~ Mr. Wynn obh~ined the Amended and R\:;st<lted Stockholders Agreement, 

28 with the intention of never supporting any d1reetor proposed byAruze USA. In fact, Mr. Wym1 
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1 consistently refused effbrts to consider Aruze USA d1rectors for the Board, in an effort to 

2 continue to monopolize control over Wym1 Resorts. [,ADD EXAMPLES FROM CLIENT] 

3 73. In addition, the Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement continued to 

4 contain a non~compete clause that prohibited Mr. Okada, Aruze USA, and Universal only irom 

5 opt:~rating casinos in Clark County, Nevada and in Macau, and certain Intem.N gaming ventures. 

6 Nf..~ither this version of the St()(~kht)lders Agreement, nor any prior or subsequent agreements, 

7 corltained any prohibition or concerns regarding the Philippines or Korea, 

8 '14 '"' I - ,, ln January 2010, Mr. Okada indicated that he was willing to move ahead with the 

9 amendments provided that Mr. \-Vytm reciprocated by allowing Aruze USA to sell publicly the 

10 · same number of shares as l'vk Wynn and Elaine Wy1m, In this Vv'ay, Mr. Okada expected to 

11 reeeive liquidity for Aruze USA whenever Mr. Wynn and Elaine 'vVynn asked permission to SI'.~Il 

12 or transfer their stock. 

l3 

14 • I 
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D. Steve \\lynn and Kazno Okada Visit the Pltilippine§ in 2010, as \Vyrm Resorts 

Considers Involvement with thl~ Philippine Project 

75. Though Mr. Wynn had consistently declined to involve Wynn Resorts .fbrmally in 

the Philippine project; he began to reconsiderthc opportunity in2010. On June 14, 2010, 

l':vlx. Wynn and Jvrr. Okada jointly visited Manila t~) conduct dne diligence on behalf of Wynn 

Resorts and Universal. On information and belie·( Mr. Wynn was considering pursuing the 

project in his individual capacity as well as on behalf of Wy1m Resorts, 

19 
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1 76. As illustrated in the photographs, this pre-am1nged trip involved meetings with 

2 dignitaries and officials and infbrmational.presentatkms on the project 
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16 77. Ivk Wynn never formally committed Wynn Resorts to the Manila Bay project; but 

17 was clearly intert~sted in pursuing the opportunity, The idea ·- prornulgated by Mr. vV)'lm in press 

18 conferences following the purported redemption~- that Mf. Okada and Universal W(Jfc ofT"doing 

19 their own thing~j unbeknownst to anyone at Wynn Resorts, is not true. 

20 

21 

.R"i' 

.~. 

78. 

Over Kazuo Okada~s Objection, Wynn Resorts Malu,~s an Unprecedented 

$135 Million Donation :For \Vymt Macau 

In May 2011, Wynn Macau pledged to donate HK$1 billion (about $135 million) 

23 to the University of Macau Development Foundation. This contribution consisted of a $25 

24 million contribution made in May 2011, and a commitment for additional donations of$1 0 

25 million each year for the calendar years 2012 through 2022 indusivt~, Suspiciously, Wynn 

26 Macau's current gatning conc,~ssion covers essentially the same 1 O~year period expiring in 

27 Juml2022. Wynn Macau and Wynn Resorts also disclosed that Wynn Macau was in the process 

28 of seeking to obtain hnld in Macau and the rights to develop a third casino in the area. 
Wk)!~Gr-\N,_ LE~'\,.~'5.~$£. 

Eto(:Ktus· LLP ·11 
L. 

DEFENDANTS' THIRD AMENDED COUNTERCLAIM 

SA1227



1 

2 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

13 

79. At u Board meeting in April, 2011, Mr. Okada objected to and voted against this 

donation1 which appears to be unprecedented in the annals of the University of.1vfacm1, and in the~ 

histotyof\Vynn Resorts. Mr. Okada obje;;.ted to the unprc<.xxl.ented size and duration ofthe 

comn1itment It was unclear how the University of Macau wtrnld use the funds. Mr. Okada 

wondered vvhy a wealthy tmiversity that sits on govermnent land and largely caters to non~ Macau 

residents might need or want such a large donation. Mr. Okada; who is himself a significant 

philanthropist, wondered v,rhether such a donation act~mHy benefits the people who live in Macau. 

He was concerned ahout the lack of deliberation ofthe hoards of'vVynn Resmts and \Vynn Macau 

(the donation \·Vas approved at a joint meeting in Macau ofthe two boards), and that pending 

approvals in Macau related to a new development in Cotai, and the coincidence ofthe date of the 

donationand the tem1 of Wynn Macau~s gaming license in Macau, might make it appear that 

Wynn Macau and Wynn Res01ts were paying for benefits. 

80. Notably, fbr example). the Chancellor of the University of Macau is alsQ the head 

14 ofMacau'sgovemment, with ultimate oversight ofgmn1ng-rnatters. The only other dmt'itahle 

15 donation vVynn Resorts has disclosed in SEC f1hngs in its history was a $10 million Ming 

16 dynasty vase donated to HH.~ M.aem.l Museum in 2006------the same year in which \Vyn.n Resorts first 

17 applied for a land concession on the Cotai Stdp in Macau. 

18 
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81. While Wynn Resorts claims to have received a legal opinion sanctioning the 

unprecedented University of Macau donation, Wynn Resorts did not provide that legal Qpinion to 

Mr. Okada or, on intbrmation and belief; to any other memhers of the board of either Wynn 

Macau or W·ynn Resorts. On infonnation and beliet: ML Wy1m --and potentially others·.·.·-· misled 

the Wynn Resorts Board by securing its consent to the donation, \Vithout disclosing his personal 

knowledge oftht.~ dost~ <xmnection het\veell the University ofiv1a,:au and officials responsible for 

regulatory decisions n.dated to Wynn Macau's gaming operations. 

82. Mr. Okada's opposition to this donation caught the attention ofthe U.S. Securities 

26 and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). According to Wynn Resmis 2011 Form 10-K, \Vynn 

27 Resorts receivt.:xl a letkr from the Division of Enforcement oft he SEC indicating the SEC has 

28 commtmced an "in-f(mnal inquiry'' regarding matters .in Macau. Mr. Wynn, Ms, Sinatra (Wynn 
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1 Resorts' General Counsel), and Mr, Miller(head ofWynn Res01ts' Compliance Cn:mmittee) did 

2 not take kindly to Mr. Okada's scrutiny of the donation. On information and belief, rvrr. Wynn~ 

3 Ms. Sinatra, and Mr. Miller set out to discredit rvk Okada, in an etlf.ltt to distract attention fi·om 

4 the problematic Macau donation. 

5 F. Steve \Vynn and Kimmar.ie Simltra Fnntdulcntly Promise Knzuo Okada 

6 Financing for the Ph.iUppim~ Pro,iect 

'~ 

I 83. On or about April 29, 2011, Mr. Wynn married his current wife Andrea H.issom. 

8 Sh01ilythereait.er, on Mayl6,2011, Mr. Wynn and l\lk Okada rnetin iv1acau. Ivls. Sinatra was 

9 present at the meeting, as \.vas Matt Maddox ('<Mr. Maddox"), the Chief Financial Officer of 

.! 0 Wynn Rt~smts~ and Michiaki Tanaka ("Mr. TiJ:naka") ofAruze USA, who prepared a transcript of 

11 the nweting. 

12 84. According to the transcript of the meeting, Mr. Wynn told Mr. Okada that Elaine 

13 \:Vynn was very angry at l'Vlr. \Vynn tor remarrying. Knowing she was going through a difficult 

14 tinw, Mr. Okada expressed sympathy kn Elaine Wynn . .rvlr. Wynn said that Elaine \\lynn had a 

15 desire to transfer her shares to a new owner, and that there was an urgent need for Mr. Okada to 

16 irnmediatdy consent on Aruze USA's behalf to the transfer of the securities under the 

17 Stockholders AgreernenL 

18 85. Mr. Okada was amenable to allowing Elaine Wynn to transfer her stock because of 

19 this exigency but in return, !Y'lr. Okada wanted to pledge some oLA..J.·uze USA's Wynn Resorts 

stock in order to obtai11 a measure of 'liquidity fi:om the stock. 

21 86. Mr. Wynn suggested that Instead of having Aruze USA pledge its shares, he had 

22 ''good answers to solve [M1', Okada's] ... requests." Mr. Wynn suggested th~tt W'ynn Resorts 

23 \vould make a loan to Aruze USA. 1\-1r. Wynn told Mr. Okada that this was better than Aruze 

24 USA liquidating its stock (which could have hurt Wynn Resorts' stock value); and much better 

25 than a bank loan because a bank: (1) would set a credit line of only 50% ofthe market value of 

26 An1ze USA's stock; (2) wouid require additional guarantees ifthe market value of Aruze USA;s 

27 stock decreases; and (3) could require lhrfuiture of Aruze USA's stock ifthere was any delay in 

') 8 payment. 
lvlORGAN~ 1 .. E~V!S-& 
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1 . 87. Mr. Wynn gave IV1r. Okada an explicit personal assurance that financing would 

2 occur. Mr. Wynn stated thatthis propos<ll would b(>good tbt Mt. Okada and good for Wynn 

3 Resorts, because it will conttibute tt) tht~ stability of \Vynn Resorts. And, hased on such 

4 assurances, Mr. Okada agreed to financing fi·om Wynn Resorts, rather than pledging Aruze 

5 USA's stock 

6 88 .. Unbekno\.vnst to lVl.L Okada, Universal, or Aruze USA at the time, Mr. Wynn was 

7 sirnultaneous1y orchestrating \Vyrm Resorts' «investigation" to have Mr. Okada; .Aruze USA, and 

Universal deemed unsuitable. Indeed; Wynn Resorts has publicly asserted that it began its 

9 ''investigation'' into the Philippines as early as February 2011, well b~:.~fort! Mr. Okada proposed to 

l 0 pledge Aruze ()SA's shares ofWy1m Resorts' stock. Through his assurances, however, 

11 Mr, \Vynntook delibetate steps to keep Aruze USA, Universal, and Mr. Okada associated with 

12 \Vynn Resorts. lfWynn Resorts and Mr. Wynn were truly concerned with a11yrisk that Aruze 

13 USA, Universal, and !Vir. Okada supposedly posed to their gaming licenses, they would have 

14 allowed Aruze LJSA to liquidate its position. Instead, to perpetrate the fl-auduh~nt scheme, and 

15 seek to forcibly redeexn Aruze USA's shares at a vast discount under extremt..~ly oppressive terms, 

16 Mr. Wynn instead misled Aruze USA into not liquidating lts shares. 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

24 

25 

26 

28 
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89. M:s. Sinatra \Vas present at the meeting, and participated in this 1hrudulent scheme. 

On inf()rmation and beLiet~ Ms. Sinatra is a highly SQphisticatt~d and knowledgeable attorney, and 

is one of the highest~paid general counsels in the United States. Tow<trd the end of the meeting, 

"f\.1s, Sinatra stated that draft loan agreements \·Vould he provided to An.lz~~ USA within 10 days tn 

support the agreement reached between Mr. Okada and Mr. Wymt Neither JVIr. Wynn nor 

Ms. Sinatra said anything about internal ol' external Hmitatio11s on loans to directon; and ofllcers. 

For example, neither ofthem made any mention ofS\'!:ction 402 of the Sarhanes-Ox.ley Act 

(''SOX'). Unlike Japanest! law that has no such prohibition, on inf(nrnathn and belief, 

Ms. Sinatta believed Se\.tion 402 hatred any loan f.t) Aruze USA by Wynn Resorts. On 

information and bclid~ at the time of this meeting, l'Vls. Sinatra was intimately familiar with SOX 

and Section 402, having overseen the implementation of SOX compl1ance poLicies.at Wynn 

Resorts that speciflcaUy addr('.~ssed prohibitions on loans to officers and directors. 

24 
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1 90. At the conclusion ofthe meeting, and in reliance on the assurances by Mr. Wynn 

and Ms. Sinatta that Wynn Resorts would make a loan to provide liquidity Jbr Aruze USA and 

that loan docurnents would he forthcoming, Mr. Okada signed a waiver and consent granting 

4 Elame Wynn the option to transfer her stock. Simultaneously, Mr. Tanaka ofAruze USA made a 

5 handwdtten note to memorialize the agreement that Wynn Resorts would provide financing to 

6 ! Aruze USA. 
I 

7 91. Later that day, in response to Mr. Tanaka's note and after Mr. Okada had signed 

8 the \.Vaiver and consent about Elaine Wynn's stock, Ms. Sinatra prepared a draft "Side Letter'' to 

9 replace the one prepared by Mr. 'Tanaka. The "Sid(.~ Letter" prepared hy Ms. Sinatra stated that 

10 Wynn Resorts vv·ould negotiate a loan t}om \Vynn Resorts to Aruze USA secured by Aruzc 

11 USA's stock ''to the extent compliant nith all state andfederallmt·;>r." (Emphasis added.) On 

12 infon11ation and belief: Ms. Sinatra inf!erted this language because she believed Section402 of 

l3 SOX prohibih.1d the loan proposed by Mr. Wynn and agreed to by both Mr. Wynn and Mr. Okada, 

14 92. At the time, Wynn Resorts had extensive SOX compliance policies. Yet, 

15 Ms. Sinatra said nQthing tQ JVlr. Okada or Aruze USA concerning any purpolied loan prohibitions 

16 under SOX, leading Mt. Okada and Aruze l.JSA to believe that financingthrough Wynn Resorts 

17 was not only possible, but would be forthcoming in the near future. Iv1s, Sinatra's role ifl this 

18 transaction makes clear that she was not working on Wynn Resorts; behalf. Rather, in breach o.f 

19 her duty to Wynn Resorts, she intentionally sought to deceive Mr. Okada fhr the personal benefit 

20 of Mr. Wynn, who would henet1t from stringing along A.Juze USA. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

?7 ~. 

93. OnJmH.~ 9, 201 r, Ms. Sinatra emailed Aruze USA's attorneys regarding the "Side 

Letter," expressing "concern." For the ·nrst time, Jlv1s. Sinatra specifically referred to St~ction 402 

of SOX. She provided no turther explanation (although this conflrmed. that she underst<x)d the 

issue). Ms. Sinatra urged Aruze USA to ''obtain sophisticated US securities lawyers to assist.'~ 

Ms. Sinatra also disputed that Mr. Wynn had committed to providt.~ financing at the meeting, a 

statementthatshe knew to be tblse. 

94. On June 20, 2011, Ms. Sinatra asked .Aruze USA?s counsel. ifMr. Okada's consent . . 

28 to Elaine Wynn's transfer ofshares was conditiom.~d on Aruze USA receiving thf~ loan. On 
h·10L;:(;A~._t, lJ(W~s·&: 

!lOCK! US LLP 25 
t\rn~;:~t."J'S / .. T LAW 

SAN ~I:A.l·X;t'iXl 
~~~------··-·-------------------------------------------------------·······-··········-··--···-------·-~~~ 

DEFENDANTS' THIRD AMENDED COUNTERCLJ\Uvf 

SA1231



1 July 13, 2011, Aruze USA's knvycr emailed Ms. Sinatra stating that Aruze USA, through 

2 Mr. Okada, \vonld allow the 1mmedbte transfix ofElaine \:Vynn's shares because he understood 

3 that approval was needed urgt;JJtly, but stated thatthe consent was «based upon the mutual 

4 understanding betw(.~t~n ML Okada and Mr. Wy.tu1 that Mr. Wynn would pursue avenues fbr 

5 Mr, Okada to obtain fimmeing." Ms. Sinatra immerhately sent an email back ''Thank you very 

6 much for this." 

7 95. In the smr1e email, Ms. Sinp.tn1 then explained that Wynn Resorts was negotiating 

8 with Deutsche Bank on a margin loan transact1o.n, with Wy1m Resorts acting as a ''backstop.'' 

9 Ms. Sinatra suggested holding a telephone conference with AnJze USA's counsel to discuss the 

10 proposed tr~msaction further. She did not dispute that Mr. Okada's consent to the am.endment in 

11 the Stockholders Agreement was based on Wynn Resorts' agreement to continue to pursue 

12 financing f()r a loan to Aruze USA (using Aruze USA's Wynn Resolis shares as collateral). At 

13 no point in tirne did ivls. Sinatra can into question the Philippine project 

14 96. On July 15, 2011, Ms. Sinatra and Aruze OSA's t:ounsel held a telephone 

15 conference to discuss the proposed financing from Deutsche Bank. Ms. Simttra provided 

16 background information on the state of the negotiations, and explajned that Deutsche Bank was 

17 considering a margin loan of$800 million to Aruze USA She stated th~1t Deutsche Bank 

18 expected that they would be able to provide draft documentation within tv<.ro to three weeks, and 

19 that the loan \Vould be proposed to the Wynn Reso1is Compliance Committee thereafter. 

20 97. On or about September 23, 2011, Ms. Sinatra called Aruze USA Ms. Sirmtra 

21 intbnned Aruze USA that Wynn Resorts' Complian\x~ Committee would he meeting ttw 

22 ~ iblknvingweek regarding the Philippines, \Vhich could impact whether Wynn Resorts would 

23 allow the loan. 

24 

25 

26 
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98. Wynn Resorts' Complianc~e Committee is not an independent committee of the 

Board. Rather, it is made up of one Wynn Resorts directnr; fiJnner Nevada Governor Bob Miller, 

and two Wynn Resorts insiders. On intormation and belief: each member of Wynn Resorts' 

Compliance Committee depends on Mr. Wynn for his livelihood <.md each is beholden to 

Me Wynn. On information and belief: Mr. Wynn has plenary (Xmtrol over the Compliance 

26 
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1 ! Comn1itt(~t1. On S!"..~ptcmbt!r 30, 2011, the Compliance Committee n:::lused to permit the loan to 

2 Aruze USA. 

3 G. 

4 Committee Resigns 

5 99. i-\Jso, on or about September 27, 2011, Frank A. Schreck, who had been the 

6 Chainnan of the Universal Cm:npliance Committee f(Jr years, abmptly resigned his position. In 

7 addition to being the Chair of the tJnivetsal Compliance C'-tnnrnittee, he '.-\'as (and, on information 

8 and belief: still is) a long-tinle lawyer frJr Mr. Wynn. 

9 
! 
~ ~ 

10 ! 
I 
I 
I 

100. Richard Morgan, the new Chairman nfthe Universal Compliance Committee, 

spoke with Mr. Schreck tegatding his reasons for resignation. lV!r. Schreck told IV1L Morgan that 

11 he did not resign irom the Committees because of any suitability concerns about Mr. Okada. 

12 M_r. Morgan asked Mr. Schreck if he knew ofany faets that gave l'Vlr. Schredcconcems about 

13 Mr. Okada's suitability; Mr. Schreck told Mr. Morgan that he knew· of no such facts. 

14 101. Notably, Mr. Schreck's law firm thereafter appeared as litigation counsel for 

15 Wynn Resorts on January 27, 2012, representing \Vynn Resorts in the Nevada state cotnt in 

16 seeking to deny Mr. Okada his right as a director ofWynn Resorts to review· 'Wynn Resorts' 

17 records regarding the enormous donation it made to the University ofMac-au. 

18 lV. STEVE \VYNN DIRECTS "'WYNN RESOllTS TO CONDUCT A PRETEXTUAL 

19 

20 SHA.RES 

21 A. Wynn Resorts Seeks K~1zuo Ok~da's Resignation and 'J'hreatens Rcdem.ption 

22 in an Attempt to Secure a Penonal Benefit f<w Steve VVynn 

''3 "-' 102. On September 30, 2011, Aruze USA's lawyers, Robert Faiss and Mark Clayton of 

24 the Lionel Sawyer & Collins law flrm, md with Ms. Sinatra and Kevin Tourek ofWynn Resorts. 

25 Tht'O conversation took a very unexpected tum. 

26 I 03. First, Ms. Sinatra and i\-11-. Tour(~k said that Wynn Resorts' Compliance Conunittee 
.,. - - -A 

27 had crnnmissioned two ''investigations" and that the Complianct~ Committee had produced an 

28 · in,,.estigative ''report." Ms. Sirwtra and Mr. Tourek ·were conct~rned that Universal had purchased 
!\{C:•kG .. '.N~ l.mv~s & 
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1 land from a person in the Philippines who was now under indictment fbr tax evasion. Neither 

2 Ms. Sinatra nor f\,1r. Tourek explaint.~d h()W Universal or Mr. Okada could bear any responsibility 

3 ten· another man's alleged failure to pay his taxes. 

4 104. Second, Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Toltreksaid that Wynn Resorts has u ''polici' that 

5 officers and directors cannot pledge their Company stock. This \·Vas the Jirst mention of such a 

6 policy, despite extensive discussions of a loan secured by Aruze USA's stock. 

7 105. Third, Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Tourek stated that, if there was a Joan, Mr. Okada 

8 would hav'1 to step down fhJin the Board and then \Vould have the right to pledge or sell Aruze 

9 USA's shares subject to the voting agreement. Again, this was the first mention of such a 

10 requirement 

l1 106. Fourth, Ms. Sinatra and l'vk Tourek proposed to c.hange the StQckholders 

12 Agre{m1ent to allow Aruze USA to sell or pledge shares) hut subject to a voting trust, which 

13 wonkJ allow Mr. Wynn to vote the shares, and a right of first refi1sal tbr Mr. \Vynn to purchase 

14 the shares. This proposal was improper. Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Tounlk were again advocating tbr 

15 Mr. Wyrn1;. not for\:Vynn Resorts. This was another bteach of duty by Ms. Sinatra to Wynn 

16 Resorts and to its largest shareholder, Aruze USA 

17 107. Fifth, Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Tou:rck stated that Mr. Okuda bas afiduciary duty to 

18 present to Wynn Resorts any proposed competitive opportunities. Further. they stated that if 

19 Mr. Okada has a cornpeting casino business, he should consider stepping dmvn fl'om the Board. 

20 This was the first mention of any "competitive~' <.xmccrns, Mr. W)'nn and Wynn Resorts (and, 

21 indeed, Ms. Sinatra and Mr. Toon~k) had known about Universal's Philippine project for years. 

22 Universal had conunitted hundreds of millions of dollars to pursuing the project. \Vynn Resorts 

23 and l'vtr. Wynn had never objected to the Philippine project. 

24 

25 

26 

28 
lY.iORC.;-\N., LEWIS·l~ 
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108. Sixth, toward the end of the rneeting, Ms. Sjnatra gave Mr. Okada's counsel a 

copy of the Articles ofincorporation of Wynn Resorts, with certain provisions highlighted in 

yellow. The highlighted portions included the redemption pmvision. That was the first time that 

redemption was ever obliquely mentioned to M.r. Okada or his counsel. 

28 
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1 109. Ms. Sinatra then brought her threat into stark relief. She stated that the 

2 Complianct~ Conunittee would meet ~)n October 31, 2011 (in advance of a November 1 Board 

3 lheding). She told Mr. Okada's counsel that she hoped a ''n .. 1>olution'' would be reached before 

4 those meetings regarding lV:lr. Okada's directorship and the voting rights of Amze USA's stock, 

5 SQ ast<..l avoid presenting this matter to the Compliance Committee and the Board. Ms. Sinatra's 

6 intent was clear--- Wynn Resorts' co1npliance procedures '.vere being used to extract a personal 

7 benefit tbr I\·k Wynn. 

8 B. Steve Wynn and Kimmarie Sinatra l'JT to Intimidate and Ttueaten Ka:wo 

9 Okada \Vhile Hiding Supposed Evidence of\\'nmgdoiug 

10 110. On an October 3, 2011 telephon.e call, At'uze USA's counsel asked Ms. Sinatra to 

11 ptovide Aruze USA with a copy of the Complianct~ Committee's investigative report regarding 

12 Mr. Okada. Ms. Sinatra replied that she would have to check to see if a copy could be provided; 

13 in fact, she did not and has never ptovided a '-~opy of the investigative repott to Amze USA, 

14 Mt. Okada, or their counseL 

15 111. On October 4, 201 L Mr. Wvnn and Ms. Sinatra met with Mr. Okada and his . ~ - ~ ' . 

16 counsel. At the meeting, Mr. Wynn stated th~d Wynn Resorts' other directors had already 

17 decided that Mr. Okada mustberemoved l:lS Vice Chairman ofthe Company's Board mtd as a 

18 director ofhoth the \\lynn Macau and Wynn Resorts Boatds. It apparently did not matter to 

19 Mr. Wyn11 and Ms. Sinatra that in Nevada on(y stockholders can remove directors. Based on a 

20 false threat, Mr. \Vynu demanded Mr. Okada's resignation as a director. 

21 

23 

24 

25 

27 

18 ,_,( 

112. Mr. Okada's counsel told Mr. Wynn th4t in all his years, he had never before 

experienced a situation where the subject Qfan investigative report had never been formally 

questioned or even pem1itted to n.~spond to the accusations being levied against him. Mr. Okada's 

counsel once again requesti..~d a copy of the investigative report so that he and Mr. Okada's other 

attorneys cou.ld ensure they were advising Me Okada properly and that the Wynn Diri..x~tors could 

n1~1ke a decision based on accurate information. Over the course ofthe remaindet of the 

Octobet 4 meeting, counsel tbr Mr. Okada asked at least two additional tilnes !bra copy ofthe 

investigative report. 
MC'f<GM-J, Ll'JV;~& 

HOCKil!~ U .. P I 
Ms. Sinatra t1naHy replied that Mr. Okada and his counsd '-~ould not see a 
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l copy of the investigative report because it was. ''privileged." On information and belief, 

2 r-.,.1s. Sinatra once again in.tentionally misrepresented the law (Mr. Okada, as a director of the 

3 Company, has a right to see the Cmnpany's books and records, including its eomrxmnications 

4 with counsel), in breach ofher duties to Wynn Resorts. 

5 113. During the October 4, 2011 rneeting, Me \\lynn stated that the putported 

6 "grounds'' upon which the other directors based their decision to n1ove against Mr. Okada were as 

8 

10 

11 

12 

·r.., _.., 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

')0 
~.· 

" That the Philippines were so corrupt that no one could possibly do business in that 

country without violating the FCP A; 

.. That "tesearch'' showed Mr. Okada ownt~i hmd without a Philippines partner, and 

that this violated Philippines !aw·; 

" That the other directors were "corrvii1ced" that Mr. Okada's use of his W\mn -· ' ' - ~ 

Resorts business card in oth~~r countries .had <.~aused a beliefthat Wynn Resolts was 

involved in the Philippine proj~Jct and that the Company would not he in this 

position had he instead used his Universal business c.ard; 

.. That Mr. Okada had used the Wynn Resorts building design and other tl'ade secrets 

without pennission; and 

.. That Mr. Okada had associated with persons who had later been indkkd in the 

Philippines on charges tmrelated to the Philippine project 

114. Mr. Wynn's characterizations Qfthe aHegations are telling for several reasons. 

21 First, many ofthese claims were not ultimately used as a basis to redeem Aruze USA's stock. 

22 Rather, Wynn Resorts had an ever-char1ging list of supposed tnmsgressions it claimed against 

23 Mr. Okada~ strongly suggesting that Mr. Wynn and \Vynn Resorts were seeking to find something 

24 ~-anything- to justify a predetenn1ned outcomt~. Second, many of these claims are demonstrably 

25 false- as one example, the acqu1sition of the land in the Philippines was entirely compliant Vv'ith 

26 Philippine law. 

115. Mr. Wynn closed the 1n.eeting by telling Mr. Okada that ifhe had any respect fbr 

28 Mr. Wynn and the other members of the Board, he would voluntarily step d(n.Vn fi·om his role as a 

30 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------.............. -.... ·---.. ---.. ·-----------------

DEFENDANTS' THIRD AMENDED COUNTERCLAIM 

SA1236



1 director and V1ce Chairman of Wynn Resorts, At this timf\ Mr. Okada's counsel explained to 

2 Mr. \Vynn that Mr. Okada should not he required to respond to his demand fbr resignation until 

3 he had time to further consider it. Mr. Wynn agreed and the meeting was adjourned. 

4 116. Around this same time, the Chairman of Universal's Cotnpliance Committee also 

5 requested a copy of the investigative report through the Chair:manofWynn Resorts' Co1npliance 

6 Committee. This request. has been ignored, 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

l . .., 
L) 

14 

15 

16 

§"' 

"'-·• A Lctkt Fnun Stev~ \Vynn's Outside Lawye.r Confit·ms that, While Wynn 

was Only ,lust Starting 

117. On October 13, 2011, RQhert L. Shapiro, Esq., an attorney retained by Wynn 

Resorts, sent a letter to Aruze USA. Without any elaboration, the letter reiterated the same 

mistaken - and soon to be abandoned -~~- conclusions that :tvlr. V./ynn outlined in the October 4 

met..Jtlng. Mr. Shapiro also explicitly stated that Universal's l:vh-1oila Bay project "raises questions" 

wgarding "possible violations ofthe Foreign Conu.pt Practices Act." The letter again detnamled 

Mr. Okada's resignation. 

118. Curiously, Mr. Shapiro's letter adrnitted that the Compliance Committee was unly 

17 then beginning the very inve,'{tigation that Mr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra claimed to have already 

18 been wnduded. ThtJY also ckdmed to have already generated a report. Yet Mr. Shapiro wrote 

19 that ''The Compli~u>ce Committee of\Vynn Resorts must :fi.1lly investigate the fbtegoittg acts and 

20 have tetained Louis J. Fre{,~h .... to conduct an independent investigation." On inforrnation mKl 

21 bdiet: as ofthe date of Mr. Shapiro's letter, Mr. Frech had not started his investigation. 

22 
I 

7" i 
~j 'I 

I 
I 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

D. Wynn Resorts Refuses to Allow K~azuo Olqtd~ aml Ann:c TJSA to Revif.~·w Any 

Supposed '"Evidence" 

119. On October 24; 2011, Mr. Okada through his counsel made an initial demand fbr 

documents regarding the Pl1ilippine investigation. Although he was plainly entit.led to such 

documents as a director under Nevada law, Wynn Resorts refused this and numerous subsequent 

demands t(H· docurnents. Wy:nn Resorts aimed to conduct a secret investigation and never allow 

Ivlr. Okada or his counsel to scrutinize or respond to the supposed ''evidence" against him. 
JvioKGAN, LE\·V~S & 
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I E. The Board Summarily Removes Kazu.o Okada As Vice~Chairman 

120. Atthe Board's November 1, 2011 meeting, Mr. Miller presented an oral report of 

3 an alleged investigation by the Compliance Comrnittee into Mr. Okada's and Universal's 

4 activities in the Philippines. The report disclosed that the Compliance Committee had alJegedly 

5 conducted one internal and tv.,r(J "independent" investigations into allegations of suitability, 

6 conflicts oflnterest, and possible breaches of fiduciary duties telated to ac.quisition ofland fur the 

7 Philippine projed and charitable conttibutions made by UniversaL To date, tht~ contents of these 

8 put'ported investigations have not been presented to Mr. Okada. 

9 

10 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

'"15 k. 

26 

27 

28 

121. Mr. Mlller reported that the Compliance Committee (and not a (Xnntnittee 

consisting of the independent directors) had retained Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP ("Fmeh 

Sporkin") as a special investigator to conduct an investigation into the allegations again.st 

Mr. OkachL The Board --· without debate, deliberation, or allowing Ivlr. Okada a chance to 

respond -summarily eliminated Mr. Okada's position as Vice-Chairman of the Board and ratified 

the decision to hire Freeh Sporkin. 

F • Kazuo Okada Seeks More Infonnation Regarding \Vynn Macau 

122. The vehemence ofthe actions bv JV1r. vVvnn, Ms. Sinatra. Mr. Ivtiller, ~md the .. " ' ' ' ' .... .... _, . . 

Board against l\tlr. Okada is highly suspicious, After all, Mr. Okada had raised txmcerns about the 

donation to the University of Macau befon.~ Wynn Resorts had raised any t)TH.~ of unsuitability 

allegations against Mr. Okada and betore anyone associated with Wynn Resorts even mentioned 

the word "redemption" to hirn, Mr. Okada made several requests tor access to Wynn Resorts' 

books and records for i.ntorrnation relating to the donation made by \Vynn Resotts to the 

University of Macau, all ofv-lhich were denied without a valid basis. In tht.~ state court of Nevada, 

Mr. Okada even iTled a petition for a writ of mandamus on January 11, 2012 to compel Wynn 

Resorts to grant hhn access to Wynn Resorts' books and records. Okada v. Wynn Resorts, Ltd., 

case number A-12~65422-B, Depmtment XI (the "Inspection Action"}. At ahea.dngon 

February 9, 2012, the Court ordered \Vynn Resorts to comply with Mr. Okada's reasonabh.l 

requests. In muwder dah:d October l2, 2012~ the Court iilrther ordered that Wyrm Resorts 
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1 produce to Mr. Okada docmmmtation regarding expenditures advanced directly or indirectly by 

2 Mr. Wynn in pursuit.ofgaming wncessions in Macau. 

3 G. Aruze USA Nominates Directors~ But Steve Wynn Refuses to Endorse Them . . 
4 Despite His Obligation to Do So 

5 123. To fu1iher address the concerns about Wynn Resorts management, on January 18; 

6 2012, pursuant to Section 2(a) ofthe Stockholders Agreenumt, Ar:UZ€.l USA~ submitte:d a letter to 

7 the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee ofthe Company designating three 

8 individuals as candidates to he considered for nomination as dinx~tors ofthe Company and 

9 included in the Company's proxy statement relating tothe Cornpany's 2012 annual meeting of 

10 the stockholders or any stockholder meeting held fhr the purpose of electing Class I d1rectors. 

11 Despite numerous 1vritten requests to Mr. Wynn to tmdorse the slate of directors nominated by 

12 Arnze USi'\ as required hy the Stockholdt..·:rs Agreement, ML Wynn refused to do so. 

13 

14 

15 
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H. Th.e li'reeh Investigation Proceeds \Vidtout Seeking Any Input From. Kazuo 

Okada 

124. ln early November 2011, counsel for Mr. Okada contacted FreehSporki:n 

requesting further information regarding how its investigation would proceed and to request 

copies of documents, evidence, or rep01is related to the allegations against Mr. Okada. 

Mr. Okada requested the documents so that he could address the allegations made against him. 

Frech Sporkin declined to provide any rnaterials and insttxtd directed counsel tor Mr. Okada to 

make Sl)c.h requests of Mr. Shapiro. When such requests were made of Mr. Shapiro, they were 

rejected. 

Freeh Sporkin did not conhn.:t Mr. Oblda or his counsel about an interview untll 

Jan~:mry 9, 2012) at which time it demanded (nQt requested) an interview ofMr. Okada during the 

wed<. ofJanuary 30 (i.e., January 30~Fehruary 5). On January 15, 2012, four days after 

Mr. Okada filed his Inspection Action, Freeh Sporkin inBn11:1ed Mr. Okada's counsel that the 

"schedule has changed~' 1~nd presst1red Mr. Okada to agree to an intetview before the \Veek of 

January 30. 
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1 126. On January 19, 2012, Mr. MiUer, Chair of Wynn Resorts' Cmnpliance Committee, 

2 wrote directly to Mr. Okada, threatening that if Mr. Okada f.:1.Hed to make himself available for 

3 interview-s With Freeh Sporkin on January 30 or 31, the Compliance Cornrnittee '1can only 

4 conclude that you have refused participation." The letter stated that the Cornpliance Committee 

5 originally had a goal of receiving a rep<.nt by the end of 2011, \vhich was extended to January 15) 

6 2012. In addition to this being the first time anyone shared the Compliance Conunittee's 

7 purported deadlines with Mr. Okada, these dates are inconsistent with Frech Sporkin making its 

8 initial request to conduct an interview ofMr. Okada that would take place in the first week of 

9 February. It proved not to b") the firsttinw Mr. Miller was "confused" about the ''investigation" 

10 that was supposedly operating mider his direction. 

11 127. Mr. Okada had on! y recently hired new counsel to assist with the response to the 

12 Freeh Sporkin 1nvestigatio.n. ln order to prepare for the interview, the new counsel requested that 

13 theparti(~S seek a mutuaUy convenient date tor an interview by February 15, 2012. Freeh Sporkin 

14 then agreed to schedule the interview on February 15th. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

23 

24 

26 

27 

I. Freen Spo.rkin Refuses to Provide Meaningful Information Reganling Uu~ 

128. Vlhile attempting to set a date to schedule the Freeh Sporkin interview, 

Mr. Okada's counsel requested that Frech Sporkin identify the specific matters under review so - -

that lVk Okada could prepare appropriately for his interview. Ailer aU, Mr. Okada is the 

Chairman of a publicly traded corporation-·· nnd cannot be expected to kl10W' every operational 

detail in his organizations. In addition, translations between Japanese and English are notoriously 

ditlicult because ofsuhtleties in language. Mr. Okada's counsel repeatedly requested documents 

that Freeh Sporkin might use in the interview and topics so Mr. Okada could prepare tor the 

interview and he ready to provide inK)nnation and documents that could help Freeh Sporkin (and 

the Board) understand the facts concerning whatever topics and issues it warttt~d tQ discuss with 

Mr. Okada. 

129. Frech Sporkin rdbsed to provid~! anything mnre tlmn a shrtement that it was 

28 investigating "all matters related to Mr. Okada's, Universal's, and A.ruze's activities in the 
.t\·{ORG;\N ... l,_E\VtS.& 
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1 Philippines and Korea.~' This was the f1rst time that Korea was even mentioned as the subject of 

2 ' any investigation by the Company. Again ----the basis of Aruze USA's supposed ''unsuitability" 

3 kept changing. 

4 130. Instead ofsharing the topics ofthe interview with Mr. Okada, Mr. Freeh chose to 

5 conduct the interview as an ambush, not unlike the hostile JtlteiTogation of a suspet~ted '-Wiminal, 

6 rath(~r than a respecttlll and cooperativf..~ intt1rview seeking information fhnn a director of Wynn 

7 Resorts. Ifhewas afforded the opportunity to do so~ Mr. Okada cmJld have helped Me Freehand 

8 Fre{-~h Sporkin avoid the public embarrassment of a report that is riddled with factual and k~gal 

9 enors. 

10 

11 131. On February 15., 2012, Mr. Okada sat for a full--day interview ·with Mr. Freehand 

12 other lawyers for Freeh Sporkin. 

l
. ,, 

j 132. The questions ftwnsed mainly on expenses that Mr. Freeh claimed had been paid 

14 by Universal fhr lodging and meals at Wynn ReE>otis prop(wtiGs on behalf zyfp(~rsons Mr. Freeh 

15 identitled as toreign officials. This was a subject that had never been mentioned in the months 

16 bethre when Ms. Sinatra asserted that an investigation had already been conducted by the 

17 Company; or vvhen Mr. Vv'ynn or ~vk Shapiro, in a subsequent letter, listed the s1rpposed bases tbr 

18 the directors taking action to elirninate Mr. Okada's position as Vice Chainm.m. Other than 

19 aHegations regarding such purported expenses~ Mr. Freeh also asked questions about Universal's 

20 compliance with Philippine landownership requirements, which had been handled fbr Universal 

21 by one ofthe Philippines' leading lm-v firms. 

22 

·''13 k 

24 

26 

28 
~v']O!~GANr LF.Pr'lS & 
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133. The interview· v,rent well into the evening, hours past the time originally estimated 

by Mr. Frech. At the end ofthe interview, Mr, Okada stated that he would look into the matters 

raised during the -interview, and that he would be \Vilhng to report back with detailed information 

once it could be assembled. 
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K. Wynn Resorts Allows No Opportunity fot· A Reasonable Response 

134. At a press conference tbllowing the redernption of Aruze US.A 's stock. ~~k Miller 

made a number of statements that will prove to be false. One stood out in particular. Mr. Miner 

said: 

Following the interview, [Mr. Freeh] informed Mr. Okada that he 
'vould he finalizing the report on Friday, February 17, and oftered 
(Mr. Okada] an opportunity to present any exculpatory evidence 
prior to that time fi:ame. [Mr. Freeh] detennined that no additional 
exculpatory evidence was presented, and thus a final report was 
presented. 

135. Similarly, the vVynn Resorts Seconded Amended Complaint states that "Freeh 

advised M.t. Okada and his c(mnsel that he would he reporting his findings to the Wynn Resotts 

Board on February 18, 201 2 .... " (SAC at 1[ 47.) 

136. Neither statement is tme. IV1r. Freeh said nothingregard1ng the d~1te of the 

completion ofhis report at the interview, and, in fact, said at the Ft~bruary 15, 2012 interview of 

Mr. Okada that his investigation was not cornplete and that his mport W~ls. not (~omplete. 

137. On February Hi, 2012, M1·. Okada's counsel emailed Mr. Freeh stating: 

138. 

Ltmis: 

I hope you had a good trip back to the US. Following your 
interview of Mr. Okada~ we understand that you v,riU be drafting a 
report for submission to the Wytm Resorts Compliance Committee. 
I am writing to request an opportunity tbr Mr. Okuda and Universal 
Entertainment to submit additional material for your consideration, 
prior to the submission of your report. Please let me know as soon 
as you are able if you will allow 11sto do. 

ln response, on February 17, 2012, Mr. Freeh, acting as an agent for Wynn 

Resorts~ offered two options to JVtr. Okuda's: counsel: 

Joe1 Friedman called you about 900a today (PT) and left a message 
fbt you to ca.ll a well as an email. 

1 can suggest two possibilities in response to your letter: 

First, that you provide me as soon as possible, and no laterthan 
600p PaeTtoday, with a proffer ofwhat Mr. Okada and Universal 
wish to suhrnit thr additional considetation. Yout verv able firm . .;t - . 

has represented Mr. Okada now for several weeks and you know 
the principal areas of our investigation based on Wednesday's 
jnterview. So I would expect you t~a..n make such a proffer. 
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Secondly, lv!r. Okada vvillhave the opportunity to respond to tny 
report q/ler he receive.'>' a copy, along with the other Hf<ynn Resorts' 
directors. 1 H.>ill certainly consider and evaluate 1-vhatever 
il1fhrmation may be provided. 

I also note that Mr. Okada's litigation against Wynn Resorts has 
novv predic<tted <U1 SEC inquiry ~:md no doubt. drawn the proper 
attention of other regulatory agencies. Consequently, the 
Compliance Comnrittee has given me instrm.:tions to conclude my 
repo1t \Vithal1 deliberak speed. 

Anyway, I have a great deal of respect fin you amlbelieve tht; 
above alternatives allow for a fair resolution at this stage. 

Best regards, 

Louie 

(Emphasis added.) 

139. Given the timing, Mr. Okada "~leck.d ti.\ respond to the Frech Sporkin report once 

he w.as able to see it, responding through his counsel: 

Louis: 

Thanks for your response. I am still traveling in Asia, and did not 
have a chanet~ to revkw Joel's tnessage or contact him. I appreeiate 
your willingness to review any supplemental information tha.t we 
provide and to consider it in your findings. Under the 
citcums!ances, and in particular the tight titne.fhunework, 1 think it 
rnakes the most sense f'or Mr. Okada. UE, A ruze USA. and our Firm 
to revieH-'your repor/and to use it to focus our r.tf{ort:s in providing 
you additional by'ormation. So, we accept the seccmd of the two 
proposals in your letter, and would expe'-~t that the opportunity to 
respond will include an opportunity for rmr law firm to wark with 
Mr. Okada, UE, and Aruze USA in order to be able to respond in a 
complete and helpful fashion. Thanks very much. 

(Emphasis added.) 

140. Mr. Frech responded "Thanks Tom and safe travels," 

141. Curiously, about an hour and ha1flater (no\V late in the day 011 Friday, 

Fehtuary 17), Mr. Freeh sent a second response, stating: 

Just to contl-nn, I will now deliver my report to the Compliance 
Committt~e having completed my investigation regarding the 
matters under inquiry. It is my un.detstanding that the Compliance 
Committee wiU therea"fkr provide aU of the Di:n.!ct(n·s, including 
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Mr. Okada, with a copy of the report. As we both stated, 
Mr. Okada can then subm1t any responses to the report which will 
be considered and evaluated, However, the report I am submitting 
is not a 'dratl' subject to being t111alized after Mr. Okada provides 
any response. Rather this is akin to a final brief being submitted 
with the oppmtunity for a response to be made, 

Please let. me know ifyou have any questions. 

Best regards 

Louie 

142. This statement would prove to be misleading. ,1\s it turned out. Wynn Resorts 

refbsed to give Mr. Okada a copy of the Fteeh Sporkin report and then purported to redeen1 Aruze 

USA's stock (at a nearly $.1 biUion discount) on the day the other Wynn Directors receive,d th(; 

report, without giving Mr. Okada any reasonable opportunity to respond. 

143. In addition, Mr. Freeh' s statement that he was preparing a "final brief' is very 

telling about how Mr. Fteeh viewed his role in the process. Mr. Fref.~h was not preparing an 

objective report of the filets by an '"independent'' investigator--- he was providing tlu~ Board with 

an argumentative doc.unwnt as an advocate against Mr. Okada, But even so, Mr. Frech c.learly 

conternplated that Mr. Okada would and should have the opportunity for a response. 

Nevertheless, spuned on by JVIr. vVynn, the Board ignored :Mr. Freeh's promise of at1 opportunity 

to respond to the report (and the express statements in Mr. Freeh's report that tl.nther 

investigation 'would be needed on certain topics), and instead acted rashly to nxl.eem Aru.ze 

USA's stock on an incomplete factual record and a faulty understanding of govt'~niing legal 

principles, including, tllr example, the application of the FCPA to the h!(.:ts, as well as Wynn 

Resorts' (lack of-) contractual rights to attempt to redeem Aruze USA's stock. 

L. Steve \Vynn Hurriedly Sdtedules Bom·d of Directors Meeting 

144, On February 15, 2012, scant hours after the compldion ofMr. Freeh's interview 

ofMt. Okada, Wynn Resorts noticed a special meeting of its Board. The meeting was set for 

Saturday, February 18, 20 12~ at 9:00 a.m. in Las Vegas--- which is 2:00 a.m. Sunday morning in 

JapaA Although the notice for the Board meeting svent out il"'1m~xihltely Ibllowing the conclusion 
27 

28 
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ofthe interview oOvlr. Okada, and was scheduled to occur a mere three days atler the interview, 
' . . 

Mr. Wynn and Ms. Sinatra included on the agenda a review ofthe Frech Sporkin report. 

M. Steve 'Wynn Tries to Usc tlte Threat of Rt~dcmption to Buy Aruze USA's 

Stock at a Substantial Discount 

145. Following thl'.l interview, rv1r; Wynn communicated to Aruze USA through 

intennediaries that, instead of having the Board consider the Free.;~h Sporldn report, Mr. Wynn 

would be wlUing to buy Aruze USA's stock fiwhis benefit at a significant discount A sale to 

Mr. Wynn was presented as an alternative to the embarrassment and regnhttmy issues attendant to 

possible disclosure ofthe Frech Sporkin repo1t. 

146. On infbnnation and belief; this is not the first time Mr. Wynn has attempted to co-

opt state gaming regulations to consolidate his ownership and control over a gaming company. 

According to published reports; in 1980, Mr. Wynn forced out the second large.'>t shareholder of 

the Golden Nugget, Inc., Mr. Edward DoumanL Mr. Doumani was also a board n1ember, and had 

expressed concerns about Mr. Wytm's practices as CEO ofthe Golden Nugget. Mr. Wynn 

eventually strong-armed Mr. Doumani into selling his stake hy threatening to instigate an 

investigation ofr:vrr. Doumani, contending that his continued association with the company 

caused a risk to a potential gaming license in Atlantic City, Three decades later~ l\tk vVynn 

attempted the same scarn, only this time Aruze USA refused to accede to :Mr. Wynn's demand to 

sell him its stock on the cheap. 

v. o/VYNN J.U:SORT~:P lJN!rOUNBEU AND llNPRECEOKNTEU REDEMPTION OF 

MORE THAN $2.9 BILLION OF' ARUZE USA'S SHARES 

A. \\lynn Resorts l}ublicly Asserts That the Value of Aruze USA's Stock Js $2.9 

Billion 

147. In a letterto Aruze USA's counsel dated December 15, 2011, Mr, Shapiro asserted 

25 that Aruze USA ·s shares were worth approximately $2.7 billion. 

') (.' 
,;.,~) 148. Hardly a month later (and a mere 22 days betbre purporting to redeem the shares), 

27 on January 27, 2012, Wynn Resorts tllcd its opposition papers in response to Mr. Okada's 

28 Petition for a Writ ofMandamus. ln that court filing, vVynn Resorts deelared that Aruze USA's 
MORGAN, LBWIS & 
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1 holdings \v.ere worth more than $2.7 billion, stating that Aruze USA's shares are "valued at 

2 approximately $2.9 billion[.r In the 22 days following \Vynn Resorts' $2.9 billion valuation of 

Amze USA's st(n.~k, Aruz<.~ USA's stock was not sold, transferred, or further encumbered by any 

'l -,_ . additional restrictions. 

5 R The Board Hurl'icdly Met~ts and Ru~hcs to Redeem Aruze USA~s Stock 

6 149, On February 17,2012, l\·'lr. Okada's C(mnselcontacted Wyru1 Resorts' 

7 representatives to express Mr. Okada's concerns with the substantive and procedural process for 

8 the Company's investigation, ~md stated that any discussion of unsuitability or redemption, 

9 including any discussion involving the Freeh Sporkin report at the Febmary 18 Board meeting., 

1. {) 1 J b t , wou <.1 ·. e pre1na un.t 

11 150. Ratht")r than addressing the substantive and procedural issues raised by Mr, Okada 

12 and his cotmsd, Wynn Resorts responded briet1y, informing lv1r. Okada's counsel that additional 

13 i accCHnmodations would not he made to facilitate translation to enable Mr. Okada's participation 
! 
I 
I 

14 I by teleconference. The Company also 1ntormed Mr. Ol.;:ada's counsel that, despite the seriousness 
I 
I 
I 

15 ! ofthe accHs(ltions against him, Mr, Okada was not permitted to have counsel present ttw the 
I 
I 
I 

1 6 ! Board calL 

l7 151. When it came time fbr the meeting, at 2:00 a.m. 011 Sund~lY 11l()ming, M1'. Okada 1!1 

18 I sat ready to participate l:>y telephone. Mr. Wynn yelled at Mr, Okada's munsel when he 

19 I introduced himself. Mr. 'Wynn also said that Ivlr. Okada's counsel could not be present to advise 

20 ! iVJr. Okada even though counsel made clear that he would 11ot address the meeting. (At the threat 

I 
21 I ofhaving Mr. Okada's telephone connection to tht:; meetln}~ severed, Mr. Okada's wunsel had to ! ~ 

I 

22 I sit outside the room while tht~ mteting \vent on, <.k~spite Vv'yrw Resorts having a buttery of lawyers 
I 
I 
I 
I 23 ! thnn nmltiple law firms presenton its end ofthe line.) Mr, Wynn and a company lawyer 
I 
I 

24 I infonned Mr. Okada that - despite prior assurances that Mr. Okadr:~. would n:x~eive a copy ofthe 
I 
I 
I 

25 ! Freeh Sporkin report along with the otht~r dirtx:tors -- hz~ would not receive a copy ofthe report 
I 
I 
I 

26 ! unless both he and his legal counsel signed a nondisclosure agreement. The nondisclosure 
I 
I 
I 

27 ! agreen1ent would have arguably precluded Mr. Okada ii-om using the report in legal proceedings. 
I 
I 
I 

78 ! Mr. Okada did not sign the nondisclosure agreement. 
• I ~VlORGi'\[',i_( LEW[') {".t ~ 
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1 152. As alleged in detail below, a few hours aJter demanding that Mr. Okada sign the 

2 1 nOtKlisdosun) agnx~mtmt claiming C(Jnfidentiality, Wynn Resorts "leaked" a copy ofthe Freeh 

3 Sporkin report to the Wall Street Journal aml attached a c-opy to its Complaint in this action. 

4 153. There were numerous translation problerns during the Board meeting. Mt. Wynn 

5 provided a trnnslator who was woefuUy unable to perfonn an accurate simultaneous translation. 

6 Mr. Okada requested that the translation be provided sequentially (vvith each speaker and the 

7 translator speaking in turn) rather than simultaneously (with the translator speaking at the same 

8 time as the speaker at the meeting}, hut this request was denied, As a result, Mr. Okada could not 

9 follow or participate in the pmceedings. 

10 154. rn this way, Mr. Okada sat and listened \Vhile Mr. Freeh made a presentation in 

11 English that Mr. Okada could not understand. After Mr. Freeh completed his presentation, the 

12 Board asked if Mr. Okada had any questions. Mr·. Okada stated that he could not understand the 

13 presentation, and that he \Vould be able to address the claims ofthe report only after receiving a 

14 copy and discussing with counseL Iv1r. Okada also asked the Board to delay making any 

15 resolutions until he could respond to the Frech Sporkin report. 

16 155. At some point, someone at \Vy1m Resorts hung up the telephone, cutting 

17 Mr. Okada off from the meeting, Mr. Okada \.Vaited to be reconnected, staying up until the sun 

18 rose in Asia, all the \Vhiie not knowing wl1ether th(;) Board had resolved anything following the 

19 presentation by :Nk Frech. Ms. Sinatra later claimed that cutting off the telephone connection to 

20 1vfr. Okada wa:s a "misunderstanding." No other contact was made with Mr. Okada. 

?1 ·- 156. At 1:45 am PT on Pcbrrwry 19, 2012, Arnze USA's counsel received 

22 correspondence, containing a notice of determin<1.tion of unsuitability and a puq1orted red.emptlon 

23 notice, In the redemption notke, the Company statr.£1 that it would n~deem Atuze USA~s stock 

24 for a proh1issory note of approximately $1.936 bi1lioH, a discount of exactly 30~·'0 oil' the $2.7 

25 billion ·value measured by the stock market's valuation oftht~ stock based on the prior day's 

26 closingprke and 33% less than the value (i.e., $2.9 billion) Wynn Resorts had publicly 

27 proclaimed thnx~ weeks bdbre, 

28 
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1 157_ Although Wynn Resorts had claitned the Freeh Sporkin report was confidential 

2 and trk>.<J to extract a signature lhJm both Mr. Okada and his legal counsel in order to seethe 

3 report prior to redemption, a copy ofthe report \-v.as leaked to the 1fiall Street Journal i.nthe early 

4 morning Eastern Time ofFehruaty 19, 2012. Almost immediately, reports appeared on th(! Wall 

5 Street Journal website regarding the contents of the report. 

6 158. 1n addition, at 2:14a.m. PT on February 19; 2012, Wynn Resmts electronkally 

7 filed a cornpl.aint attaching the supposedly confidential Freeh Sporkin report (v.,rithout exhibits). 

159. Despite repeated requests to Ms. Sinatra and l'v"lr. Shapiro; Mr. Okada's counsel 

9 only obtained a copy of the "cont1dential" report when it sent a messenger to court on 

l 0 February 21, 2012, the first court day following the weekend Board mef..~ting. Wynn Resm'ts 

11 refhsed to provide the Fre.eh Sporkin report's exhibits to Mr. Okada or Aruze USA until ordered 

12 to do so hy this Court 

l3 C. Arm::e USA Disputes TbatRedemption H1Js Ol~cun'ed 

14 160. In public statements~ representatives of Wynn Resorts have claimed tedenlption is 

15 cornplete and that the securities formerly held hy Aruze USA have h~;en cancelied. Aruze USA 

16 disputes that this has happened. Among other reasons, as t~xpiaincd elsewhere in th1s 

17 Counterclaln\ the pUt'f:..XHted redemption is void ab initio because it is in violation of the 

18 Stockholders Agreement, which predates the amended Articles of1ncorporation purporting to 

19 grant Wynn Resorts a right of redemption. 

20 n. The Board Redeems on False Premises 

21 161. Even ifAruze USA vlere bound by the redemption provision (whichAruze USA 

22 disputes), th'~ A.rtides of Incorporation only purport to allo\v redemption in three situations. 

23 162, First, according to the Articles ofincorporation, Wynn can redeem when. .it "is 

24 determined by a Gaming Authority to h\~ unsuitable to (hvn or Control any Securities or 

25 1msuitable to be mnnected or affiliated with a Per~on engaged in Gaming Activities in a Gaming 

?6 Jurisdiction." This has notoccurred. In faet, Aruze USA has been t"i..,und to be "suitable'' by the 

27 Nevada ga1ning anthoriti~~s. 
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163. Second, according to the Articles oflncorporation, \Vynn can redeem when a 

person "causes the Corporation or any Affiliated Company to lose or to he threutened with the 

loss of any Gaming License." This has not occurred. 

164, Third, Wynn Resmts• Articles ofinco:rporation profess that the Comp~my can 

redee111 where a ptwson ''in tht~ sole discretion ofthe board of directors of the Corporation, js 

deemed likely to jeopardize the Corporation's or any AHiliated Company's [a] application for, 

[b] n.x:eipt ofapproval for~ [ c] right tQ the nsf.~ of: or [ d] \.mtitlement, to any Gaming License.'' 

Subsections [a] and (b] do not apply because, on infhrmation and belief: at tlh~ tirne of redemption 

Wynn Res\Jrts had no present plan to apply ti.lr a license and was not awaiting approval of any 

pending application. So, f.wen under the standards of tht~ A1i.ieles ofincorporation, Wynn Resorts 

could only seek redemption upon a showitlg that Aruze USA's stock ownership was '"likely to 

jeopardize" Vfynn Reso1ts' ~'right to the use of: or entitlernent to" its existing gaming licenses. 

165. No such showing was made in the rushed Freeh Spotkin report. ln fllct, inthe 

wuning industry, ~my inlpact on the right to use or entitlement to a gaming license requires action 

by the cognizant gaming authority. No garning authority has found Aruze USA, Universal, or 

Mr. Okada to be "unsuitable." Fwiherm,.lre, association with an "unsuitable" person would only 

conceivably ereate a problem for a garning license q/terthat person bas been f()und by a gaming 

authority to be unsuitable. Even then, such concerns ean be addressed via a voting trust or 

orderly sale ofshares. I fWynn Resorts' true aim was to disassociate itself 1-l"orn Aruze USA in 

order to protect its hrterests, .it tldled miserably. Even if the redernption. were effective, Aruze 

USA \Vould now be W)'Hn Resorts' largest holder of debt··· a circumstance which would be 

hnpertnissible undet Nevada lavv if Aruze USA \Vere truly ''unsuitable.'' Under the 

drcurnsta.nces, it is obvious that the supposed redemption of Aruze USA's shares was simply a 

pretext to seek to quiet a potentia! dissident shareholder and director, increase the relative 

mvnership intetests ofthe Board members by virtue of their shareho!dings in Wynn Resotts, and 

to enhance and maintain Mr. \Vynn's personal control over Wynn Resorts. 
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l Even if Aruze USA Were Subject to the Redemption Provision (W1ddt it is 

2 Not), the Wynn Parties arc StiU Liable for Breaching and/or Tortiously 

3 Interfering with the Stockholders Agreement and Amended Stockbolder·s 

4 Agreement 

5 166. Even if Aruze USA \Vere subject to the redemption provision~ vvhich it is not, the 

6 Wynn Pmiies are not excused fiom breaching and/or tortiously interfering with the Stockholders 

7 Agreement when they purported to redeem Aruze USA's shares. Steve Wynn \Vas bound by the 

8 temmoftheStodd1oklers Agreement before he unilaterally amended tht~ Articles ofincorporation 

9 to include a purported redemption right The remainder offhe Wynn Parties also kne,,v or 

1 0 reasonably sho nld have known that Aruze USA's shares were subject to the limitations of the 

11 Shareholders Agreement and Amended Shareholders Agreemeht when they purported to utllize 

12 their discretionary authority under the Atiicles ofincorporation to redeen1 AnlZe USA's shares. 

13 Thus, even ifthc redemption provision of the Artit~les of Incorporation applies to Aruze USA, the 

14 Wynn Parties are Hable fbr all hann caused to Aruzt:) USA as a result ofthe redemption. 
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F. Even if An:n:e USA '\Vas Subject to the Redemptim_) Provision (Which it is 

Not), t:lw Unilutentl m~mkct 301% Uiscm.mt that Wynn Resorts Applied to the 

Stock is Erroneous and the Promissory Note is Unconscionably Vague, 

167. Acc-ording to a press release dated february 19, 2012, vVynn Resorts issued a note 

in the amount of$1.936 bilLion to Awze USA. This amount .is exactly 30% less than the rnarket 

value of Aruze USA's stock as measured by the dosing price of Wynn Resorts' stnckon the 

Friday prit)r to t1w ~%turduy Board Ineeting. According to its press release, Wynn Resorts arrived 

at this value because "it engaged an independent financial advisor to assist in the fair value 

calculation and concluded that a discount to the current trading price was appropriate because of 

restrictio.ns on most nfthe sbates which are s-ubject to the terrns of an existing stockholder 

agreement" The irony here is rich, because the Stockholders .Ag1·eement, by its terms, either 

precludes the redemption of Aruze USA's stock altogether or, alternately, the transfer restrictions 

ate not binding on Amze USA as a result of Steve Wynn's and Elaine Wynn's breach of the 
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1 Stockholders Agreement (by voting in favor of the redempthm of Aruze USA's shares and by 

2 Steve Wyrm 's failure to vote in £.'1Vor of directors nominated hy Aruze USA). The transfer 

3 restrictions ate also invalid and unenforceable to the extent that they constitute an illegal restrail1t 

4 on alienability. Thus, the restrictions in the Stocld10lders Agteermmt could not legitimately 

5 impact the value of Aruze USA's shares so as to support a discount against the market prke. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

168. The February 19, 2012 \Vynn Resorts press release also falsely statt~d that the 

redemption process in the l\rticks oflncorptmltion had "been [in place] since the Company's 

inception." This is untrue, as Mr. vVynn unilaterally anumded the Articles oflncorporation to 

include the purp01ted redemption language m.onths {{fter fcVynn Resorts HIGS created, and nearly 

90 days after Aruze USA agreed to invest in Wynn Resorts and cornmitted its interests in Valvino 

to Wym1 Resorts. Wynn Resorts and Mr. Wynn thus sought to continue their fi·audulent sch;;.~me 

by publishing a false basis under which Wynn Resorts purported to have the authority to redeem 

Aruze USA's shart.~s of Wynn Resorts' stock. 

14 169. Nevertheless, hoping to unilaterally decide on a "clearance" price for Aruze 

l s USA's almost 20~{) shareholder interest in the Company, Wynn Resorts relied solely on one 

16 opinion from Modis & Company ("MoeHs''), v1 .. hich has done business H1ith Tf~vnn Resorts in the 

17 past. 
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170, Mr. Wynn and Kenneth Modis ("IVlr. Moelis'') .~the founder of Modis~ go vV<ty 

back. .tvk Moelis first worked with ML Wynn when Mr. Modis worked at the investment 

banking "firm ofDrexe! Burnharn Lambert (''Drexel"). At Drexel, ML Modis vvas the hanker 

who helped Mr. Wynn flnance his Golden Nugget Casino i11 Atla11tie City and Mirage casino in 

Las Vegas. On irrforrnation and belief: Mr. \:Vynn has a <.dose personal and professional 

relationship \vith Mr. Moelis. According to press reports, Mr. Mot~lis has stated that he would 

take the first flight out of LAX to rush to the assistance of Mr. Wynh.. Mr. Wynn reciprocates 

Mr. Moehs' loyalty and support. Among other things, !vir. Wynn engaged Mr. Moelis to serve as 

the le;1d underwriter of Wynn Resorts' $210 million common stock offi~r1ng in rv1arch 2.009. 
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